DUN & BRADSTREET CORP/NW Form 10-K February 25, 2010 Table of Contents

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

**WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549** 

## Form 10-K

Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2009

Commission file number 1-15967

# **The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation**

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

**Delaware** (State of incorporation)

22-3725387 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

103 JFK Parkway, Short Hills, NJ (Address of principal executive offices)

07078 (Zip Code)

Registrant s telephone number, including area code: (973) 921-5500

#### Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class
Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per share

Name of each exchange on which registered New York Stock Exchange

Preferred Share Purchase Rights

New York Stock Exchange
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes x No "

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Act. Yes "No x

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Website, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes "No"

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of large accelerated filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer x Accelerated filer "Non-accelerated filer "Smaller reporting company" Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes "No x

As of June 30, 2009, the aggregate market value of all shares of Common Stock of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation outstanding and held by nonaffiliates\* (based upon its closing transaction price on the New York Stock Exchange Composite Tape on June 30, 2009) was approximately \$4.256 billion.

As of January 31, 2010, 50,998,069 shares of Common Stock of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation were outstanding.

#### **Documents Incorporated by Reference**

Portions of the registrant s definitive proxy statement for use in connection with its annual meeting of shareholders scheduled to be held on May 4, 2010, are incorporated into Part III of this Form 10-K.

\* Calculated by excluding all shares held by executive officers and directors of the registrant. Such exclusions will not be deemed to be an admission that all such persons are affiliates of the registrant for purposes of federal securities laws.

## Table of Contents

#### **INDEX**

	PART I	Page
T. 1		2
Item 1.	Business Bi L. F.	3
Item 1A.	Risk Factors Unresolved Staff Comments	11
Item 1B. Item 2.	<u>Unresolved Staff Comments</u> Properties	18 18
Item 2.	Legal Proceedings	19
Item 4.	Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders	19
	PART II	
Item 5.	Market for Registrant s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities	20
Item 6.	Selected Financial Data	22
Item 7.	Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	25
Item 7A.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	67
Item 8.	Financial Statements and Supplementary Data	68
	Consolidated Statement of Operations	71
	Consolidated Balance Sheets	72
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	73
	Consolidated Statement of Shareholders Equity (Deficit)	74
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	75
Item 9.	Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure	137
Item 9A.	Controls and Procedures	137
	PART III	
Item 10.	Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance	138
Item 11.	Executive Compensation	138
Item 12.	Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters	138
Item 13.	Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence	138
Item 14.	Principal Accountant Fees and Services	139
	PART IV	
Item 15.	Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules	140
	<u>SIGNATURES</u>	141
	Index to Exhibits	142

2

#### PART I

## Item 1. Business Overview

The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (D&B or we or our or the Company) is the world's leading source of commercial information and insight of businesses, enabling customers to Decide with Confidence® for over 168 years. Our global commercial database contains more than 150 million business records. The database is enhanced by our proprietary DUNSRight® Quality Process, which provides our customers with quality business information. This quality information is the foundation of our global solutions that customers rely on to make critical business decisions.

D&B provides solution sets that meet a diverse set of customer needs globally. Customers use D&B Risk Management Solutions to mitigate credit and supplier risk, increase cash flow and drive increased profitability; D&B Sales & Marketing Solutions to increase revenue from new and existing customers; and D&B Internet Solutions to convert prospects into clients faster by enabling business professionals to research companies, executives and industries.

#### **Our Aspiration and Our Strategy**

Our strategy reflects that D&B is a company that has been and remains committed to delivering Total Shareholder Return ( TSR ). To achieve this objective, we remain focused on three key drivers of TSR over time: revenue growth; margin expansion; and maintaining a disciplined approach to deploying our free cash flow. These have been the central drivers of our success, and they will remain the key areas of focus for us going forward. We continue to execute our strategy in the following ways:

First, we remain focused on the commercial marketplace and continuing to be the world s largest and best provider of insight about businesses. This is reflected in our aspiration, which is To be the most trusted source of commercial insight so our customers can Decide with Confidence<sup>®</sup>.

Second, maintaining our fundamental competitive advantage in the market place (i.e. data quality), We will continue to improve our data quality through better coverage and we will provide new value to our customers by leveraging recent advances in technology.

Third, we will leverage our data assets to better enhance our products and services within our three solution sets: Risk Management Solutions business (RMS), Sales & Marketing Solutions business (S&MS) and Internet Solutions. To accomplish this, we will invest in a new technology platform that is scalable and far more agile, so we can meet emerging customer demands faster, and at a much lower cost over time.

Our strategy relies on four co	ore competitive advantages that su	upport our commitment to driving	g TSR and our aspiration to	be the most trusted
source of commercial insight	t so our customers can Decide wit	th Confidence®. These core comp	petitive advantages include	our:

Trusted Brand;

DUNSRight Quality Process;

Winning Culture; and

Financial Flexibility.

For the reasons described below, we believe that these core competitive advantages will continue to drive our growth and profitability going forward.

#### Trusted Brand

The D&B® brand dates back to the founding of our company in 1841. We believe that the D&B brand is unique in the marketplace, standing for trust and confidence in commercial insight; our customers rely on D&B and the quality of our brand when they make critical business decisions.

#### **DUNSRight Quality Process**

DUNSRight is our proprietary quality process that powers all of our customer solution sets and serves as our key strategic differentiator as a commercial insight company.

The foundation of our DUNSRight Quality Process is Quality Assurance, which includes over 2,000 separate automated and manual checks to ensure that data meets our high quality standards.

In addition, our five DUNSRight Quality Drivers work sequentially to enhance the data and make it useful to our customers in making critical business decisions.

The process works as follows:

Global Data Collection brings together data from a variety of sources worldwide;

We integrate the data into our database through our patented **Entity Matching**, which produces a single, more accurate picture of each business:

We apply the **D-U-N-S<sup>®</sup> Number** as a unique means of identifying and tracking a business globally throughout every step in the life and activity of the business;

We use Corporate Linkage to enable our customers to view their total risk or opportunity across related businesses; and

Finally, our **Predictive Indicators** use statistical analysis to rate a business past performance, to predict how a business is likely to perform in the future.

#### Winning Culture

Our culture is focused on developing strong leaders, because we believe that great leadership drives great results, improves customer satisfaction and helps increase TSR. To build such leadership, we have developed and deployed a consistent, principles-based leadership model throughout our Company.

Our leadership development process ensures that team member performance goals and financial rewards are linked to our strategy. In addition, we link a component of the compensation of each of our senior leaders to our overall financial results. Our leadership development process also enables team members, which include our management and employees, to receive ongoing feedback on their performance goals and on their leadership. All

4

team members are expected to have personal leadership action plans that are focused on their own personal development, building on their leadership strengths and working on their areas of development.

We have a talent assessment process that provides a framework to assess and improve skill levels and performance across the organization and which acts as a tool to aid talent development and succession planning. We also administer an employee engagement survey that enables team members worldwide to provide feedback on areas that will improve their performance, drive customer satisfaction and evolve our winning culture.

#### Financial Flexibility

Financial Flexibility is an ongoing process that reallocates our spending from low-growth or low-value activities to activities that will create greater value for shareholders through enhanced revenue growth, improved profitability and/or quality improvements. We are committed through this process to examining how every dollar is spent, and optimizing between variable and fixed costs to ensure flexibility in changes to our operating expense base as we make strategic choices. This enables us to continually and systematically identify improvement opportunities in terms of quality, cost and customer experience. In executing our Financial Flexibility process we seek to improve, standardize, consolidate and automate our business functions.

#### **Segments**

We currently manage and report our business globally through two segments:

North America (which consists of our operations in the United States (U.S.) and Canada); and

International (which consists of our operations in Europe, Asia Pacific and Latin America).

As of January 1, 2009, we began managing our operations in Canada as part of our renamed North America segment (formerly our U.S. segment) and have reclassified our historical results set forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to reflect this change. Prior to January 1, 2009, we reported the results of our Canadian operations together with our International segment.

North America. Our North America segment accounted for 78%, 79% and 81% of our total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

*International.* We conduct business internationally through our wholly-owned subsidiaries, joint ventures that we hold a majority interest in, independent correspondents, strategic relationships through our D&B Worldwide Network® and minority equity investments. The International segment, which primarily represents revenue generated through our subsidiaries, accounted for 22%, 21% and 19% of our total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Since 2000, we have entered into strategic relationships with strong local players throughout the world that we do not control and who have become part of our D&B Worldwide Network, operating under commercial agreements. Our D&B Worldwide Network enables our customers globally to make business decisions with confidence, because we incorporate data from the members of the D&B Worldwide Network that has been put through the DUNSRight Quality Process into our database and utilize it in our customer solutions. Our customers, therefore, have access to a more powerful database and global solution sets they can rely on to make their risk management, sales and marketing decisions. Over the last few years, we have strengthened our position in our International segment through majority-owned joint ventures in Japan, China and India.

In addition, we have from time-to-time, acquired complementary businesses, products and technologies. For example:

In 2007, we acquired First Research, Inc., Purisma Incorporated, AllBusiness.com, Inc. and substantially all of the assets of n2 Check Limited and substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of the Education Division of Automation Research, Inc., d/b/a MKTG Services;

5

#### **Table of Contents**

In 2007, we established majority owned joint ventures in China with Huaxia International Credit Consulting Co. Ltd. and in Japan with Tokyo Shoko Research;

In 2008, we established majority-owned joint ventures in China with Beijing Huicong International Information Co., Ltd., and we increased our indirect minority ownership stake in Dun & Bradstreet Information Services India Private Limited ( D&B India ) to a 53% direct majority ownership; and

In 2009, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Bisnode s UK operations and a 100% equity interest in Bisnode s Irish operations ( ICC ), we acquired all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities related to Quality Education Data and we acquired a 90% equity interest in RoadWay International Limited ( RoadWay ), the leading provider of integrated services of direct marketing in China. As part of the RoadWay transaction, D&B Huaxia, our existing joint venture company with Huaxia in China, transferred its Sales & Marketing Solutions business to RoadWay.

Segment data and other information for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 are included in Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

#### **Our Customer Solutions and Services**

Risk Management Solutions

Risk Management Solutions is our largest customer solution set, accounting for 64%, 62% and 62% of our total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Within this customer solution set we offer traditional and value-added solutions. Our traditional solutions, which includes our DNBi® Solution and also consists of reports from our database used primarily for making decisions about new credit applications, constituted 75% of our Risk Management Solutions revenue and 48% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009. Our value-added solutions, which constituted 20% of our Risk Management Solutions revenue and 12% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009, generally support automated decision-making and portfolio management through the use of scoring and integrated software solutions. See Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of trends in this customer solutions set.

On January 1, 2008, we began managing our Supply Management business as part of our Risk Management Solutions business. This is consistent with our overall strategy and also reflects customers needs to better understand the financial risk of their supply chain. As a result, the contributions of the Supply Management business are now reported as a part of Risk Management Solutions, as set forth above.

Our Risk Management Solutions help customers increase cash flow and profitability while mitigating credit, operational and regulatory risks by helping them answer questions such as:

Should I extend credit to this new customer?

What credit limit should I set?

Will this customer pay me on time?

How can I avoid supply chain disruption?

How do I know whether I am in compliance with regulatory acts? Our principal Risk Management Solutions are:

DNBi, our interactive, customizable online application that offers our customers real time access to our most complete and up-to-date global DUNSRight information, comprehensive monitoring and portfolio analysis;

6

#### **Table of Contents**

Our Business Information Report, our Comprehensive Report, and our International Report, which provide overall profiles of a company, including, based on the report type, financial information, payment information, history of a business, ownership details, operational information and similar information;

Our Self Awareness Solutions, which allow our small business customers to establish, improve and protect their own credit;

Our decisioning scores, which help assess the credit risk of a business by assigning a rating or score; and

Supply Lifecycle Risk Management , which is an online solution that allows customers to standardize their supplier registration and evaluation process by creating a single point of entry with consistent procedures.

Certain of our solutions are available on a subscription pricing basis, such as our Preferred Pricing Agreement with DNBi. Our subscription pricing plans, which continue to represent an increasing proportion of our revenue, provide increased access to our Risk Management reports and data to help customers increase their profitability while mitigating their risk.

Sales & Marketing Solutions

Sales & Marketing Solutions is our second-largest customer solution set accounting for 28% of our total revenue for each of the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007. Within this customer solution set we offer traditional and value-added solutions. Our traditional solutions generally consist of marketing lists, labels and customized data files used by our customers in their direct mail and marketing activities. These solutions constituted 40% of our Sales & Marketing Solutions revenue and 11% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009. Our value-added solutions generally include decision-making and customer information management solutions. These value-added solutions constituted 60% of Sales & Marketing Solutions revenue and 17% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009. See Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of trends in this customer solutions set.

Our Sales & Marketing Solutions help customers increase revenue from new and existing customers by helping them answer questions such as:

Who are my best customers?

How can I find prospects that look like my best customers?

How can I exploit untapped opportunities with my existing customers?

How can I allocate sales force resources to revenue growth potential? Our principal Sales & Marketing Solutions are:

Our solutions for Customer Data Integration, which are a suite of solutions that cleanse, identify, link and enrich customer information with our DUNSRight Quality Process. Our D&B Optimizer solution, for example, uses our DUNSRight Quality Process to transform customer prospects and files into up-to-date, accurate and actionable commercial insight, enabling a single customer view across multiple systems and touchpoints, such as marketing and billing databases and better enabling a customer to make sales and marketing decisions; and

Our Direct Marketing Lists, which benefit from our DUNSRight Quality Process to enable our customers to create an accurate and comprehensive marketing campaign.

7

Internet Solutions

Our Internet Solutions business provides highly organized, efficient and easy-to-use products that address the online business intelligence needs of professionals and small businesses, including information on companies, industries and executives, integration tools that bring this information into the day-to-day workflow of our customers, and research and advice regarding starting up and managing a business.

Internet Solutions represent the results of our Hoover s business, including both the First Research division and the AllBusiness.com division. Internet Solutions accounted for 7% of our total revenue for the each of the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007. See Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion on trends in this customer solutions set.

Growth to our Internet Solutions business depends upon the development of improved and new products targeted to our primary customer segments, as well as the development of Internet products targeted to the needs of customer segments outside our core audience.

Hoover s provides information on public and private companies, and on industries and executives, sales, marketing and research professionals worldwide. The database includes industry and company briefs, information on competitors, corporate financials, executive contact information, current news and research, family trees, and contact information including biographies. Hoover s subscribers primarily access the data online via Hoover s Online.

First Research is a leading Internet provider of editorial-based industry insight, specifically tailored toward sales professionals. Through First Research, D&B has been able to enhance its Hoover s solutions with deeper industry-specific content, providing sales professionals with higher quality data and more comprehensive insight.

AllBusiness.com is an online media and e-commerce company that leverages its proprietary publishing platform and a broad range of content to help users run their small businesses. AllBusiness.com operates one of the leading business information sites on the Internet. Its content helps professionals save time and money by addressing real-world business questions with practical solutions.

Our Internet Solutions help customers convert prospects to clients faster by helping them answer questions such as:

How do I identify prospects and better prepare for sales calls?

Who are the key senior-level decision makers?

How does the prospect compare to others in their industry? Our principal Internet Solutions are:

Our subscription solutions delivered online through Hoover s Online (such as Researcher, Prospector, Relationship Manager, Executive, and our First Research industry data solution) and via electronic data feeds;

Our advertising and e-marketing solutions provided through www.hoovers.com, www.AllBusiness.com, www.firstresearch.com and related Internet sites; and

Licensing of Hoover s proprietary content to third-party content providers.

**Our Sales Force** 

We rely primarily on our sales force of approximately 2,250 team members worldwide to sell our customers solutions, of which approximately 1,400 were in our North America segment and 850 were in our International segment as of December 31, 2009. Our sales force includes relationship managers and solution specialists who

8

#### **Table of Contents**

sell to our strategic and commercial customers, telesales teams, a team that sells to federal, state and local governments, and a team that sells to resellers of our solutions and our data. Our global sales force is also a source of competitive advantage, which allows us to go-to-market across three key customer segments. We identify these segments as strategic customers; commercial customers (or middle market in our International segment); and small businesses.

In 2009, we redesigned the Go-To-Market approach for our North America sales organization to increase performance and drive efficiencies. We reorganized the sales force, consolidated channels, reallocated accounts and simplified account teaming structures to get closer to our customers and to improve the efficiency of our sales force. We consolidated sales support functions, realigned around key industries in the strategic customer segment to increase cross-sell opportunities and account penetration, and will leverage telesales to drive new customer acquisition more efficiently. As a result of this reengineering initiative, we reduced the overall size of the North America sales force by approximately 10%.

#### **Our Customers**

We believe that different size customers have different needs and require different skill sets to service them. Accordingly, we have adopted a go-to-market sales strategy that focuses on distinct groups categorized internally as large customers, middle market customers and small business customers. Our principal customers within these groups are banks and other credit and financial institutions, manufacturers, wholesalers, retailers, government agencies, insurance companies and telecommunication companies, as well as sales, marketing and business development professionals. None of our customers accounted for more than 10% of our 2009 total revenue or of the revenue of our North American or International segments. Accordingly, neither we nor either of our segments is dependent on a single customer, such that a loss of any one would have a material adverse effect on our consolidated annual results of operations or the annual results of either of our segments.

#### Competition

We are subject to highly competitive conditions in all aspects of our business. However, we believe no competitor offers our complete line of solutions or can match our global data quality resulting from our DUNSRight Quality Process.

In North America, we are a market leader in our Risk Management Solutions business in terms of market share and revenue. We compete with our customers—own internal business practices by continually developing more efficient alternatives to our customers—risk management processes to capture more of their internal spend. We also directly compete with a broad range of companies, including consumer credit companies such as Equifax, Inc. and Experian Information Solutions, Inc. (Experian—), which have traditionally offered primarily consumer information services, but now offer products that combine consumer information with business information as a tool to help customers make credit decisions with respect to small businesses.

We also compete in North America with a broad range of companies offering solutions similar to our Sales & Marketing Solutions. Our direct competitors in Sales & Marketing Solutions include companies such as Experian and infoGROUP ( infoUSA ).

In our Internet Solutions, Hoover s competition varies based on the size of the customer and the level of spending available for services such as Hoover s Online. On the high end of product pricing, Hoover s Researcher, Hoover s Prospector and Hoover s Relationship Manager products compete with other business information providers such as infoUSA. New, less established entrants are also pursuing some of these same customers. On the lower end of product pricing, our Hoover s Exec and Lite solutions mainly competes with advertising-supported Internet sites and other free or low-priced information sources, such as Yahoo! Finance and MarketWatch, Inc.

9

#### **Table of Contents**

Outside the U.S., the competitive environment varies by region and country. In Europe, our direct competition is primarily local, such as Experian in the United Kingdom ( UK ). In addition, we compete with certain companies such as Coface for cross border business. However, we believe we offer superior solutions when compared to these networks because of our DUNSRight Quality Process. In addition, the Sales & Marketing Solutions landscape is both localized and fragmented throughout Europe, where numerous local players of varying size compete for business.

In Asia, we face competition in our Risk Management Solutions business from a mix of local and global providers. For example, we compete with Sinotrust in China which is majority owned by Experian, with Teikoku Data Bank ( TDB ) in Japan and with Experian in India. In addition, as in Europe, the Sales & Marketing Solutions landscape throughout Asia is localized and fragmented.

We also face significant competition from the in-house operations of the businesses we seek as customers, other general and specialized credit reporting and business information services, and credit insurers. For example, in certain International markets, such as Europe, some credit insurers have identified the provision of credit information as an additional revenue stream. In addition, business information solutions and services are becoming more readily available, principally due to the expansion of the Internet, greater availability of public data and the emergence of new providers of business information solutions and services.

As discussed in Our Aspiration and Our Strategy above, we believe that our Trusted Brand, our DUNSRight Quality Process, our Winning Culture and our Financial Flexibility form a powerful competitive advantage.

Our ability to continue to compete effectively will be based on a number of factors, including our ability to:

Communicate and demonstrate to our customers the value of our products and services based upon our proprietary DUNSRight Quality Process and, as a result, improve customer satisfaction;

Maintain and develop proprietary information and services such as analytics (e.g., scoring) and sources of data not publicly available;

Leverage our brand perception and the value of our D&B Worldwide Network;

Maintain those third-party relationships on whom we rely for data and certain operational services; and

Attract and retain a high-performing workforce.

#### **Intellectual Property**

We own and control various intellectual property rights, such as trade secrets, confidential information, trademarks, service marks, trade names, copyrights, patents and applications therefor. These rights, in the aggregate, are of material importance to our business. We also believe that the D&B name and related trade names, marks and logos are of material importance to our business. We are licensed to use certain technology and other intellectual property rights owned and controlled by others, and other companies are licensed to use certain technology and other intellectual property rights owned and controlled by us. We consider our trademarks, service marks, databases, software, patents applications and other intellectual property to be proprietary, and we rely on a combination of statutory (e.g., copyright, trademark, trade secret, patent, etc.) and contract and liability safeguards for protection thereof throughout the world.

Unless the context indicates otherwise, the names of our branded solutions and services referred to in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are trademarks, service marks or registered trademarks or service marks owned by or licensed to us or one or more of our subsidiaries.

We own patents and patent applications both in the U.S. and in other selected countries of importance to us. The patents and patent applications include claims which pertain to certain technologies which we have determined are proprietary and warrant patent protection. We believe that the protection of our innovative

#### **Table of Contents**

technology, especially technology pertaining to our proprietary DUNSRight Quality Process, through the filing of patent applications is a prudent business strategy, and we will continue to seek to protect those assets for which we have expended substantial capital. Filing of these patent applications may or may not provide us with a dominant position in the fields of technology. However, these patent applications may provide us with legal defenses should subsequent patents in these fields be issued to third parties and later asserted against us. Where appropriate, we may also consider asserting or cross-licensing our patents.

#### **Employees**

As of December 31, 2009, we employed approximately 5,000 team members worldwide, of which approximately 3,000 were in our North America segment and Corporate and approximately 2,000 were in our International segment. We believe that we have good relations with our employees. There are no unions in the North America segment. Works Councils and Trade Unions represent a portion of our employees in the European and Latin American operations of our International segment.

#### **Available Information**

We are required to file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Investors may read and copy any document that we file, including this Annual Report on Form 10-K, at the SEC s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Investors may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains an Internet site at <a href="https://www.sec.gov">www.sec.gov</a> that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC, from which investors can electronically access our SEC filings.

We make available free of charge on or through our Internet site (www.dnb.com) our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish the material to, the SEC. The information on our Internet site, on our Hoover s Internet site or on our related Internet sites is not, and shall not be deemed to be, a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated into any other filings we make with the SEC.

#### **Organizational Background of Our Company**

As used in this report, except where the context indicates otherwise, the terms D&B, Company, we, us, or our refer to The Dun & Bradstree Corporation and our subsidiaries.

We were incorporated in 2000 in the State of Delaware. For more information on our history, including the various spin-offs leading to our formation and our becoming a public company in September 2000, see Note 13 in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

#### Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business model is dependent upon third parties to provide data and certain operational services, the loss of which would materially impact our business and financial results.

We rely significantly on third parties to support our business model. For example:

We obtain much of the data that we use from third parties, including public record sources;

We utilize single source providers in certain countries that support the needs of our customers around the globe and rely on members of our D&B Worldwide Network to provide local data in countries in which we do not directly operate;

11

#### **Table of Contents**

We have also outsourced certain portions of our data acquisition, processing and delivery and customer service processes; and

We have outsourced various functions, such as our technology help desk and network management functions in the U.S. and the UK. If one or more data providers were to experience financial or operational difficulties or were to withdraw their data, cease making it available, be unable to make it available due to changing industry standards, substantially increase the cost of their data, not adhere to our data quality standards, or be acquired by a competitor who would cause this to occur, our ability to provide solutions and services to our customers could be materially adversely impacted, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results. Similarly, if one of our outsource providers, including third parties with whom we have strategic relationships, were to experience financial or operational difficulties, their services to us would suffer or they may no longer be able to provide services to us at all, having a material adverse effect on our business and financial results. We cannot be certain that we could replace our large third-party vendors in a timely manner or on terms commercially reasonable to us. In addition, if we change a significant outsource provider, an existing provider makes significant changes to the way they conduct their operations, or we seek to bring in-house certain services performed today by third parties, we may experience unexpected disruptions in the provision of our solutions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results.

Our business performance is dependent upon successful implementation and the ongoing operation of our recently announced two-year Strategic Technology Initiative, the failure of which could materially impact our business and financial results.

In February 2010, we announced an approximately two-year strategic technology initiative to be implemented at an aggregate cost of approximately \$110 million to \$130 million. We will rely in part on third-party providers to implement a new data supply chain and update our technology infrastructure and to thereafter run such operations both within D&B and from their own remote locations. We have started the detailed planning of this initiative and upon completion we expect that it will:

Simplify and re-architect our data supply chain in order to, among other things, supply intra-day updates;

Create a services layer to optimize access to our data for customers and third parties;

Consolidate our legacy products to provide fewer more impactful applications for customers;

Accelerate revenue growth in our North America segment upon the completion of the initiative; and

Significantly reduce our technology costs upon completion of the initiative.

In the event we fail to successfully develop the plan, and execute on the initiative, including hiring and retaining appropriate technology personnel, engage and manage third parties, re-architect our data supply chain, and simplify our product portfolio while migrating our customers to new products, and maintain such data and technology operations on an ongoing basis, we will not achieve our expected revenue acceleration or growth, or the anticipated cost savings from this initiative, and we could experience a significant competitive disadvantage in the marketplace, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results.

We face competition that may cause price reductions or loss of market share.

We are subject to competitive conditions in all aspects of our business. We compete directly with a broad range of companies offering business information services to customers. We also face competition from:

The in-house operations of the businesses we seek as customers;

Other general and specialized credit reporting and other business information services; and

Credit insurers.

12

#### **Table of Contents**

In addition, business information solutions and services are becoming more readily available, principally due to the expansion of the Internet, greater availability of public data and the emergence of new providers of business information solutions and services. Large Internet search engine companies can provide low-cost alternatives to data gathering and change how our customers perform key activities such as marketing campaigns. Such companies, and other third parties which may not be readily apparent today, may become significant low-cost competitors and adversely impact the demand for our solutions and services.

Weak economic conditions also can result in customers seeking to utilize free or lower-cost information that is available from alternative sources such as the Internet and European Commission-sponsored projects like the European Business Register. Intense competition could harm us by causing, among other things, price reductions, reduced gross margins and loss of market share.

We are facing competition outside the U.S., and our competitors could develop an alternative to our D&B Worldwide Network.

We are also facing competition from consumer credit companies that offer consumer information solutions to help their customers make credit decisions regarding small businesses. In addition, consumer information companies are seeking to expand their operations more broadly into aspects of the business information space. While their presence is currently small in the business information market, given the size of the consumer market in which they play, they have scale advantages in terms of scope of operations and size of relationship with customers, which they can potentially leverage to an advantage.

Our ability to continue to compete effectively will be based upon a number of factors, including our ability to:

Communicate and demonstrate to our customers the value of our products and services based upon our proprietary DUNSRight Quality Process and, as a result, improve customer satisfaction;

Maintain and develop proprietary information and services such as analytics (e.g., scoring), and sources of data not publicly available, such as detailed trade data;

Demonstrate value through our decision-making tools and integration capabilities;

Leverage our brand perception and the value of our D&B Worldwide Network;

Continue to implement the Financial Flexibility component of our strategy and effectively reallocate our spending;

Obtain and deliver reliable and high-quality business information through various media and distribution channels in formats tailored to customer requirements;

Adopt and maintain an effective information technology infrastructure to support product delivery as customer needs and preferences change and competitors offer more sophisticated products;

Attract and retain a high-performance workforce;

Enhance our existing services and introduce new services; and

Improve our International business model and data quality through the successful management in our International segment of the members of our D&B Worldwide Network.

Our business performance might not be sufficient for us to meet the full-year financial guidance that we provide publicly.

We provide full-year financial guidance to the public which is based upon our assumptions regarding our expected financial performance. This includes, for example, assumptions regarding our ability to grow revenue, to grow operating income, to achieve desired tax rates and to generate cash. We believe that our financial

13

#### **Table of Contents**

guidance provides investors and analysts with a better understanding of our view of our near-term financial performance. Such financial guidance may not always be accurate, due to our inability to meet the assumptions we make and the impact on our financial performance that could occur as a result of the various risks and uncertainties to our business as set forth in these risk factors and in our public filings with the SEC or otherwise. If we fail to meet the full-year financial guidance that we provide or if we find it necessary to revise such guidance as we conduct our operations throughout the year, the market value of our common stock could be materially adversely affected.

We may lose key business assets or suffer interruptions in product delivery, including loss of data center capacity or the interruption of telecommunications links, the Internet, or power sources which could significantly impede our ability to do business.

Our operations depend on our ability, as well as that of third-party service providers to whom we have outsourced several critical functions, to protect data centers and related technology against damage from hardware failure, fire, power loss, telecommunications failure, impacts of terrorism, breaches in security (such as the actions of computer hackers), natural disasters, or other disasters. The online services we provide are dependent on links to telecommunications providers. In addition, we generate a significant amount of our revenue through telesales centers and Internet sites that we use in the acquisition of new customers, fulfillment of solutions and services and responding to customer inquiries. We may not have sufficient redundant operations or change management processes in connection with our introduction of new online products or services to prevent a loss or failure in all of these areas in a timely manner. Any damage to our data centers, failure of our telecommunications links or inability to access these telesales centers or Internet sites could cause interruptions in operations that adversely affect our ability to meet customers requirements and materially adversely affect our business and financial results.

A failure in the integrity of our database could harm our brand and result in a loss of sales and an increase in legal claims.

The reliability of our solutions is dependent upon the integrity of the data in our global database. We have in the past been subject to customer and third-party complaints and lawsuits regarding our data, which have occasionally been resolved by the payment of money damages. A failure in the integrity of our database, whether inadvertently or through the actions of a third party, which may be on the rise, could harm us by exposing us to customer or third-party claims or by causing a loss of customer confidence in our solutions. In addition, we must continue to invest in our database to improve and maintain the quality, timeliness and coverage of the data contained therein if we are to maintain our competitive positioning in the marketplace.

Also, we have licensed, and we may license in the future, proprietary rights to third parties. While we attempt to ensure that the quality of our brand is maintained by the third parties to whom we grant non-exclusive licenses and by customers, they may take actions that could materially adversely affect the value of our proprietary rights or our reputation. In addition, it cannot be assured that these licensees and customers will take the same steps we have taken to prevent misappropriation of our data solutions or technologies.

Our brand and reputation are key assets and competitive advantages of our Company and our business may be affected by how we are perceived in the marketplace.

Our brand and its attributes are key assets of the Company. Our ability to attract and retain customers is highly dependent upon the external perceptions of our level of data quality, business practices and overall financial condition. Negative perceptions or publicity regarding these matters could damage our reputation with customers and the public, which could make it difficult for us to attract and maintain customers. Adverse developments with respect to our industry may also, by association, negatively impact our reputation, or result in higher regulatory or legislative scrutiny. Although we monitor developments for areas of potential risk to our reputation and brand, negative perceptions or publicity could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results.

14

We rely on annual contract renewals for a substantial part of our revenue, and our quarterly results may be significantly impacted by the timing of these renewals or a shift in product mix that results in a change in the timing of revenue recognition.

We derive a substantial portion of our revenue from annual customer contracts. If we are unable to renew a significant number of these contracts, our revenue and results of operations would be harmed. In addition, our results of operations from period-to-period may vary due to the timing of customer contract renewals. As contracts are renewed, we have, and may continue to experience, a shift in product mix underlying such contracts. This could result in the deferral of increased amounts of revenue into future periods as a larger portion of revenue is recognized over the term of our contracts rather than upfront at contract signing. Although this may cause our financial results from period-to-period to vary substantially, such change in revenue recognition will not change the total revenue recognized over the life of our contracts.

#### We may be adversely affected by the current economic environment.

As a result of the macro-economic challenges currently affecting the economy of the United States and other parts of the world, our customers or vendors may experience problems with their earnings, cash flow, or both. This may cause our customers to delay, cancel or significantly decrease their purchases from us, and we may experience delays in payment or their inability to pay amounts owed to us. In addition, our vendors may substantially increase their prices without notice. Any such change in the behavior of our customers or vendors may materially adversely affect our earnings and cash flow. If economic conditions in the United States and other key markets deteriorate further or do not show improvement, we may experience material adverse impacts to our business, operating results, and/or access to credit markets.

Changes in the legislative, regulatory and commercial environments in which we operate may adversely impact our ability to collect, manage, aggregate and use data and may impact our financial results.

Certain types of information we gather, compile and publish are subject to regulation by governmental authorities in certain markets in which we operate, particularly in our international markets. In addition, there is increasing awareness and concern among the general public and companies regarding marketing and privacy matters, particularly as they relate to individual privacy interests and the ubiquity of the Internet. These concerns may result in new laws and regulations. In general, compliance with existing laws and regulations has not to date materially impacted our business and financial results. Nonetheless, future laws and regulations with respect to the collection, management and use of information, and adverse publicity or litigation concerning the commercial use of such information could result in limitations being imposed on our operations, increased compliance or litigation expense and/or loss of revenue, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results.

In addition, governmental agencies may seek, from time-to-time, to increase the fees or taxes that we must pay to acquire, use and/or redistribute data that such governmental agencies collect. While we would seek to pass along any such price increases to our customers or provide alternative services, there is no guarantee that we would be able to do so, given competitive pressures or other considerations. In addition, any such price increases or alternative services may result in reduced usage by our customers and/or loss of market share.

We may be unable to adapt successfully to changes in our customers preferences for our solutions, which could materially adversely affect our revenues.

Our success depends in part on our ability to adapt our solutions to our customers preferences. Advances in information technology and uncertain or changing economic conditions are changing the way our customers use and purchase business information. As a result, our customers are demanding both lower prices and more features from our solutions, such as decision-making tools like credit scores and electronic delivery formats. If we do not successfully adapt our solutions to our customers preferences, our business and financial results

15

#### **Table of Contents**

would be materially adversely affected. Specifically, for our larger customers, our continued success will be dependent on our ability to satisfy more of their needs by providing solutions beyond data, such as enhanced analytics and assisting with their data integration efforts. For our smaller customers, our success will depend in part on our ability to develop a strong value proposition, including simplifying our solutions and pricing offerings, to enhance our marketing efforts to these customers and to improve our service to them.

To address customer needs for pricing certainty and increased access to our solutions, we provide subscription pricing plans through our Preferred Pricing Agreement with DNBi. These subscription pricing plans provide expanded access to our Risk Management Solutions in a way that provides more certainty over related costs to the customer, which, in turn, generally results in customers increasing their spend on our solutions. These plans have been an important driver of our growth from inception in 2005 to date. Our success moving forward is dependent, in part, on the continued penetration of these offerings and the successful rollout of similar programs in various markets around the world. Similarly, our continued success is dependent on customers—acceptance of our DNBi offering.

Acquisitions, joint ventures or similar strategic relationships may disrupt or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results.

As part of our strategy, we may seek to acquire other complementary businesses, products and technologies or enter into joint ventures or similar strategic relationships. These transactions are subject to the following risks:

Acquisitions, joint ventures or similar relationships may cause a disruption in our ongoing business, distract our management and make it difficult to maintain our standards, controls and procedures;

We may not be able to integrate successfully the services, content, products and personnel of any such transaction into our operations;

We may not derive the revenue improvements, cost savings and other intended benefits of any such transaction; and

Risks, exposures and liabilities of acquired entities or other third parties with whom we undertake a transaction, that arise from such third parties activities prior to undertaking a transaction with us.

We have no direct management control over third-party members of the D&B Worldwide Network who conduct business under the D&B brand name in local markets.

The D&B Worldwide Network is comprised of wholly-owned subsidiaries, joint ventures that we either control or hold a minority interest in, and third-party members who conduct business under the D&B brand name in local markets. While third-party member participation in the D&B Worldwide Network is controlled by commercial services agreements and the use of our trademarks is controlled by license agreements, we have no direct management control over these members beyond the terms of the agreements. As a result, actions or inactions taken by these third-party members may have a material impact on our business and financial results. For example, one or more third-party members may:

Provide a product or service that does not adhere to our data quality standards;

Fail to comply with D&B brand and communication standards;

Engage in illegal or unethical business practices;

Elect not to support new or revised products and services or other strategic initiatives; or

Fail to execute other data or distribution contract requirements.

Such actions or inactions may have an impact on customer confidence in the D&B brand globally, which could materially adversely impact our business and financial results.

16

We may not be able to attract and retain qualified personnel, including members of our sales force and technology team, which could impact the quality of our performance and customer satisfaction.

Our success and financial results also depend on our continuing ability to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified personnel at all levels. This includes members of our sales force on whom we rely for the vast majority of our revenue, and members of our technology team on whom we rely to continually maintain and upgrade all of our technology operations and maintain and develop our products, and to appropriately use the time and resources of such individuals. Competition for these individuals is intense, and we may not be able to retain our key personnel or key members of our sales or technology teams, or attract, assimilate or retain other highly qualified individuals in the future. We have from time-to-time experienced, and we expect to continue to experience, difficulty in hiring and retaining employees, including members of our sales force and technology team, with appropriate qualifications.

Our operations in the International segment are subject to various risks associated with operations in foreign countries, which could materially adversely affect our business and financial results.

Our success depends in part on our various operations outside North America. For the three years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, our International segment accounted for 22%, 21% and 19% of total revenue, respectively. Our International business is subject to many challenges, the most significant being:

Our competition is primarily local, and our customers may have greater loyalty to our local competitors who may have a competitive advantage with us because they are not restricted by U.S. laws with which we require our International segment to comply, such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;

Credit insurance is a significant credit risk mitigation tool in certain markets, thus reducing the demand for our Risk Management Solutions: and

In some markets, key data elements are generally available from public-sector sources, thus reducing a customer s need to purchase our data.

Our International strategy includes the leveraging of our D&B Worldwide Network to improve our data quality. We form and manage these strategic alliances to create a competitive advantage for us over the long term; however, these strategic relationships may not be successful or may be subject to ownership change.

The issue of data privacy is an increasingly important area of public policy in various International markets, and we operate in an evolving regulatory environment that could adversely impact aspects of our business or the business of third parties on whom we depend.

Our operating results could also be negatively affected by a variety of other factors affecting our foreign operations, many of which are beyond our control. These factors may include currency fluctuations, economic, political or regulatory conditions, competition from government agencies in a specific country or region, trade protection measures and other regulatory requirements. Additional risks inherent in International business activities generally include, among others:

Longer accounts receivable payment cycles;

The costs and difficulties of managing International operations and strategic alliances, including the D&B Worldwide Network; and

The need to comply with a broader array of regulatory and licensing requirements, the failure of which could result in fines, penalties or business suspensions.

17

We may be unable to reduce our expense base through our Financial Flexibility, and the related reinvestments from savings from this program may not produce the level of desired revenue growth which would materially adversely affect our business and financial results.

Successful execution of our strategy includes reducing our expense base through our Financial Flexibility initiatives, and reallocating our expense base reductions into initiatives to produce our desired revenue growth. The success of this program may be affected by:

Our ability to continually adapt and improve our organizational design and efficiency to meet the changing needs of our business and our customers;

Our ability to implement all of the actions required under this program within the established time frame;

Our ability to implement actions that require process or technology changes to reduce our expense base;

Entering into or amending agreements with third-party vendors to renegotiate terms beneficial to us;

Managing third-party vendor relationships effectively;

Completing agreements with our local works councils and trade unions related to potential reengineering actions in certain International markets; and

Maintaining quality around key business processes utilizing our reduced and/or outsourced resources. If we fail to reduce our expense base, or if we do not achieve our desired level of revenue growth from new initiatives, our business and financial results would be materially adversely affected.

We are involved in tax and legal proceedings that could have a material adverse impact on us.

We are involved in tax and legal proceedings, claims and litigations that arise in the ordinary course of business. As discussed in greater detail under Note 13. Contingencies in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, certain of these matters could materially adversely affect our business and financial results.

#### Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

#### Item 2. Properties

Our corporate office is located at 103 JFK Parkway, Short Hills, New Jersey 07078, in a 123,000-square-foot property that we lease. This property also serves as the executive offices of our North America segment.

Our other properties are geographically distributed to meet sales and operating requirements worldwide. We generally consider these properties to be both suitable and adequate to meet current operating requirements. As of December 31, 2009, the most important of these other properties include the following sites:

A 178,000 square-foot leased office building in Center Valley, Pennsylvania, which houses various sales, finance, fulfillment and data acquisition personnel;

A 147,000 square-foot office building that we own in Parsippany, New Jersey, housing personnel from our North American sales, marketing and technology groups (approximately one-third of this building is leased to a third party);

A 78,000 square-foot leased office building in Austin, Texas, which houses a majority of our Hoover s employees; and

A 79,060 square-foot leased space in Marlow, England, which houses our United Kingdom business, International technology and certain other International teams.

18

#### **Table of Contents**

In addition to the above locations, we also conduct operations in other offices across the globe, most of which are leased.

#### Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Information in response to this Item is included in Part II, Item 8. Note 13. Contingencies and is incorporated by reference into Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

#### Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2009.

19

#### PART II

**Item 5.** Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and trades under the symbol DNB. We had 2,919 shareholders of record as of December 31, 2009.

The following table summarizes the high and low sales prices for our common stock, as reported in the periods shown:

	20	09	20	2008		
	High	Low	High	Low		
First Quarter	\$ 81.40	\$ 69.80	\$ 93.94	\$81.02		
Second Quarter	\$ 84.18	\$ 76.67	\$ 94.10	\$ 80.44		
Third Quarter	\$ 83.16	\$ 71.33	\$ 98.78	\$ 85.50		
Fourth Quarter	\$ 84.64	\$ 73.26	\$ 93.57	\$ 64.40		

We paid quarterly dividends to our shareholders totaling \$71.5 million, \$65.6 million and \$58.4 million during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. On February 4, 2010, our Board of Directors approved the declaration of a \$0.35 per share dividend for the first quarter of 2010. This cash dividend is payable March 18, 2010, to shareholders of record at the close of business on March 3, 2010.

#### Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table provides information about purchases made by us or on our behalf during the quarter ended December 31, 2009 of shares of equity that are registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act:

	Total Number of Shares	Average Price Paid	Total Number of Shares Purchased as part of Publicly Announced	Maximum Number of Currently Authorized Shares that May Yet Be Purchased Under the Plans or	Approximate Dollar Value of Currently Authorized Shares that May Yet Be Purchased Under the		
Period	Purchased (a)(b)	Per Share	Plans or Programs(a)(b)	rne Plans or Programs(a)		Plans or Programs(b)	
	. , , ,	(Ar	nounts in millions, except	•	, ,		
October 1 - 31, 2009		\$			\$		
November 1 - 30, 2009	0.2	\$ 79.30	0.2		\$		
December 1 - 31, 2009	0.8	\$ 81.59	0.8		\$		
	1.0	\$ 81.16	1.0	0.8	\$	177.3	

<sup>(</sup>a) During the three months ended December 31, 2009, we repurchased 0.5 million shares of common stock for \$34.7 million under our Board of Directors approved repurchase program to mitigate the dilutive effect of the shares issued under our stock incentive plans and Employee Stock Purchase Plan. This program was announced in August 2006 and expires in August 2010. The maximum amount authorized under the program is 5.0 million shares, of which 4.2 million shares have been repurchased as of December 31, 2009. We anticipate that this program will be completed prior to maturity in August 2010.

(b) During the three months ended December 31, 2009, we repurchased 0.3 million shares of common stock for \$24.8 million related to a previously announced \$400 million, two-year share repurchase program approved by our Board of Directors in December 2007. This program was completed in December 2009.

In addition, during the three months ended December 31, 2009, we repurchased 0.2 million shares of common stock for \$22.7 million related to a previously announced \$200 million share repurchase program approved by our Board of Directors in February 2009. We anticipate that this program will be completed by December 2011.

20

#### FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE COMPARISON GRAPH\*

#### **SINCE DECEMBER 31, 2004**

In accordance with SEC rules, the graph below compares the Company s cumulative total shareholder return against the cumulative total return of the Standard & Poor s 500 Stock Index and a published industry index starting on December 31, 2004. Our past performance may not be indicative of future performance.

As an industry index, the Company chose the S&P 500 Commercial & Professional Services Index, a subset of the S&P 500 Stock Index that includes companies that provide business-to-business services.

#### COMPARISON OF FIVE YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

#### AMONG D&B, S&P 500 STOCK INDEX AND THE S&P 500 COMMERCIAL &

#### PROFESSIONAL SERVICES INDEX

\* Assumes \$100 invested on December 31, 2004, and reinvestment of dividends.

21

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

	20	09	For the Years Ended December 31, 2008 2007 2006 (Amounts in millions, except per share data)						2005	
Results of Operations:										
Operating Revenues	\$ 1,6			1,726.3		1,599.2		1,474.9		1,380.0
Costs and Expenses	1,2	22.5		1,256.6	]	1,173.6		1,081.2		1,015.4
Operating Income(1)	4	64.5		469.7		425.6		393.7		364.6
Non-Operating Income (Expense) Net(2)	(	(32.0)		(30.8)		0.7		(13.3)		(9.7)
Income from Continuing Operations Before Provision for Income										
Taxes and Equity in Net Income of Affiliates	4	32.5		438.9		426.3		380.4		354.9
Provision for Income Taxes(3)	1	12.1		128.0		135.8		142.1		133.1
Equity in Net Income (Loss) of Affiliates		1.6		1.0		1.3		0.4		0.7
Income from Continuing Operations	3	22.0		311.9		291.8		238.7		222.5
Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Income Taxes				0.7		5.4		2.0		(1.3)
Gain on Disposal of Italian Real Estate Business, Net of Tax Impact				0.4						
Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Income Taxes(4)				1.1		5.4		2.0		(1.3)
1										( )
Net Income	3	22.0		313.0		297.2		240.7		221.2
Less: Net (Income) Loss Attributable to the Noncontrolling Interest		(2.6)		(2.4)		0.9		210.7		221.2
Doss That (moone) Doss That builde to the Troncontrolling merest		(2.0)		(2.1)		0.7				
Net Income Attributable to D&B	\$ 3	19.4	\$	310.6	\$	298.1	\$	240.7	\$	221.2
Net income Attributable to D&B	Ψυ	17.4	Ψ	310.0	Ψ	290.1	Ψ	240.7	Ψ	221.2
Basic Earnings Per Share of Common Stock: Income from Continuing Operations Attributable to D&B	Ф	<i>(</i> 0 <i>(</i>	ф	5 (5	ф	4.00	ф	2.75	ф	2.21
Common Shareholders	\$	6.06	\$	5.65	\$	4.99	\$	3.75	\$	3.31
Income from Discontinued Operations Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders				0.02		0.09		0.04		(0.02)
Net Income Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders	\$	6.06	\$	5.67	\$	5.08	\$	3.79	\$	3.29
	•		-		-		_		-	
Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:										
Income from Continuing Operations Attributable to D&B										
Common Shareholders	\$	5.99	\$	5.56	\$	4.88	\$	3.66	\$	3.19
Income from Discontinued Operations Attributable to D&B	·		•		·				·	
Common Shareholders				0.02		0.09		0.03		(0.02)
										, ,
Net Income Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders	\$	5.99	\$	5.58	\$	4.97	\$	3.69	\$	3.17
	*	- 1,7,7	-		-	,	_	,	-	
Other Data:										
Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding Basic		52.3		54.4		58.3		63.2		66.8
Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding Diluted		52.9		55.3		59.6		64.8		69.4
Amounts Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders						22.0		,		
Income from Continuing Operations, Net of Income Taxes	\$ 3	19.4	\$	309.5	\$	292.7	\$	238.7	\$	222.5
Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Income Taxes				1.1		5.4		2.0		(1.3)
1				_						/
Net Income Attributable to D&B	\$ 3	19.4	\$	310.6	\$	298.1	\$	240.7	\$	221.2
The meane fulloutable to Deb	ψυ	17.7	Ψ	210.0	Ψ	270.1	Ψ	2 <del>7</del> 0.7	Ψ	221.2
Cook Dividende Deid nor Common Chara	ф	1 26	Ф	1.20	¢	1.00	¢		¢	
Cash Dividends Paid per Common Share	\$	1.36	\$	1.20	\$	1.00	\$		\$	

Edgar Filing: DUN & BRADSTREET CORP/NW - Form 10-K

Cash Dividends Declared per Common Share	\$ 1.36	\$ 0.90	\$ 1.30	\$	\$
Balance Sheet:					
Total Assets	\$ 1,749.4	\$ 1,586.0	\$ 1,658.8	\$ 1,360.1	\$ 1,613.4
Long-Term Debt	\$ 961.8	\$ 904.3	\$ 724.8	\$ 458.9	\$ 0.1
Total D&B Shareholders Equity (Deficit)	\$ (745.7)	\$ (856.7)	\$ (440.1)	\$ (399.1)	\$ 77.6
Noncontrolling Interest	\$ 11.7	\$ 6.1	\$ 3.6	\$	\$
Total Equity (Deficit)	\$ (734.0)	\$ (850.6)	\$ (436.5)	\$ (399.1)	\$ 77.6

(1) Non-core gain and (charges)<sup>(a)</sup> included in Operating Income:

	For the Years Ended December 31,				
	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005
Restructuring Charges	\$ (23.1)	\$ (31.4)	\$ (25.1)	\$ (25.5)	\$ (30.7)
Impaired Intangible Assets	\$ (3.0)	\$	\$	\$	\$
Settlement of International Payroll Tax Matter Related to a					
Divested Entity	\$	\$	\$ (0.8)	\$	\$
Charge Related to a Dispute on the Sale of the Company s French					
Business	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$ (0.4)

- (a) See Item 7. included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for definition of non-core gains and (charges).
- (2) Non-core gains and (charges)(a) included in Non-Operating Income (Expense) Net:

	For the Years Ended December 31,				
	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005
Effect of Legacy Tax Matters	\$ 1.0	\$ 1.2	\$ 1.6	\$	\$
Gain Associated with Huaxia/D&B China Joint Venture	\$	\$	\$ 5.8	\$	\$
Gain Associated with Beijing D&B HuiCong Market Research Co., Ltd					
Joint Venture	\$	\$ 0.6	\$	\$	\$
Gain Associated with Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture	\$	\$	\$ 13.2	\$	\$
Net Gain (Loss) on the Sale of Other Investments	\$	\$	\$ 0.9	\$	\$
Tax Reserve true-up for the Settlement of 2003 tax year, related to the					
Amortization and Royalty Expense Deductions transaction	\$	\$ (7.7)	\$	\$	\$
Settlement of Legacy Tax Matter Arbitration	\$ 4.1	\$ 8.1	\$	\$	\$
Gain on Disposal of Italian Domestic Business	\$ 6.5	\$	\$	\$	\$
Gain on Sale of a 5% Investment in a South African Company	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$ 3.5
Lower Costs Related to the Sale of Iberia (Spain and Portugal) Business	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$ 0.8
Charge Related to a Dispute on the Sale of the Company s French Business	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$ (3.7)

(a) See Item 7. included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for definition of non-core gains and (charges).

(3) Non-core gains and (charges)<sup>(a)</sup> included in Provision for Income Taxes:

		For the Yea	rs Ended De	rember 31.	
	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005
Restructuring Charges	\$ 8.4	\$ 11.2	\$ 9.4	\$ 8.6	\$ 8.1
Impaired Intangible Assets	\$ 1.2	\$	\$	\$	\$
Gain Associated with Beijing D&B HuiCong Market Research Co.,					
Ltd Joint Venture	\$	\$ (0.1)	\$	\$	\$
Effect of Legacy Tax Matters	\$ (1.0)	\$ (1.2)	\$ (1.6)	\$	\$
Gain Associated with Huaxia/D&B China Joint Venture	\$	\$	\$ (2.9)	\$	\$
Gain Associated with Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint					
Venture	\$	\$	\$ (8.3)	\$	\$
Settlement of International Payroll Tax Matter Related to a Divested					
Entity	\$	\$	\$ 0.2	\$	\$
Settlement of Legacy Tax Matter Arbitration	\$ (3.1)	\$ (3.1)	\$	\$	\$
Benefits Derived From Worldwide Legal Entity Simplification	\$ 36.2	\$	\$	\$	\$
Gain on Disposal of Italian Domestic Business	\$ 3.5	\$	\$	\$	\$
Net Gain (Loss) on the Sale of Other Investments	\$	\$	\$ (0.3)	\$	\$
Tax Reserve true-up for the Settlement of 1997-2002 tax years,					
primarily related to the Amortization and Royalty Expense					
Deductions/Royalty Income 1997-2007 transaction	\$	\$	\$ 31.2	\$	\$
Tax Reserve true-up for the Settlement of 2003 tax year, related to the					
Amortization and Royalty Expense Deductions transaction	\$	\$ 15.4	\$	\$	\$
Favorable Resolution of Global Tax Audits including the Liquidation					
of Dormant International Corporations and/or Divested Entities	\$	\$ 22.7	\$	\$	\$
Interest on IRS Deposit	\$	\$ 1.3	\$	\$	\$
Impact of Revaluing the Net Deferred Tax Assets in the UK as a					
Result of a UK Tax Law Change, Enacted in Q3 2007, Which Reduces					
the General UK Tax Rate From 30% to 28%	\$	\$	\$ (2.5)	\$	\$
Charge/Increase in Tax Legacy Reserve for Royalty Expense					
Deductions 1993-1997	\$	\$	\$	\$ (0.8)	\$
Tax Benefits Recognized upon the Liquidation of Dormant					
International Corporations	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$ 16.3
Gain on Sale of a 5% Investment in a South African Company	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$ (1.5)
Charge Related to a Dispute on the Sale of the Company s French					
Business	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$ 1.5
Tax Charge Related to the Company s Repatriation of Foreign Cash	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$ (9.3)
Charge/Increase in Tax Legacy Reserve for Royalty Expense					
Deductions 1993-1997	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$ (6.3)
Tax Legacy Refund for Utilization of Capital Losses 1989-1990	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$ 0.9

<sup>(</sup>a) See Item 7. included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for definition of non-core gains and (charges).

24

<sup>(4)</sup> On December 27, 2007, we sold our Italian real estate business for \$9.0 million, which was a part of our International segment, and we have reclassified the historical financial results of the Italian real estate business as discontinued operations. We have reflected the results of this business as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of earnings for all periods presented as set forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We have recorded the resulting gain of \$0.4 million (both pre-tax and after-tax) from the sale in the first quarter of 2008 in the consolidated statement of operations.

## Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations How We Manage Our Business

For internal management purposes, we refer to core revenue, which we calculate as total operating revenue less the revenue of divested businesses. Core revenue is used to manage and evaluate the performance of our segments and to allocate resources because this measure provides an indication of the underlying changes in revenue in a single performance measure. Core revenue does not include reported revenue of divested businesses since they are not included in future revenue.

On May 29, 2009, we completed the sale of substantially all the assets and liabilities of the domestic portion of our Italian operations. This sale has been classified as a Divestiture. Our divested business contributed 1% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009 and 3% of our total revenue for each of the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007. See Note 14 and Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further detail.

We also isolate the effects of changes in foreign exchange rates on our revenue growth because we believe it is useful for investors to be able to compare revenue from one period to another, both with and without the effects of foreign exchange. As a result, we monitor our core revenue growth both after and before the effects of foreign exchange. Core revenue growth excluding the effects of foreign exchange is referred to as revenue growth before the effects of foreign exchange.

From time-to-time we have analyzed and we may continue to further analyze core revenue growth before the effects of foreign exchange among two components, organic core revenue growth and core revenue growth from acquisitions. We analyze organic core revenue growth and core revenue growth from acquisitions because management believes this information provides an important insight into the underlying health of our business. Core revenue includes the revenue from acquired businesses from the date of acquisition.

We evaluate the performance of our business segments based on segment revenue growth before the effects of foreign exchange, and segment operating income growth before certain types of gains and charges that we consider do not reflect our underlying business performance. Specifically, for management reporting purposes, we evaluate business segment performance before non-core gains and charges because such charges are not a component of our ongoing income or expenses and/or may have a disproportionate positive or negative impact on the results of our ongoing underlying business operations. A recurring component of non-core gains and charges are our restructuring charges, which result from a foundational element of our growth strategy that we refer to as Financial Flexibility. Through Financial Flexibility, management identifies opportunities to improve the performance of the business in terms of reallocating our spending from low-growth or low-value activities to activities that will create greater value for shareholders through enhanced revenue growth, improved profitability and/or quality improvements. Management is committed through this process to examining how every dollar is spent, and optimizing between variable and fixed costs to ensure flexibility in changes to our operating expense base as we make strategic choices. This enables us to continually and systematically identify improvement opportunities in terms of quality, cost and customer experience. Such charges are variable from period-to-period based upon actions identified and taken during each period. Management reviews operating results before such charges on a monthly basis and establishes internal budgets and forecasts based upon such measures. Management further establishes annual and long-term compensation such as salaries, target cash bonuses and target equity compensation amounts based on such measures and a significant percentage weight is placed upon such measures before such charges in determining whether performance objectives have been achieved. Management believes that by eliminating restructuring charges from such financial measures, and by being overt to shareholders about the results of our operations excluding such charges, business leaders are provided incentives to recommend and execute actions that are in the best long-term interests of our shareholders, rather than being influenced by the potential impact a charge in a particular period could have on their compensation. Additionally, transition costs (period costs such as consulting fees, costs of temporary employees, relocation costs and stay bonuses incurred to implement the Financial Flexibility component of our strategy) are reported as

25

#### **Table of Contents**

Corporate and Other expenses and are not allocated to our business segments. See Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for financial information regarding our segments.

Similarly, when we evaluate the performance of our business as a whole, we focus on results (such as operating income, operating income growth, operating margin, net income, tax rate and diluted earnings per share) before non-core gains and charges because such non-core gains and charges are not a component of our ongoing income or expenses and/or may have a disproportionate positive or negative impact on the results of our ongoing underlying business operations and may drive behavior that does not ultimately maximize shareholder value.

Additionally, for fiscal years 2009, 2008 and 2007, our non-GAAP (generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America) measures reflect results on a continuing operations basis. It may be concluded from our presentation of non-core gains and charges that the items that result in non-core gains and charges may occur in the future.

We monitor free cash flow as a measure of our business. We define free cash flow as net cash provided by operating activities minus capital expenditures and additions to computer software and other intangibles. Free cash flow measures our available cash flow for potential debt repayment, acquisitions, stock repurchases, dividend payments and additions to cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. We believe free cash flow to be relevant and useful to our investors as this measure is used by our management in evaluating the funding available after supporting our ongoing business operations and our portfolio of product investments.

Free cash flow should not be considered as a substitute measure for, or superior to, net cash flows provided by operating activities, investing activities or financing activities. Therefore, we believe it is important to view free cash flow as a complement to our consolidated statements of cash flows.

In addition, we evaluate our North America Risk Management Solutions based on two metrics: (1) subscription, and non-subscription, and (2) DNBi and non-DNBi. We define subscription as contracts that allow customers unlimited use within predefined ranges, subject to certain conditions. In these instances, we recognize revenue ratably over the term of the contract, which is generally one year and non-subscription as all other revenue streams. We define DNBi as our interactive, customizable online application that offers our customers real time access to our most complete and up-to-date global DUNSRight information, comprehensive monitoring and portfolio analysis and non-DNBi as all other revenue streams. Management believes these measures provide further insight into our performance and growth of our North America Risk Management Solutions revenue.

The adjustments discussed herein to our results as determined under generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (GAAP) are among the primary indicators management uses as a basis for our planning and forecasting of future periods, to allocate resources, to evaluate business performance and, as noted above, for compensation purposes. However, these financial measures (e.g., results before non-core gains and charges and free cash flow) are not prepared in accordance with GAAP, and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for total revenue, operating income, operating income growth, operating margin, net income, tax rate, diluted earnings per share, or net cash provided by operating activities, investing activities and financing activities prepared in accordance with GAAP. In addition, it should be noted that because not all companies calculate these financial measures similarly, or at all, the presentation of these financial measures is not likely to be comparable to measures of other companies.

See Results of Operations below for a discussion of our results reported on a GAAP basis.

#### Overview

As of January 1, 2009, Canada has been moved out of our International segment and into our renamed North America segment (formerly our United States (U.S.) segment). Therefore, on January 1, 2009, we

26

began managing our operations through the following two segments: North America (which consists of the U.S. and Canada) and International (which consists of our operations in Europe, Asia Pacific and Latin America). We have conformed historical amounts to reflect the new segment structure.

The financial statements of our subsidiaries outside of North America reflect a fiscal year ended November 30 to facilitate the timely reporting of our consolidated financial results and financial position.

The following table presents the contribution by segment to core revenue and total revenue:

	For the Years Ended December 31,		
	2009	2008	2007
Core Revenue:			
North America	79%	81%	83%
International	21%	19%	17%
Total Revenue:			
North America	78%	79%	81%
International	22%	21%	19%

The following table presents the contribution by customer solution set to core revenue and total revenue:

	For the Years Ended December 31,		
	2009	2008	2007
Core Revenue by Customer Solution Set:			
Risk Management Solutions	65%	64%	64%
Sales & Marketing Solutions	28%	29%	29%
Internet Solutions	7%	7%	7%
Total Revenue by Customer Solution Set(1):			
Risk Management Solutions	64%	62%	62%
Sales & Marketing Solutions	28%	28%	28%
Internet Solutions	7%	7%	7%

<sup>(1)</sup> Our divested business contributed 1% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009 and 3% of our total revenue for each of the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007.

These customer solution sets are discussed in greater detail in Item 1. Business of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Within our Risk Management Solutions, we monitor the performance of our Traditional products, our Value-Added products and our Supply Management products. Within our Sales & Marketing Solutions, we monitor the performance of our Traditional products and our Value-Added products.

#### **Risk Management Solutions**

Our Traditional Risk Management Solutions include our DNBi Solution and also consist of reports from our database used primarily for making decisions about new credit applications. Our Traditional Risk Management Solutions constituted the following percentages of total Risk Management Solutions Revenue, Total Revenue and Core Revenue:

	For the	Years Ended Decer	nber 31,
	2009	2008	2007
Risk Management Solutions Revenue	75%	74%	74%

Total Revenue	48%	46%	46%
Core Revenue	48%	48%	47%

Our Value-Added Risk Management Solutions generally support automated decision-making and portfolio management through the use of scoring and integrated software solutions. Our Value-Added Risk Management Solutions constituted the following percentages of total Risk Management Solutions Revenue, Total Revenue and Core Revenue:

	For the Y	For the Years Ended December 31,		
	2009	2008	2007	
Risk Management Solutions Revenue	20%	21%	21%	
Total Revenue	12%	13%	13%	
Core Revenue	13%	13%	14%	

Our Supply Management Solutions can help companies better understand the financial risk of their supply chain. Our Supply Management Solutions constituted the following percentages of total Risk Management Solutions Revenue, Total Revenue and Core Revenue:

	For the	For the Years Ended December 31,		
	2009	2008	2007	
Risk Management Solutions Revenue	5%	5%	5%	
Total Revenue	4%	3%	3%	
Core Revenue	4%	3%	3%	

#### Sales & Marketing Solutions

Our Traditional Sales & Marketing Solutions generally consist of marketing lists, labels and customized data files used by our customers in their direct mail and marketing activities. Our Traditional Sales & Marketing Solutions constituted the following percentages of total Sales & Marketing Solutions Revenue, Total Revenue and Core Revenue:

	For the Y	For the Years Ended December 31,			
	2009	2008	2007		
Sales & Marketing Solutions Revenue	40%	40%	41%		
Total Revenue	11%	11%	12%		
Core Revenue	11%	11%	12%		

Our Value-Added Sales & Marketing Solutions generally include decision-making and customer information management solutions. Our Value-Added Sales & Marketing Solutions constituted the following percentages of total Sales & Marketing Solutions Revenue, Total Revenue and Core Revenue:

	For the Y	For the Years Ended December 31,			
	2009	2008	2007		
Sales & Marketing Solutions Revenue	60%	60%	59%		
Total Revenue	17%	17%	16%		
Core Revenue	17%	18%	17%		

### **Our Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates**

In preparing our consolidated financial statements and accounting for the underlying transactions and balances reflected therein, we have applied the significant accounting policies described in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Of those policies, we consider the policies described below to be critical because they are both most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results, and they require management subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

28

#### **Table of Contents**

If actual results in a given period ultimately differ from previous estimates, the actual results could have a material impact on such period.

We have discussed the selection and application of our critical accounting policies and estimates with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors, and the Audit Committee has reviewed the disclosure regarding critical accounting policies and estimates as well as the other sections in this Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Financial Accounting Standards Board ( FASB ) Launches Accounting Standards Codification

In June 2009, the FASB issued FASB Accounting Standards Codification TM ( ASC ) 105-10, Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, or ASC 105-10 (the Codification ). This authoritative guidance establishes the exclusive authoritative reference for GAAP for use in financial statements, except for Securities and Exchange Commission ( SEC ) rules and interpretative releases, which are also authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants. The Codification supersedes all existing non-SEC accounting and reporting standards. All other grandfathered, non-SEC accounting literature not included in the Codification is nonauthoritative.

Following the Codification, the FASB will not issue new standards in the form of Statements, FASB Staff Positions or Emerging Issues Task Force Abstracts. Instead, it will issue Accounting Standards Updates ( ASU ), which will serve to update the Codification, provide background information about the authoritative guidance and provide the basis for conclusions on the changes to the Codification.

GAAP is not intended to be changed as a result of the Codification, but it has changed the way the authoritative guidance is organized and presented. As a result, these changes made an impact on how we reference GAAP in our financial statements and in our accounting policies. Where appropriate, we have conformed, throughout this Form 10-K, references to both the Codification and/or the previous GAAP source reference.

Pension and Postretirement Benefit Obligations

Through June 30, 2007, we offered to substantially all of our U.S. based employees coverage under a defined benefit plan called The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Retirement Account (U.S. Qualified Plan). The defined benefit plan covered active and retired employees including retired individuals from spin-off companies (see Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion of spin-off companies). The benefits to be paid upon retirement are based on a percentage of the employee s annual compensation. The percentage of compensation allocated annually to a retirement account ranged from 3% to 12.5% based on age and service. Amounts allocated under the plan also receive interest credits based on the 30-year Treasury rate or equivalent rate published by the Internal Revenue Service. Pension costs are determined actuarially and funded in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code. We also maintain supplemental and excess plans in the United States (U.S. Non-Qualified Plans) to provide additional retirement benefits to certain key employees of the Company. These plans are unfunded, pay-as-you-go plans. The U.S. Qualified Plan and the U.S. Non-Qualified Plans account for approximately 70% and 15% of our pension obligation, respectively, at December 31, 2009. Effective June 30, 2007, we amended the U.S. Qualified Plan and one of the U.S. Non-Qualified Plans, known as the U.S. Pension Benefit Equalization Plan (the PBEP). Any pension benefit that had been accrued through such date under the two plans was frozen at its then current value and no additional benefits, other than interest on such amounts, will accrue under the U.S. Qualified Plan and the PBEP. Our employees in certain of our international operations are also provided retirement benefits through defined benefit plans, representing the remaining balance of our pension obligations.

We also provide various health care and life insurance benefits for retirees. U.S. based employees, who retire with 10 years of vesting service after age 45, are eligible to receive benefits. Postretirement benefit costs

29

#### **Table of Contents**

and obligations are determined actuarially. Effective March 1, 2010, we will eliminate company-paid life insurance benefits for retirees. In addition, we will only share the minimum necessary amount of subsidy received from the government in any year to maintain actuarial equivalence for as long as possible.

The key assumptions used in the measurement of the pension and postretirement obligations and net periodic pension and postretirement cost are:

Expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets which is based on a target asset allocation as well as expected returns on asset categories of plan investments;

Discount rate which is used to measure the present value of pension plan obligations and postretirement health care obligations. The discount rates are derived using a yield curve approach which matches projected plan benefit payment streams with bond portfolios, reflecting actual liability duration unique to our plans;

Rates of compensation increase and cash balance accumulation/conversion rates which are based on an evaluation of internal plans and external market indicators; and

Health care cost trends which are based on historical cost data, the near-term outlook and an assessment of likely long-term trends. We believe that the assumptions used are appropriate, though changes in these assumptions would affect our pension and other postretirement benefit costs. The factor with the most immediate impact on our consolidated financial statements is a change in the expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets for the U.S. Qualified Plan. For 2010, we will continue to use an expected long-term rate of return of 8.25%. This assumption was 8.25% in each of the years 2009, 2008 and 2007. The 8.25% assumption represents our best estimate of the expected long-term future investment performance of the U.S. Qualified Plan, after considering expectations for future capital market returns and the plan s asset allocation. As of December 31, 2009 the U.S. Qualified Plan was 65% invested in publicly traded equity securities, 30% invested in debt securities and 5% invested in real estate investments. Every one-quarter-percentage-point increase or decrease in the long-term rate of return increases or reduces our annual operating income by approximately \$3 million by increasing or reducing our net periodic pension income.

Changes in the discount rate, rate of compensation increase and cash balance accumulation/conversion rates also have an effect on our annual operating income. Based on the factors noted above, the discount rate is adjusted at each remeasurement date while other assumptions are reviewed annually. For our U.S. plans, every one-quarter-percentage-point increase or decrease in the discount rate reduces or increases our pension cost by approximately \$0.5 million. The discount rate used to determine pension cost for our U.S. pension plans was 6.10%, 6.37% and 5.84% for 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. For 2010, we decreased the discount rate to 5.72% from 6.10% for all our U.S. pension plans.

Differences between the assumptions stated above and actual experience could affect our pension and other postretirement benefit costs. When actual plan experience differs from the assumptions used, actuarial gains or losses arise. These gains and losses are aggregated and amortized generally over the average future service periods or life expectancy of plan participants to the extent that such gains or losses exceed a corridor. The purpose of the corridor is to reduce the volatility caused by the difference between actual experience and the pension-related assumptions noted above, on a plan-by-plan basis. For all of our pension plans, total actuarial losses that have not been recognized in our pension costs as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 were \$887.7 million and \$855.2 million, respectively, of which \$672.2 million and \$682.1 million, respectively, were attributable to the U.S. Qualified Plans, \$105.0 million and \$89.5 million, respectively, were attributable to the U.S. Non-Qualified Plans, and the remainder was attributable to the non-U.S. pension plans. (See discussion in Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.) We expect to recognize a portion of such losses in our 2010 net periodic pension cost of approximately \$12 million, \$6 million and \$3 million, for the U.S. Qualified Plan, U.S. Non-Qualified Plans and non-U.S. plans, respectively, compared to \$15.8 million, \$5.7 million and \$1.0 million, respectively, in 2009. The lower amortization of

#### **Table of Contents**

actuarial loss in 2010 for the U.S. Qualified plan, which will be included in our pension cost in 2010, is primarily due to a change, starting in November 2009 (according to our accounting policy), in amortization period from average future service years of active participants to average life expectancy of all plan participants. The decrease is substantially offset by the impact of a larger unrecognized actuarial loss subject to amortization in 2010. Higher amortization of actuarial loss in 2010 for our U.S. Non-Qualified Plans and non-U.S. plans was primarily due to lower discount rates applied to the plan at December 31, 2009, as well as a larger unrecognized actuarial loss subject to amortization in 2010.

Differences between the expected long-term rate of return assumption and actual experience could affect our net periodic pension cost. For our pension plans, we recorded net pension periodic cost of \$6.0 million, net pension periodic income of \$3.7 million and net pension periodic cost of \$10.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. A major component of the net pension periodic cost is the expected return on plan assets, which was \$115.2 million, \$121.7 million and \$117.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The expected return on plan assets was determined by multiplying the expected long-term rate of return assumption by the market-related value of plan assets. The market-related value of plan assets recognizes asset gains and losses over five years to reduce the effects of short-term market fluctuations on net periodic cost. For our pension plans we recorded: (i) for the year ended December 31, 2009, a total investment gain of \$191.5 million which was comprised of a gain of \$162.4 million in our U.S. Qualified Plan and a gain of \$29.1 million in our non-U.S. plans; (ii) for the year ended December 31, 2008, a total investment loss of \$392.2 million which was comprised of a loss of \$348.1 million in our U.S. Qualified Plan and a loss of \$44.1 million in our non-U.S. plans; and (iii) for the year ended December 31, 2007, a total investment gain of \$105.7 million which was comprised of a gain of \$91.2 million in our U.S. Qualified Plan and a gain of \$14.5 million in our non-U.S. plans. At January 1, 2010, the market-related value of plan assets of our U.S. Qualified Plan and the non-U.S. plans was \$1,267.7 million and \$180.2 million, respectively, compared with the fair value of its plan assets of \$1,045.0 million and \$169.2 million, respectively.

Changes in the funded status of our pension plans could result in fluctuation in our shareholders—equity (deficit). We are required to recognize the funded status of our benefit plans as a liability or an asset, on a plan-by-plan basis with an offsetting adjustment to Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (AOCI), in our shareholders—equity (deficit), net of tax. Accordingly, the amounts recognized in equity represent unrecognized gains/losses and prior service costs. These unrecognized gains/losses and prior service costs will be amortized out of equity (deficit) based on an actuarial calculation each period. Gains/losses and prior service costs that arise during the year are recognized as a component of Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) which is then reflected in AOCI. We recorded a net loss of \$10.4 million and net loss of \$291.1 million in OCI, net of applicable tax, in the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, related to the actuarial gain/loss and prior service cost arising during the period and the amortization of such items. The decreased loss in 2009 was primarily due to the improvement of the funded status for our U.S. Qualified Plan from a deficit of \$155.5 million at December 31, 2008 compared to a deficit of \$121.5 million at December 31, 2009, driven by better asset performance in 2009 compared to a significant asset loss in 2008. The positive impact from better asset performance was partially mitigated by a lower discount rate at December 31, 2009.

For information on pension and postretirement benefit plan contribution requirements, please see Future Liquidity Sources and Uses of Funds Pension Plan and Postretirement Benefit Plan Contribution Requirements. See Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information regarding costs of, and assumptions for, our pension and postretirement benefit obligations and costs.

### Contingencies and Litigation

We establish reserves in connection with legal proceedings, claims and litigation when it is probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount of loss is reasonably estimable. Contingent liabilities are often resolved over long periods of time. Estimating probable losses requires analyses of multiple forecasts that often depend on judgments concerning potential actions by third parties and regulators. In connection with tax proceedings, we

31

#### **Table of Contents**

utilize a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. This is an inherently subjective and complex process, and actual results may differ from our estimates by material amounts. See Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when the following four conditions are met:

Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;

The contract fee is fixed and determinable;

Delivery or performance has occurred; and

Collectibility is reasonably assured.

If at the outset of an arrangement, we determine that collectibility is not reasonably assured, revenue is deferred until the earlier of when collectibility becomes probable or the receipt of payment. If there is uncertainty as to the customer succeptance of our deliverables, revenue is not recognized until the earlier of receipt of customer acceptance or expiration of the acceptance period. If at the outset of an arrangement, we determine that the arrangement fee is not fixed or determinable, revenue is deferred until the arrangement fee becomes estimable, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Our Risk Management Solutions are generally sold under fixed price subscription contracts that allow customers unlimited access to risk information. Revenue on this type of contract is recognized ratably over the term of the contract, which is generally one year.

Risk information is also sold using monthly or annual contracts that allow customers to purchase our risk information up to the contract amount based on an agreed price list. Once the contract amount is fully used, additional risk information can be purchased at per-item prices which may be different than those in the original contract. Revenue on these contracts is recognized on a per-item basis as information is purchased and delivered to the customer. If customers do not use the full amount of their contract and forfeit the unused portion, we recognize the forfeited amount as revenue at contract expiration.

Where a data file of risk information is sold with periodic updates to that information, a portion of the revenue related to the updates is deferred as a liability on the balance sheet and recognized as the updates are delivered, usually on a quarterly or monthly basis over the term of the contract

Revenue related to services, such as monitoring, is recognized ratably over the period of performance.

Sales & Marketing Solutions that provide continuous access to our marketing information and business reference databases may include access or hosting fees which are sold on a subscription basis. Revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the contract, which is typically one year.

Where a data file of marketing information is sold, we recognize revenue upon delivery of the marketing data file to the customer. If the contract provides for periodic updates to that marketing data file, the portion of the revenue related to updates is deferred as a liability on the balance sheet and recognized as the updates are delivered, usually on a quarterly or monthly basis, over the term of the contract.

Internet Solutions represent the results of our Hoover s business, including both the First Research division and the AllBusiness.com division. Hoover s and First Research provide subscription solutions that allow continuous access to our business information databases. Revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the contract, which is generally one year. Any additional solutions purchased are recognized upon delivery to the customer. AllBusiness.com provides online media and e-commerce products that provide advertisers the ability to target small business customers. Revenue is recognized as solutions are delivered to the customer over the contract period.

#### **Table of Contents**

Sales of software that are considered to be more than incidental are recognized in revenue when a non-cancelable license agreement has been signed and the software has been shipped and installed, if required.

Revenue from consulting and training services is recognized as the services are performed.

We have certain solution offerings that are sold as multi-element arrangements. The multiple elements or deliverables may include access to our business information databases, information data files, updates, software and services. To account for each deliverable as a separate unit of accounting, they each must meet all of the following separation criteria:

The delivered item(s) has value to the customer on a stand-alone basis;

There is objective and reliable evidence of fair value of the undelivered item(s); and

If the arrangement includes a general right of return relative to the undelivered item(s), delivery or performance of the undelivered item(s) is considered probable and substantially in the control of the company.

If the deliverable or a group of deliverables meets the separation criteria, the total arrangement consideration is allocated to each unit of accounting based on its relative fair value. The amount of arrangement consideration that is allocated to a delivered unit of accounting is limited to the amount that is not contingent upon the delivery of another unit of accounting.

We obtain vendor specific objective evidence ( VSOE ) of the fair value of a deliverable by monitoring the price at which we sell the deliverable on a standalone basis. Where we are unable to use VSOE, we may use the price at which we or a third party sell a similar product to similarly situated customers on a standalone basis. If we do not have fair value for the delivered items, the contract fee is allocated to the undelivered items based on their fair values and the remaining residual amount, if any, is allocated to the delivered items.

After the arrangement consideration is allocated to each unit of accounting, we apply the appropriate revenue recognition method from those described above for each unit of accounting, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are met. All deliverables that do not meet the separation criteria are combined with an undelivered unit of accounting. We generally recognize revenue for a combined unit of accounting based on the method most appropriate for the last delivered item.

Deferred revenue consists of amounts billed in excess of revenue recognized on sales of our information solutions and generally relates to deferral of subscription revenue. Deferred revenue is included in current liabilities in the balance sheet and is subsequently recognized as revenue in accordance with our revenue recognition policies.

We record revenue on a net basis for those sales where we act as an agent or broker in the transaction.

## **Recently Issued Accounting Standards**

See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for disclosure of the impact that recently issued accounting standards may have on our audited consolidated financial statements.

## **Results of Operations**

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements. They should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related footnotes set forth in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Consolidated Revenue

The following table presents our revenue by segment:

	For the Y	For the Years Ended December 31,		
	2009	2008	2007	
	(A	mounts in millio	ons)	
Revenue:				
North America	\$ 1,309.7	\$ 1,364.2	\$ 1,291.3	
International	355.4	314.4	260.8	
Core Revenue	1,665.1	1,678.6	1,552.1	
Divested Business	21.9	47.7	47.1	
Total Revenue	\$ 1,687.0	\$ 1,726.3	\$ 1,599.2	

The following table presents our revenue by customer solution set:

	2009			
	(Aı	(Amounts in millions)		
Revenue:				
Risk Management Solutions	\$ 1,071.8	\$ 1,070.4	\$ 991.4	
Sales & Marketing Solutions	474.6	483.3	453.2	
Internet Solutions	118.7	124.9	107.5	
Core Revenue	1,665.1	1,678.6	1,552.1	
Divested Business	21.9	47.7	47.1	
Total Revenue	\$ 1,687.0	\$ 1,726.3	\$ 1,599.2	

### Year ended December 31, 2009 vs. Year ended December 31, 2008

Total revenue decreased \$39.3 million, or 2% (1% decrease before the effect of foreign exchange), for the year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2008. The decrease in total revenue was primarily driven by a decrease in total North America revenue of \$54.5 million, or 4% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange) partially offset by an increase in total International revenue of \$15.2 million, or 4% (14% increase before the effect of foreign exchange). Our divestiture of the domestic portion of our Italian operations in the second quarter of 2009 accounted for \$21.9 million and \$47.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Core revenue, which reflects total revenue less revenue from a divested business, decreased \$13.5 million, or 1% (1% increase before the effect of foreign exchange), for the year ended December 31, 2009, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2008. The decrease in core revenue is primarily attributed to:

Lower purchases from our customers due to a weak economy and budgetary pressures. We are working with our customers to reduce the scope of various projects to meet their budget constraints which has slightly improved our retention rates; and

The negative impact of foreign exchange; partially offset by:

Increased revenue as a result of a) our consolidation of our majority owned joint ventures in: i) Dun & Bradstreet Information Services India Private Limited ( D&B India ) completed in the fourth quarter of 2008; ii) HC International, Inc. in China completed in the fourth quarter of 2008; and iii) RoadWay International Limited ( RoadWay ) in China completed in the third quarter of 2009; b) our acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Bisnode s UK operations and a 100% equity interest in Bisnode s

34

#### **Table of Contents**

Irish operations ( ICC ) completed in the third quarter of 2009; and c) our acquisition of Quality Education Data ( QED ) completed in the first quarter of 2009, which in the aggregate, all of the previously mentioned contributed three points of the growth;

Growth in each of our subscription plans from existing customers, including the customers who previously purchased value-added solutions. These subscription plans provide our customers with unlimited use of our Risk Management reports and data; and

Increased revenue from our Asia Pacific market, primarily from our majority owned Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture.

Customer Solution Set

On a customer solution set basis, the \$13.5 million decrease in core revenue reflects:

A \$1.4 million, or less than 1% increase in Risk Management Solutions (2% increase before the effect of foreign exchange). The increase was driven by an increase in International of \$17.8 million, or 7% (18% increase before the effect of foreign exchange), partially offset by a decrease in North America of \$16.4 million, or 2% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange);

An \$8.7 million, or 2% decrease (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange), in Sales & Marketing Solutions. The decrease was driven by a decrease in North America of \$32.8 million, or 8% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange), partially offset by an increase in International of \$24.1 million, or 37% (42% increase before the effect of foreign exchange); and

A \$6.2 million, or 5%, decrease in Internet Solutions (4% decrease before the effect of foreign exchange). The decrease was driven by a decrease in North America of \$5.3 million, or 4% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange) and a decrease in International of \$0.9 million, or 20% (3% decrease before the effect of foreign exchange).

Year ended December 31, 2008 vs. Year ended December 31, 2007

Total revenue increased \$127.1 million, or 8% (7% increase before the effect of foreign exchange), for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2007. The increase in total revenue was primarily driven by an increase in total North America revenue of \$72.9 million, or 6% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange) and an increase in total International revenue of \$54.2 million, or 18% (14% increase before the effect of foreign exchange). Our divestiture of the domestic portion of our Italian operations in the second quarter of 2009 accounted for \$47.7 million and \$47.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Core revenue, which reflects total revenue less revenue from a divested business, increased \$126.5 million, or 8% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange), for the year ended December 31, 2008, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2007. The increase in core revenue is primarily attributed to:

Growth in our subscription plans, due to growth of customers renewing from a subscription plan as well as that associated with conversion from our legacy products to subscription plans from existing customers. These subscription plans provide our customers with unlimited use of our Risk Management reports and data; and

Increased revenue as a result of our acquisitions and our majority owned Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture; partially offset by:

Lower purchases of our legacy products.

35

Customer Solution Set

On a customer solution set basis, the \$126.5 million increase in core revenue reflects:

A \$79.0 million, or 8%, increase in Risk Management Solutions (7% increase before the effect of foreign exchange). The increase was driven by an increase in North America of \$34.6 million, or 4% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange), and an increase in International of \$44.4 million, or 22% (19% increase before the effect of foreign exchange);

A \$30.1 million, or 7% increase (both before and after foreign exchange), in Sales & Marketing Solutions. The increase was driven by an increase in North America of \$20.1 million, or 5% (both before and after foreign exchange), and an increase in International of \$10.0 million, or 19% (17% increase before the effect of foreign exchange); and

A \$17.4 million, or 16% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange), increase in Internet Solutions. The increase was driven by an increase in North America of \$18.2 million, or 18% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange), partially offset by a decrease in International of \$0.8 million, or 15% (13% decrease before the effect of foreign exchange).

\*Consolidated Operating Costs\*

The following table presents our consolidated operating costs and operating income:

	2009			
	(Aı	(Amounts in millions)		
Operating Expenses	\$ 500.3	\$ 480.7	\$ 430.4	
Selling and Administrative Expenses	641.0	686.0	671.5	
Depreciation and Amortization	58.1	58.5	46.6	
Restructuring Charge	23.1	31.4	25.1	
Operating Costs	\$ 1,222.5	\$ 1,256.6	\$ 1,173.6	
Operating Income	\$ 464.5	\$ 469.7	\$ 425.6	

As described above in the section Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations How We Manage Our Business, when we evaluate the performance of our business as a whole, we focus on our operating income (and, therefore, operating costs) before non-core gains and charges, because we do not view these items as reflecting our underlying business operations. We have identified under the caption Non-Core Gains and (Charges) below, such non-core gains and charges that are included in our GAAP results.

#### **Operating Expenses**

#### Year ended December 31, 2009 vs. Year ended December 31, 2008

Operating expenses increased by \$19.6 million, or 4%, for the year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to December 31, 2008. The increase was primarily due to the following:

Increased data acquisition costs and fulfillment costs primarily associated with a) our consolidation of our majority owned joint ventures in: i) D&B India completed in the fourth quarter of 2008; ii) HC International, Inc. in China completed in the fourth quarter of 2009; and iii) RoadWay in China completed in the third quarter of 2009; b) our acquisition of ICC completed in the third quarter

of 2009; and c) our majority owned Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture; and

Increased costs associated with our strategic investments;

36

partially offset by:

The positive impact of foreign exchange; and

Lower costs as a result of our reengineering efforts and decreased variable expenses (e.g., professional fees and travel related expenses).

Year ended December 31, 2008 vs. Year ended December 31, 2007

Operating expenses increased by \$50.3 million, or 12%, for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to December 31, 2007. The increase was primarily due to the following:

Costs associated with investments in connection with our strategy, such as DNBi, our interactive, web-based subscription service, and investments to improve customer satisfaction levels;

Increased costs associated with our acquisitions and our majority owned Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture;

The impact of foreign exchange; and

Increased technology costs arising from obligations under our D&B Worldwide Network agreements; partially offset by:

Lower costs as a result of our reengineering efforts.

#### **Selling and Administrative Expenses**

Year ended December 31, 2009 vs. Year ended December 31, 2008

Selling and administrative expenses decreased \$45.0 million, or 7%, for the year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to December 31, 2008. The decrease was primarily due to the following:

Lower costs as a result of our reengineering efforts (e.g., our Go-To-Market approach for our North America sales organization) and decreased variable expenses (e.g., commissions and bonuses, professional fees, and travel related expenses); and

The positive impact of foreign exchange; partially offset by:

Increased selling expenses primarily associated with a) our consolidation of our majority owned joint ventures in: i) D&B India completed in the fourth quarter of 2008; ii) HC International, Inc. in China completed in the fourth quarter of 2008; and iii)

RoadWay in China completed in the third quarter of 2009; b) our acquisition of ICC completed in the third quarter of 2009; c) our acquisition of QED completed in the first quarter 2009; and d) our majority owned Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture.

Year ended December 31, 2008 vs. Year ended December 31, 2007

Selling and administrative expenses increased \$14.5 million, or 2%, for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to December 31, 2007. The increase was primarily due to the following:

Increased selling expenses primarily related to investments to enhance our strategic capabilities, such as with our acquisitions and our majority owned Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture; and

The impact of foreign exchange; partially offset by:

Lower costs as a result of our reengineering efforts.

37

Matters Impacting Both Operating Expenses and Selling and Administrative Expenses

Pension, Postretirement and 401(k) Plan

For our pension plans globally, we had a net pension periodic cost of \$6.0 million, net pension periodic income of \$3.7 million and net pension periodic cost of \$10.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The fluctuation in the pension cost/income was due to the following:

The discount rates applied to the pension plans were major factors in driving the pension costs to fluctuate from year to year. The higher the discount rate, the lower the pension cost. The discount rate used to measure the pension costs for our U.S. plans for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was 6.10%, 6.37% and 5.84%, respectively.

Actuarial loss amortization included in annual pension expense was also a major factor in driving the pension costs to fluctuate from year-to-year. Actuarial loss amortization was largely impacted by the discount rate and plan experience. The higher the discount rate, the lower the loss amortization. Actuarial loss amortization included in annual pension expense for all global plans was \$22.5 million, \$16.2 million and \$23.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, of which \$21.5 million, \$14.1 million and \$19.7 million were attributable to our U.S. plans for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Higher pension income in 2008 was primarily due to the higher discount rate applied to our U.S. plans and the major International plans, as well as lower actuarial loss amortization included in 2008.

We expect that the net pension cost in 2010 will be approximately \$6 million for all of our global pension plans. Lower discount rates and higher actuarial losses subject to amortization will increase our 2010 pension cost. The discount rates applied to our U.S. plans and major International plan at January 1, 2010, are 38 basis points and 102 basis points lower than 2009, respectively. This increase in 2010 pension cost is substantially offset by the impact of a longer amortization period applied to our U.S. Qualified Plan. Starting in November 2009, the amortization period applied to the unrecognized actuarial gains or losses for our U.S. Qualified Plan has been changed from average future service years of active participants to average life expectancy of all plan participants. The change was the result of almost all the plan participants being deemed inactive.

We had postretirement benefit income of \$1.3 million, \$4.2 million and \$3.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Lower postretirement benefit income in 2009 was primarily due to full amortization of the prior service credit. This prior service credit was related to the 2003 plan amendment to limit our insurance premium contribution. Higher postretirement benefit income in 2008 was primarily due to higher amortization of actuarial gain, which was driven by positive plan experience and changes in assumptions.

We expect postretirement benefit income will be approximately \$3 million in 2010. The increase in income from 2009 to 2010 is primarily due to higher amortization of prior service credit, resulting from a plan amendment which will be effective March 1, 2010, that eliminates the company-paid life insurance benefits for retirees. In addition, we will only share the minimum necessary amount of subsidy received from the government in any year to maintain actuarial equivalence for as long as possible.

We had expense associated with our 401(k) Plan of \$6.9 million, \$19.2 million and \$12.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The decrease in expense in 2009 was due to the amendment of our employer matching provision in the 401(k) Plan effective in February, 2009, to decrease our match formula from 100% to 50% of a team member s contributions and to decrease the maximum match from seven percent (7%) to three percent (3%) of such team member s eligible compensation, subject to certain 401(k) Plan limitations. The increase in expense in 2008 from 2007 was due to the amendment of our matching policy in the 401(k) Plan effective July 1, 2007, to increase our match formula from 50% to 100% of a team member s contributions and to increase the maximum match to seven percent (7%) from six percent (6%), of such team member s eligible compensation, subject to certain 401(k) Plan limitations.

#### **Table of Contents**

Effective in April 2010, we will increase the employer maximum match from three percent (3%) to seven percent (7%) of a team member s eligible compensation, subject to certain 401(k) Plan limitations and we will continue to match 50% of a team member s contributions.

We consider net pension cost and postretirement benefit income to be part of our compensation costs, and, therefore, they are included in operating expenses and in selling and administrative expenses, based upon the classifications of the underlying compensation costs. See the discussion of Our Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates Pension and Postretirement Benefit Obligations, above, and Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Stock-Based Compensation

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, we recognized total stock-based compensation expense of \$22.3 million, \$27.6 million and \$25.9 million, respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, we recognized expense associated with our stock option programs of \$9.5 million, \$11.0 million and \$11.9 million, respectively. The decreases for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, were primarily driven by a decrease in the overall number of employees eligible for stock options.

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, we recognized expense associated with our restricted stock, restricted stock units and restricted stock opportunity programs of \$11.9 million, \$15.6 million and \$13.1 million, respectively. The decrease for the year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to December 31, 2008, was primarily driven by performance-based awards being below target, resulting in lower expense. The increase for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to December 31, 2007, was primarily due to the addition of the 2008 annual grant and special grants awarded in the fourth quarter of 2007.

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, we recognized expense associated with our Employee Stock Purchase Plan ( ESPP ) of \$0.9 million, \$1.0 million and \$0.9 million, respectively.

We consider these costs to be part of our compensation costs and, therefore, they are included in operating expenses and in selling and administrative expenses, based upon the classifications of the underlying compensation costs.

#### **Depreciation and Amortization**

### Year ended December 31, 2009 vs. Year ended December 31, 2008

Depreciation and amortization decreased \$0.4 million, or 1%, for the year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to December 31, 2008. The decrease for the year ended December 31, 2009 was primarily driven by a reassessment of the useful lives of our computer software in conjunction with changes in our technology strategy. We review the estimated remaining useful lives of our computer software and may extend the useful life when events and circumstances indicate the computer software can operate beyond its original or current useful life. Prior to the second quarter of 2009, the useful life of computer software assets was typically three to five years. We now expect the useful life of our back-end and back-office software to be in the range of five to eight years, and we have extended the useful lives accordingly. This reassessment included a review of the major components of our strategy and consideration of the effects of obsolescence, technology, competition and other economic factors on the useful life of these assets. The impact of this change was effective in the second quarter of 2009, and the impact for the year ended December 31, 2009 was a reduction in software amortization expense by approximately \$7 million after-tax (\$0.14 per diluted share).

The decrease was partially offset by an increase in amortization of acquired intangible assets resulting from our acquisitions and our majority owned joint ventures and increased capital costs for revenue generating investments to enhance our strategic capabilities.

#### Year ended December 31, 2008 vs. Year ended December 31, 2007

Depreciation and amortization increased \$11.9 million, or 26%, for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to December 31, 2007. This increase was primarily driven by the increased capital costs for revenue generating investments to enhance our strategic capabilities (e.g., DNBi) and the amortization of acquired intangible assets resulting from our acquisitions and our majority owned joint ventures.

#### **Restructuring Charge**

Restructuring charges have been recorded in accordance with ASC 712-10, Nonretirement Postemployment Benefits, or ASC 712-10, and/or ASC 420-10, Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations, or ASC 420-10, as appropriate.

We record severance costs provided under an ongoing benefit arrangement once they are both probable and estimable in accordance with the provisions of ASC 712-10.

We account for one-time termination benefits, contract terminations, asset write-offs, and/or costs to terminate lease obligations less assumed sublease income in accordance with ASC 420-10, which addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with restructuring activities. Under ASC 420-10, we establish a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity, including severance and lease termination obligations, and other related costs, when the liability is incurred, rather than at the date that we commit to an exit plan. We reassess the expected cost to complete the exit or disposal activities at the end of each reporting period and adjust our remaining estimated liabilities, if necessary.

The determination of when we accrue for severance costs and which standard applies depends on whether the termination benefits are provided under an ongoing arrangement as described in ASC 712-10 or under a one-time benefit arrangement as defined by ASC 420-10. Inherent in the estimation of the costs related to the restructurings are assessments related to the most likely expected outcome of the significant actions to accomplish the exit activities. In determining the charges related to the restructurings, we had to make estimates related to the expenses associated with the restructurings. These estimates may vary significantly from actual costs depending, in part, upon factors that may be beyond our control. We will continue to review the status of our restructuring obligations on a quarterly basis and, if appropriate, record changes to these obligations in current operations based on management s most current estimates.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we recorded a \$23.1 million restructuring charge in connection with Financial Flexibility initiatives. The significant components of these charges included:

Severance and termination costs of \$12.7 million in accordance with the provisions of ASC 712-10 were recorded. Approximately 535 employees are impacted. Of these 535 employees, approximately 365 employees have exited the Company and approximately 170 employees will exit the Company in 2010; and

Lease termination obligations, other costs to consolidate or close facilities and other exit costs of \$10.4 million. During the year ended December 31, 2008, we recorded a \$31.4 million restructuring charge in connection with Financial Flexibility initiatives. The significant components of these charges included:

Severance and termination costs of \$27.5 million in accordance with the provisions of ASC 712-10 were recorded. Approximately 500 employees were impacted; and

Severance and termination costs of \$3.0 million in accordance with the provisions of ASC 420-10 were recorded. Approximately 40 employees were impacted.

Table of Contents 62

40

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we recorded a \$25.1 million restructuring charge in connection with Financial Flexibility initiatives. The significant components of these charges included:

Severance and termination costs of \$22.7 million in accordance with the provisions of ASC 420-10 were recorded. Approximately 315 employees were impacted; and

Lease termination obligations, other costs to consolidate or close facilities and other exit costs of \$2.4 million.

#### Interest Income (Expense) Net

The following table presents our Interest Income (Expense) Net:

	For th	For the Years Ended December 31,		
	2009	2008	2007	
		(Amounts in million	is)	
Interest Income	\$ 3.0	\$ 11.5	\$ 7.3	
Interest Expense	(45.7)	(47.4)	(28.3)	
Interest Income (Expense) Net	\$ (42.7)	\$ (35.9)	\$ (21.0)	

Interest income decreased \$8.5 million, or 74%, for the year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to December 31, 2008, primarily attributable to lower interest rates, as well as lower amounts of invested cash. Interest income increased \$4.2 million, or 57%, for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to December 31, 2007, primarily due to higher interest-bearing investments partially offset by lower interest rates.

Interest expense decreased by \$1.7 million, or 4%, for the year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to December 31, 2008, primarily attributable to lower interest rates partially offset by higher amounts of average debt outstanding. Interest expense increased by \$19.1 million, or 68%, for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to December 31, 2007, primarily attributable to higher amounts of debt outstanding, partially offset by lower interest rates.

#### Other Income (Expense) Net

The following table presents the components of Other Income (Expense) Net:

	For the Years Ended December 31,		
	2009 (Am	2008 nounts in mil	2007 lions)
Settlement of Legacy Tax Matter Arbitration(a)	\$ 4.1	\$ 8.1	\$
Gain on Disposal of Italian Domestic Business(b)	6.5		
Legacy Tax Matter Related to the Settlement of 2003 Tax Year(c)		(7.7)	
Gain Associated with Beijing D&B HuiCong Market Research Co., Ltd Joint Venture(d)		0.6	
Gain Associated with Huaxia/D&B China Joint Venture(e)			5.8
Gain Associated with Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture(f)			13.2
Gain on Sale of Investment(g)			0.9
Miscellaneous Other Income (Expense) Net(h)	0.1	4.1	1.8
Other Income (Expense) Net	\$ 10.7	\$ 5.1	\$ 21.7

(a) During the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, we recognized gains on the receipt of awards related to Legacy Tax Matters.

41

- (b) During the year ended December 31, 2009, we recognized a gain as a result of the divestiture of the domestic portion of our Italian operations. See Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
- (c) During the year ended December 31, 2008, we recognized the reduction of a contractual receipt under the Tax Allocation Agreement between Moody s Corporation and D&B as it relates to the expiration of the statute of limitations.
- (d) During the year ended December 31, 2008, we entered into an agreement with HC International Inc. and established two joint venture companies including Beijing D&B HuiCong Market Research Co., Ltd. and Beijing HuiCong Market Research Co. Ltd., in which D&B has a 60% and 30% ownership interest, respectively. We recognized a gain of \$0.6 million related to the minority owner s share of the difference between the fair value of our contributed business and its carrying amount.
- (e) During the year ended December 31, 2007, we entered into an agreement with Huaxia International Credit Consulting Co. Limited and established our majority owned joint venture to do business as Huaxia/D&B China. We recognized a gain of \$5.8 million related to the minority owner s share of the difference between the fair value of our contributed business and its carrying amount.
- (f) During the year ended December 31, 2007, we entered into an agreement with Tokyo Shoko Research and established our majority owned joint venture or Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture to do business as Dun & Bradstreet TSR Ltd. We recognized a gain of \$13.2 million related to the minority owner s share of the difference between the fair value of our contributed business and its carrying amount.
- (g) During the year ended December 31, 2007, we recorded a gain related to the sale of an investment in Australia.
- (h) Miscellaneous Other Income (Expense) Net decreased for the year ended December 31, 2009, compared to the year ended December 31, 2008, primarily due to the negative impact of foreign exchange. Miscellaneous Other Income (Expense) Net increased for the year ended December 31, 2008, compared to the year ended December 31, 2007, primarily due to the positive impact of foreign exchange.

#### **Provision for Income Taxes**

Effective Tax Rate for the Year Ended December 31, 2007	31.9%
,	
Impact of Tax Reserves for Uncertain Tax Positions	3.2%
Impact of Tax Incurred in Connection with Huaxia/D&B China Joint Venture and Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint	
Venture	(2.5)%
Impact of Liquidation of Dormant International Entities	(3.2)%
Other	(0.2)%
Effective Tax Rate for the Year Ended December 31, 2008	29.2%
Impact of Benefits Derived From Worldwide Legal Entity Simplification	(7.0)%
Impact of Settlement of Global Tax Audits	3.2%
Other	0.5%
Effective Tax Rate for the Year Ended December 31, 2009	25.9%

#### **Discontinued Operations**

On December 27, 2007, we sold our Italian real estate business for \$9.0 million, which was a part of our International segment, and we have reclassified the historical financial results of the Italian real estate business as discontinued operations. We have reflected the results of this

business as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of earnings for all periods presented as set forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We have recorded the resulting gain of \$0.4 million (both pre-tax and after-tax) from the sale in the first quarter of 2008 in the consolidated statement of operations.

#### **Earnings Per Share**

Effective January 1, 2009, we updated our policy to reflect the authoritative guidance in ASC 260-10, which clarifies that instruments granted in share-based payment transactions (e.g., stock-based awards) are participating securities prior to vesting and, therefore, need to be included in the earnings allocation in computing Earnings Per Share (EPS) under the two-class method. The two-class method requires earnings to be allocated between common shareholders and holders of participating securities. All outstanding unvested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends are considered to be a separate class of common stock and should be included in the calculation of basic and diluted EPS. The EPS calculation is applied retrospectively to all prior-period EPS data presented. The impact of the adoption resulted in a four-cent and two-cent decrease to our basic and diluted EPS for each of the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Based on a review of our stock-based awards, we have determined that only our restricted stock awards are deemed participating securities. The weighted average restricted shares outstanding was 0.4 million shares for each of the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

The following table sets forth our EPS:

	For Years Ended December 31,				
	2009 2008		2007		
Basic Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:					
Income from Continuing Operations Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders	\$ 6.06	\$	5.65	\$	4.99
Income from Discontinued Operations Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders			0.02		0.09
Net Income Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders	\$ 6.06	\$	5.67	\$	5.08
Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:					
Income from Continuing Operations Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders	\$ 5.99	\$	5.56	\$	4.88
Income from Discontinued Operations Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders			0.02		0.09
Net Income Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders	\$ 5.99	\$	5.58	\$	4.97

For the year ended December 31, 2009, basic EPS attributable to D&B common shareholders increased 7% compared with the year ended December 31, 2008, primarily due to a 3% increase in net income due to a lower effective tax rate, the benefit derived from the divestiture of the domestic portion of our Italian operations and a 4% reduction in the weighted average number of basic shares outstanding resulting from our total share repurchases. For the year ended December 31, 2009, diluted EPS attributable to D&B common shareholders increased 7% compared with the year ended December 31, 2008, primarily due to a 3% increase in net income due to a lower effective tax rate, the benefit derived from the divestiture of the domestic portion of our Italian operations and a 4% reduction in the weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding resulting from our total share repurchases.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, we repurchased 1.9 million shares of common stock for \$150.0 million under our Board of Directors approved share repurchase programs. In addition, we repurchased 1.0 million shares of common stock for \$75.6 million under our Board of Directors approved share repurchase program to mitigate the dilutive effect of shares issued under our stock incentive plans and ESPP.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, basic EPS attributable to D&B common shareholders increased 12% compared with the year ended December 31, 2007, primarily due to a 4% increase in net income due to increased operating performance, the favorable resolution of global tax audits including the liquidation of dormant International corporations and/or divested entities, settlement of a legacy tax matter arbitration, the release of

#### **Table of Contents**

reserves in 2008 for uncertain tax positions due to the expiration of a statute of limitations and a 7% reduction in the weighted average number of basic shares outstanding resulting from our total share repurchases. For the year ended December 31, 2008, diluted EPS attributable to D&B common shareholders increased 12% compared with the year ended December 31, 2007, primarily due to a 4% increase in net income due to increased operating performance, the favorable resolution of global tax audits including the liquidation of dormant International corporations and/or divested entities, settlement of a legacy tax matter arbitration, the release of reserves in 2008 for uncertain tax positions due to the expiration of a statute of limitations and a 7% reduction in the weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding resulting from our total share repurchases.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, we repurchased 3.5 million shares of common stock for \$299.5 million under our Board of Directors approved share repurchase programs. In addition, we repurchased 0.9 million shares of common stock for \$82.4 million under our Board of Directors approved share repurchase program to mitigate the dilutive effect of shares issued under our stock incentive plans and ESPP.

44

## Non-Core Gains and (Charges)

For internal management purposes, we treat certain gains and charges that are included in Consolidated Operating Costs, Other Income (Expense) Net and Provision for Income Taxes as non-core gains and charges. These non-core gains and charges are summarized in the table below. We exclude non-core gains and charges when evaluating our financial performance because we do not consider these items to reflect our underlying business performance.

	2009	For the Years Ende December 31, 2008 Amounts in million	2007
Non-Core gains and (charges) included in Consolidated Operating Costs:	(-		,
Restructuring Charges	\$ (23.1)	\$ (31.4)	\$ (25.1)
Impaired Intangible Assets	\$ (3.0)	\$	\$
Settlement of International Payroll Tax Matter Related to a Divested Entity	\$	\$	\$ (0.8)
Non-Core gains and (charges) included in Other Income (Expense) Net:			
Effect of Legacy Tax Matters	\$ 1.0	\$ 1.2	\$ 1.6
Gain Associated with Huaxia/D&B China Joint Venture	\$	\$	\$ 5.8
Gain Associated with Beijing D&B HuiCong Market Research Co., Ltd Joint Venture	\$	\$ 0.6	\$
Gain Associated with Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture	\$	\$	\$ 13.2
Net Gain (Loss) on the Sale of Other Investments	\$	\$	\$ 0.9
Tax Reserve true-up for the Settlement of the 2003 tax year, related to the Amortization and	,	· ·	, ,,,
Royalty Expense Deductions transaction	\$	\$ (7.7)	\$
Settlement of Legacy Tax Matter Arbitration	\$ 4.1	\$ 8.1	\$
Gain on Disposal of Italian Domestic Business	\$ 6.5	\$	\$
Non-Core gains and (charges) included in Provision for Income Taxes:			
Tax Reserve true-up for the Settlement of 1997-2002 tax years, primarily related to the			
Amortization of Royalty Expense/Deductions/Royalty Income 1997-2007 transaction	\$	\$	\$ 31.2
Net Gain (Loss) on the Sale of Other Investments	\$	\$	\$ (0.3)
Restructuring Charges	\$ 8.4	\$ 11.2	\$ 9.4
Impaired Intangible Assets	\$ 1.2	\$	\$
Gain Associated with Beijing D&B HuiCong Market Research Co., Ltd Joint Venture	\$	\$ (0.1)	\$
Effect of Legacy Tax Matters	\$ (1.0)	\$ (1.2)	\$ (1.6)
Settlement of International Payroll Tax Matter Related to a Divested Entity	\$	\$	\$ 0.2
Settlement of Legacy Tax Matter Arbitration	\$ (3.1)	\$ (3.1)	\$
Gain Associated with Huaxia/D&B China Joint Venture	\$	\$	\$ (2.9)
Gain Associated with Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture	\$	\$	\$ (8.3)
Impact of revaluing the Net Deferred Tax Assets in the UK as a result of a UK tax law change,			
enacted in Q3 2007, Which Reduces the General UK Tax Rate From 30% to 28%	\$	\$	\$ (2.5)
Tax Reserve True-up for the Settlement of the 2003 tax year, related to the Amortization and			
Royalty Expense Deductions transaction	\$	\$ 15.4	\$
Favorable Resolution of Global Tax Audits including the Liquidation of Dormant International			
Corporations and/or Divested Entities	\$	\$ 22.7	\$
Interest on IRS Deposit	\$	\$ 1.3	\$
Benefits Derived From Worldwide Legal Entity Simplification	\$ 36.2	\$	\$
Gain on Disposal of Italian Domestic Business	\$ 3.5	\$	\$

45

#### **Segment Results**

As of January 1, 2009, Canada has been moved out of our International segment and into our renamed North America segment (formerly our U.S. segment). Therefore, on January 1, 2009, we began managing our operations through the following two segments: North America (which consists of the U.S. and Canada) and International (which consists of our operations in Europe, Asia Pacific and Latin America). We have conformed historical amounts to reflect the new segment structure.

Our results are reported under the following two segments: North America and International. The segments reported below are our segments for which separate financial information is available and upon which operating results are evaluated on a timely basis to assess performance and to allocate resources.

#### North America

North America is our largest segment representing 78%, 79% and 81% of our total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and 79%, 81% and 83% of our core revenue for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

There were no divestitures within this segment during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007. The following table presents our North America total and core revenue by customer solution set and North America operating income for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007:

	For the Years Ended December 31,		
	2009	2008	2007
		(Amounts in mill	ions)
Revenue:			
Risk Management Solutions	\$ 808.	9 \$ 825.3	\$ 790.7
Sales & Marketing Solutions	385.	5 418.3	398.2
Internet Solutions	115.	3 120.6	102.4
North America Total and Core Revenue	\$ 1,309.	7 \$ 1,364.2	\$ 1,291.3
Operating Income	\$ 482.	5 \$ 513.3	\$ 480.8

Year ended December 31, 2009 vs. Year ended December 31, 2008

#### North America Overview

North America total and core revenue decreased \$54.5 million, or 4% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange), for the year ended December 31, 2009, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2008.

North America Customer Solution Sets

On a customer solution set basis, the \$54.5 million decrease in core revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2008, reflects:

Risk Management Solutions

A decrease in Risk Management Solutions of \$16.4 million, or 2% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange).

#### **Table of Contents**

For the year ended December 31, 2009, Traditional Risk Management Solutions, which accounted for 72% of total North America Risk Management Solutions, decreased 3% (2% decrease before the effect of foreign exchange). The decrease was primarily due to:

Lower purchases of our traditional legacy products due to economic and budgetary pressures; partially offset by:

Higher purchases due to a conversion from our legacy products to subscription plans from existing customers including the customers who previously purchased value-added solutions. These subscription plans provide our customers with unlimited use of our Risk Management reports and data. We continue to see high single digit price lifts when existing customers renew and double digit price lifts when customers convert to DNBi. Also, with more than half of our Risk Management Solutions revenue already on DNBi, we have a smaller base available for conversion.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, Value-Added Risk Management Solutions, which accounted for 21% of total North America Risk Management Solutions, decreased 3% (2% decrease before the effect of foreign exchange). The decrease was primarily due to:

Lower purchases of our legacy VAP s products from our customers due to economic and budgetary pressures; partially offset by:

Higher purchases from existing customers of new modules enabled by our DNBi platform. For the year ended December 31, 2009, Supply Management Solutions, which accounted for 7% of total North America Risk Management Solutions, increased 9% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange), on a small base.

Sales & Marketing Solutions

A decrease in Sales & Marketing Solutions of \$32.8 million, or 8% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange). For the year ended December 31, 2009, Traditional Sales & Marketing Solutions, which accounted for 37% of total North America Sales & Marketing Solutions, decreased 12% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange). The decrease was primarily due to:

Lower purchases of our legacy products from our customers due to a weak economy and budgetary pressures. This is largely driven by a secular trend, as customers shift from direct mail activities to digital marketing to reduce costs;

A shift in timing of early renewals (primarily into 2008); partially offset by:

Increased revenue associated with our acquisition of QED completed in the first quarter of 2009, which contributed five points of the growth.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, Value-Added Sales & Marketing Solutions, which accounted for 63% of total North America Sales & Marketing Solutions, decreased 5% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange). The decrease was primarily due to:

Lower purchases of our legacy products from our customers due to economic pressures. We continue to have consistent customer retention but the dollar spend per customer has declined; and

A shift in timing of early renewals (primarily into 2008);

47

partially	v offse	et by:
pariari	, 0,,,50	Ji Uy.

Higher purchases from certain of our customers due to our providing more value through bundled offerings. *Internet Solutions* 

A decrease in Internet Solutions of \$5.3 million, or 4% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange), as a result of a decline in renewal sales of our subscription plans triggered by a reduction in the budgets of our customers and a decline in advertising revenue partially offset by a benefit from one large customer deal.

The lower demand in 2009 will impact our 2010 financial results, and, as such, revenue will remain weak through the first half of the year. We expect a gradual recovery as 2010 unfolds. For 2010, we expect revenue in North America to be slightly better than 2009. We expect the first quarter revenue decline for North America to be similar to our fourth quarter 2009 and then show a gradual improvement in trends over the course of the year as a result of:

- 1) Improving upfront customer commitment trends;
- 2) Greater new customer acquisition due to our new Go-To-Market strategy; and
- 3) The benefit of our product investments we made in 2009.

We expect our Risk Management Solutions revenue results in the first half of 2010 to continue to feel the impact of lower 2009 up-front demand for our subscription products. Specifically, we expect the Risk Management Solutions rate of decline to get slightly worse in the first quarter of 2010 than it was in the fourth quarter of 2009, before gradually improving over the rest of 2010 as our new customer initiatives gain traction.

In addition, since our Internet Solutions business is primarily a subscription business, the results reflect our weak up-front demand in sales earlier in 2009. As a result, we expect these trends to continue to be weak in the first half of 2010, before stabilizing in the second half of 2010.

North America Operating Income

North America operating income for the year ended December 31, 2009 was \$482.5 million, compared to \$513.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, a decrease of \$30.8 million, or 6%. The decrease in operating income was primarily attributable to:

A decrease in North America revenue;

Increased costs associated with our strategic investments; and

An increase in expenses primarily associated with the acquisition of QED; partially offset by:

Lower costs as a result of our reengineering efforts and decreased variable expenses (e.g., commissions, bonuses and travel related expenses).

Year ended December 31, 2008 vs. Year ended December 31, 2007

## North America Overview

North America total and core revenue increased \$72.9 million, or 6% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange), for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2007. The increase reflects growth in all of our customer solution sets.

48

#### **Table of Contents**

North America Customer Solution Sets

On a customer solution set basis, the \$72.9 million increase in total and core revenue for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2007, reflects:

Risk Management Solutions

An increase in Risk Management Solutions of \$34.6 million, or 4% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange). For the year ended December 31, 2008, Traditional Risk Management Solutions, which accounted for 73% of total North America Risk Management Solutions, increased 4% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange). The primary drivers of this growth were:

Growth in our subscription plans, due to growth of customers renewing from a subscription plan as well as our existing customers converting from our legacy products to subscription plans. These subscription plans provide our customers with unlimited use of our Risk Management reports and data; partially offset by:

Lower purchases of our legacy products by our small customers.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, Value-Added Risk Management Solutions, which accounted for 21% of total North America Risk Management Solutions, increased 2% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange). The primary drivers of this growth were:

Higher purchases from existing customers of new modules enabled by our DNBi platform; partially offset by:

A shift in product mix to our Preferred Pricing Agreement with DNBi subscription plans (as noted above). For the year ended December 31, 2008, Supply Management Solutions, which accounted for 6% of total North America Risk Management Solutions, increased 11% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange), on a small base.

Sales & Marketing Solutions

An increase in Sales & Marketing Solutions of \$20.1 million, or 5% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange). For the year ended December 31, 2008, Traditional Sales & Marketing Solutions, which accounted for 39% of total North America Sales & Marketing Solutions, increased 4% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange). The increase was primarily due to:

Existing customers increasing their annual sales commitment and changing the structure from monthly to upfront annually; and

Shift in timing of renewals (primarily from the first quarter of 2009); partially offset by:

Lower purchases of our legacy products.

49

#### **Table of Contents**

For the year ended December 31, 2008, Value-Added Sales & Marketing Solutions, which accounted for 61% of total North America Sales & Marketing Solutions, increased 6% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange). The increase was primarily due to:

Increased purchases from existing customers; and

Increased revenue associated with our acquisition of Purisma completed in the fourth quarter of 2007; partially offset by:

A slow down in purchases in the fourth quarter of 2008 as a result of the weakening economy, pressure on customer budgets and our execution in the marketplace.

Internet Solutions

An increase in Internet Solutions of \$18.2 million, or 18% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange). The increase was due to continued growth in subscription revenue in prior quarters and the AllBusiness.com acquisition completed in the fourth quarter of 2007.

North America Operating Income

North America operating income for the year ended December 31, 2008 was \$513.3 million, compared to \$480.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, an increase of \$32.5 million, or 7%. The increase in operating income was primarily attributed to:

An increase in North America revenue; partially offset by:

Increased costs associated with our acquisitions; and

Increased costs associated with investments to enhance our strategic capabilities.

#### International

International represented 22%, 21% and 19% of our total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

On May 29, 2009, we completed the sale of substantially all the assets and liabilities of the domestic portion of our Italian operations. This sale has been classified as a Divestiture. See Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further detail. Our divested business contributed 1% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009 and 3% of our total revenue for each of the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007.

International represented 21%, 19% and 17% of our core revenue for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The following table presents our International revenue by customer solution set and International operating income for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

50

Additionally, this table reconciles the non-GAAP measure of core revenue to the GAAP measure of total revenue by customer solution set.

	For the	For the Years Ended December 31,				
	2009	2008	2007			
	(	(Amounts in millions)				
Revenue:						
Risk Management Solutions	\$ 262.9	\$ 245.1	\$ 200.7			
Sales & Marketing Solutions	89.1	65.0	55.0			
Internet Solutions	3.4	4.3	5.1			
International Core Revenue	355.4	314.4	260.8			
Divested Businesses	21.9	47.7	47.1			
International Total Revenue	\$ 377.3	\$ 362.1	\$ 307.9			
Operating Income	\$ 81.1	\$ 70.9	\$ 54.2			

Year ended December 31, 2009 vs. Year ended December 31, 2008

#### International Overview

International total revenue increased \$15.2 million, or 4% (14% increase before the effect of foreign exchange), for the year ended December 31, 2009, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2008, reflecting an increase of \$41.0 million, or 13% (23% increase before the effect of foreign exchange) in core revenue. Our divestiture of the domestic portion of our Italian operations in the second quarter of 2009 accounted for \$21.9 million and \$47.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The increase in core revenue was primarily due to:

Increased revenue as a result of a) our consolidation of our majority owned joint ventures in: i) D&B India completed in the fourth quarter of 2008; ii) HC International, Inc. in China completed in the fourth quarter of 2008; and iii) RoadWay in China completed in the third quarter of 2009; and b) the acquisition of ICC completed in the third quarter of 2009, which in the aggregate, all the previously mentioned contributed fourteen points of the growth;

Increased revenue from our Asia Pacific market primarily from our majority owned Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture;

Increased revenue from a) providing increased cross-border data from our operations to members of our D&B Worldwide Network attributable to fulfillment services and product usage; b) our commercial agreement to provide global data to our Italian customers entered into in connection with our divestiture of the domestic portion of our Italian operations; and c) our focus on investments in data quality; and

Growth in our subscription plans in certain of our European markets for existing customers who are willing to increase the level of business they do with us; partially offset by:

The negative impact of foreign exchange.

International Customer Solution Sets

On a customer solution set basis, the \$41.0 million increase in International core revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2008, reflects:

Risk Management Solutions

An increase in Risk Management Solutions of \$17.8 million, or 7% (18% increase before the effect of foreign exchange).

51

#### **Table of Contents**

For the year ended December 31, 2009, Traditional Risk Management Solutions, which accounted for 84% of International Risk Management Solutions, increased 12% (22% increase before the effect of foreign exchange). The increase in Traditional Risk Management solutions was primarily due to:

Increased revenue as a result of a) our consolidation of our majority owned joint venture in D&B India completed in the fourth quarter of 2008; and b) the acquisition of ICC completed in the third quarter of 2009, which in the aggregate, all the previously mentioned contributed nine points of the growth;

Increased revenue from our Asia Pacific market primarily from our majority owned Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture;

Growth in our subscription plans in certain of our European markets for existing customers who are willing to increase the level of business they do with us; and

Increased revenue from a) providing cross-border data from our operations to members of our D&B Worldwide Network attributable to fulfillment services and product usage; and b) our commercial agreement to provide global data to our Italian customers entered into in connection with our divestiture of the domestic portion of our Italian operations; partially offset by:

The negative impact of foreign exchange.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, Value-Added Risk Management Solutions, which accounted for 15% of International Risk Management Solutions, decreased 12% (1% decrease before the effect of foreign exchange) primarily due to:

The negative impact of foreign exchange; and

Lower purchases in our UK market from our customers due to economic and budgetary pressures; partially offset by:

Increased revenue from members of our D&B Worldwide Network, primarily related to our commercial agreement to provide global data to our Italian customers entered into in connection with our divestiture of the domestic portion of our Italian operations; and

Higher purchases from existing customers in certain of our Asia Pacific markets. For the year ended December 31, 2009, Supply Management Solutions, which accounted for 1% of International Risk Management Solutions, increased 14% (28% increase before the effect of foreign exchange) on a small base.

Sales & Marketing Solutions

An increase in Sales & Marketing Solutions of \$24.1 million, or 37% (42% increase before the effect of foreign exchange). For the year ended December 31, 2009, Traditional Sales & Marketing Solutions, which accounted for 53% of International Sales & Marketing Solutions, increased 62% (84% increase before the effect of foreign exchange). This increase was primarily due to increased revenue as a result of our consolidation of our majority owned joint ventures in: i) D&B India completed in the fourth quarter of 2008; ii) HC International, Inc. in China completed in the fourth quarter of 2008; and iii) RoadWay in China completed in the third quarter of 2009;

partially	offset	by:
-----------	--------	-----

The negative impact of foreign exchange.

52

#### **Table of Contents**

For the year ended December 31, 2009, Value-Added Sales & Marketing Solutions, which accounted for 47% of International Sales & Marketing Solutions, increased 17% (14% increase before the effect of foreign exchange). The increase was primarily due to increased revenue from our Asia Pacific market primarily from our majority owned Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture and the positive impact of foreign exchange.

Internet Solutions

A decrease in Internet Solutions of \$0.9 million, or 20% (3% decrease before the effect of foreign exchange), on a small base. *International Operating Income* 

International operating income for the year ended December 31, 2009 was \$81.1 million, compared to \$70.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, an increase of \$10.2 million, or 14%, primarily due to:

An increase in core revenue;

Lower costs as a result of our divestiture of the domestic portion of our Italian operations; and

Lower costs as a result of our reengineering efforts; partially offset by:

Increased data acquisition costs and fulfillment costs primarily associated with a) our consolidation of our majority owned joint ventures in: i) D&B India completed in the fourth quarter of 2008; ii) HC International, Inc. in China completed in the fourth quarter of 2008; and iii) RoadWay in China completed in the third quarter of 2009; b) our acquisition of ICC completed in the third quarter of 2009; c) our Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture; and d) increased costs in certain of our European markets;

Higher variable selling expenses related to a) increased revenue (e.g., commissions, bonus, etc.); b) our consolidation of our majority owned joint ventures in: i) D&B India completed in the fourth quarter of 2008; ii) HC International, Inc. in China completed in the fourth quarter of 2008; iii) RoadWay in China completed in the third quarter of 2009; c) the acquisition of ICC completed in the third quarter of 2009; and d) our Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture;

The negative impact of foreign exchange; and

Increased investments in our UK market to maintain our UK data coverage and quality.

Year ended December 31, 2008 vs. Year ended December 31, 2007

#### International Overview

International total revenue increased \$54.2 million, or 18% (14% increase before the effect of foreign exchange), for the year ended December 31, 2008, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2007, reflecting an increase of \$53.6 million, or 21% (18% increase before the effect of foreign exchange) in core revenue. Our divestiture of the domestic portion of our Italian operations in the second quarter of 2009 accounted for \$47.7 million and \$47.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The increase in core revenue was primarily due to:

Increased revenue as a result of the establishment of our Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture completed in the fourth quarter of 2007;

The positive impact of foreign exchange; and

Growth in our subscription plans in certain of our International markets for existing customers who are willing to increase the level of business they do with us.

53

#### **Table of Contents**

International Customer Solution Sets

On a customer solution set basis, the \$53.6 million increase in International core revenue for the year ended December 31, 2008, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2007, reflects:

Risk Management Solutions

An increase in Risk Management Solutions of \$44.4 million, or 22% (19% increase before the effect of foreign exchange). For the year ended December 31, 2008, Traditional Risk Management Solutions, which accounted for 80% of International Risk Management Solutions, increased 24% (21% increase before the effect of foreign exchange). The increase in Traditional Risk Management Solutions is primarily due to:

Increased revenue as a result of the establishment of our Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture completed in the fourth quarter of 2007;

The positive impact of foreign exchange;

Growth in our subscription plans in certain of our International markets for existing customers who are willing to increase the level of business they do with us, including customers who previously purchased value-added solutions on a non-subscription basis; and

Growth from purchases from our D&B Worldwide Network for fulfillment services and product usage. For the year ended December 31, 2008, Value-Added Risk Management Solutions, which accounted for 18% of International Risk Management Solutions, increased 15% (both before and after the effect of foreign exchange), primarily due to:

Higher project-oriented business in our UK market;

Price increases in our European markets in the second half of the 2008 fiscal year; and

Impact of recognition of deferred revenue from prior quarter sales in our Benelux market; partially offset by:

A shift in product mix to our subscription plans (as noted above).

For the year ended December 31, 2008, Supply Management Solutions, which accounted for 2% of International Risk Management Solutions, decreased 15% (16% decrease before the effect of foreign exchange) on a small base.

Sales & Marketing Solutions

Sales & Marketing Solutions increased \$10.0 million, or 19% (17% increase before the effect of foreign exchange). For the year ended December 31, 2008, Traditional Sales & Marketing Solutions, which accounted for 44% of International Sales & Marketing Solutions, decreased 7% (3% decrease before the effect of foreign exchange). This was primarily attributed to lower revenue in certain of our International markets, resulting from an increasingly competitive marketplace and economic pressures.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, Value-Added Sales & Marketing Solutions, which accounted for 56% of International Sales & Marketing Solutions, increased 51% (44% increase before the effect of foreign exchange). The increase was primarily due to:

Increased revenue as a result of the establishment of our Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture completed in the fourth quarter of 2007;

54

#### **Table of Contents**

The positive impact of foreign exchange; and

Price increases in our European markets in the second half of the 2008 fiscal year. *Internet Solutions* 

A decrease in Internet Solutions of \$0.8 million, or 15% (13% decrease before the effect of foreign exchange), on a small base. Operating Income

International operating income for the year ended December 31, 2008 was \$70.9 million, compared to \$54.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, an increase of \$16.7 million, or 31%, primarily due to:

An increase in core revenue;

Lower costs as a result of our reengineering efforts; and

The impact of foreign exchange; partially offset by:

Increased data acquisition costs and costs associated with our Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture;

Investment in data purchases, new products, product enhancements and fulfillment services; and

Higher variable selling expenses related to increased revenue (e.g., commissions, bonus, etc.).

#### Market Risk

We are exposed to the impact of interest rate changes, foreign currency fluctuations and changes in the market value of certain of our investments.

We employ established policies and procedures to manage our exposure to changes in interest rates and foreign currencies. We use foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge short-term foreign currency denominated loans, investments and certain third-party and intercompany transactions. From time-to-time, we use foreign exchange option contracts to reduce our International earnings exposure to adverse changes in foreign exchange rates. In addition, from time-to-time, we use interest rate derivatives to hedge a portion of the interest rate exposure on our outstanding debt or in anticipation of future debt issuance, as discussed under Interest Rate Risk Management below.

A discussion of our accounting policies for financial instruments is included in the summary of significant accounting policies in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and further disclosure relating to financial instruments is included in Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Interest Rate Risk Management

In January 2009 and December 2008, we entered into interest rate swap agreements with aggregate notional amounts of \$25 million and \$75 million, respectively, and designated these swaps as cash flow hedges against variability in cash flows related to our bank revolving credit

facility. These transactions were accounted for as cash flow hedges and, as such, changes in fair value of the hedges are recorded in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income ( AOCI ). At December 31, 2009, the balance of net derivative losses associated with these swaps included in AOCI was approximately \$0.8 million.

55

#### **Table of Contents**

In January 2008, we entered into interest rate derivative transactions with an aggregate notional amount of \$400 million. The objective of these hedges was to mitigate the variability of future cash flows from market changes in Treasury rates in the anticipation of the April 2008 debt issuance. These transactions were accounted for as cash flow hedges and, as such, changes in fair value of the hedges that took place through the date of debt issuance were recorded in AOCI. In connection with the issuance of the senior notes in April 2008 with a face value of \$400 million that mature on April 1, 2013, bearing interest at an annual rate of 6.00%, payable semi-annually (the 2013 notes), these interest rate derivative transactions were executed, resulting in a payment of \$8.5 million at the date of termination. The payments are recorded in AOCI, and will be amortized over the life of the 2013 notes.

In February 2006 and September 2005, we entered into interest rate derivative transactions with aggregate notional amounts of \$100 million and \$200 million, respectively. The objective of these hedges was to mitigate the variability of future cash flows from market changes in Treasury rates in the anticipation of the below referenced debt issuance. These transactions were accounted for as cash flow hedges, and as such, changes in fair value of the hedges that took place through the date of debt issuance were recorded in AOCI. In connection with the issuance of the senior notes (the 2011 notes), these interest rate derivative transactions were executed, resulting in proceeds of approximately \$5.0 million at the date of termination. The proceeds are recorded in AOCI and will be amortized over the life of the 2011 notes.

At December 31, 2006, we had a \$300 million bank revolving credit facility available at prevailing short-term interest rates, which we terminated on April 19, 2007, and then entered into a new \$500 million, five-year bank revolving credit facility, which expires in April 2012. On January 25, 2008, we exercised a \$150 million expansion feature on our \$500 million credit facility expanding the total facility to \$650 million. Borrowings under the \$650 million credit facility are available at prevailing short-term interest rates. At December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, we had \$259.4 million and \$203.4 million of floating-rate debt outstanding under the facility, respectively.

A 100 basis point increase/decrease in the weighted average interest rate on our outstanding variable rate debt at December 31, 2009, would result in an incremental increase/decrease in annual interest expense of approximately \$2 million.

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

We have numerous offices in various countries outside North America and conduct operations in various countries through minority equity investments and strategic relationships with local providers. Our International operations generated approximately 22% and 21% of our total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Approximately 38% and 34% of our assets as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, were located outside of North America.

Our objective in managing exposure to foreign currency fluctuations is to reduce the volatility caused by foreign exchange rate changes on the earnings, cash flows and financial position of our International operations. We follow a policy of hedging balance sheet positions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency applicable to each of our various subsidiaries. In addition, we are subject to foreign exchange risk associated with our International earnings and investments.

We use short-term, foreign exchange forward and option contracts to implement our hedging strategies. Typically, these contracts have maturities of twelve months or less. These contracts are denominated primarily in the British pound sterling, the Euro and Canadian dollar. The gains and losses on the forward contracts associated with the balance sheet positions hedge are recorded in Other Income (Expense) Net in our consolidated financial statements and are essentially offset by the gains and losses on the underlying foreign currency transactions.

56

#### **Table of Contents**

As in prior years, we have hedged substantially all balance sheet positions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency applicable to each of our various subsidiaries with short-term forward foreign exchange contracts. In addition, from time-to-time, we use foreign exchange option contracts to hedge certain foreign earnings and foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge certain net investment positions. The underlying transactions and the corresponding forward exchange and option contracts are marked-to-market at the end of each quarter and are reflected within our consolidated financial statements.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, we did not have any option contracts outstanding. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, we had a notional amount of approximately \$271.0 million and \$254.5 million, respectively, of foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding that offset foreign currency denominated loans. Realized gains and losses associated with these contracts were \$24.9 million and \$13.6 million, respectively, at December 31, 2009; \$16.2 million and \$41.8 million, respectively, at December 31, 2008; and \$0.4 million and \$0.4 million, respectively, at December 31, 2007. Unrealized gains and losses associated with these contracts were \$0.6 million and \$0.2 million, respectively, at December 31, 2009; \$0.4 million and \$2.8 million, respectively, at December 31, 2008; and \$0.4 million and \$0.1 million, respectively, at December 31, 2007.

If exchange rates were to increase on average 10% from year-end levels, without the benefit of having hedging activities, the unrealized loss would be approximately \$10 million. If exchange rates on average were to decrease 10% from year-end levels, without the benefit of having hedging activities, the unrealized gain would be approximately \$8 million. However, the estimated potential gain and loss on these contracts is expected to be substantially offset by changes in the dollar value of the underlying transactions.

#### **Liquidity and Financial Position**

In connection with our focus on delivering Total Shareholder Return, we will remain disciplined in the use of our shareholders cash, maintaining three key priorities for the use of this cash:

First, making ongoing investments in the business to drive growth;

Second, investing in acquisitions that we believe will be value-accretive to enhance our capabilities and accelerate our growth; and

Third, continuing to return cash to shareholders.

We believe that cash provided by operating activities, supplemented as needed with available financing arrangements, is sufficient to meet our short-term needs (twelve months or less), including restructuring charges, transition costs, contractual obligations and contingencies (see Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K), excluding the legal matters identified in such note for which exposures cannot be estimated or are not probable. In addition, we believe that our ability to readily access the bank and capital markets for incremental financing needs will enable us to meet our continued focus on Total Shareholder Return. We have the ability to access the short-term borrowings market from time-to-time to fund working capital needs, acquisitions and share repurchases. Such borrowings would be supported by our credit facility, when needed.

The unprecedented disruption in the economic environment has had a significant adverse impact on a number of commercial and financial institutions. At this point in time our liquidity has not been impacted by the credit environment and management does not expect that it will be materially impacted in the near-future. Management continues to closely monitor our liquidity, the credit markets and our financial counterparties. However, management cannot predict with any certainty the impact to us of any further disruption in the credit environment.

The following discussions are on a continuing operations basis and therefore exclude the results of the Italian real estate business. See Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Cash Provided by Operating Activities from Continuing Operations

Net cash provided by operating activities was \$369.5 million, \$433.9 million and \$384.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Year ended December 31, 2009 vs. Year ended December 31, 2008

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased by \$64.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 compared to the year ended December 31, 2008. This decrease was primarily driven by:

Timing of payments of accounts payable and accrued liabilities (e.g., investments, data purchases, etc.);

An increase in net tax payments;

An increase in restructuring payments associated with our Financial Flexibility initiatives; and

Lower collections; partially offset by:

Increased net income of our underlying business excluding the impact of non-cash gains and losses.

Year ended December 31, 2008 vs. Year ended December 31, 2007

Net cash provided by operating activities increased by \$49.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 compared to the year ended December 31, 2007. This increase was primarily driven by:

Increased net income of our underlying business excluding the impact of non-cash gains and losses;

A decrease in restructuring payments associated with our Financial Flexibility initiatives; and

Increased collections; partially offset by:

An increase in both tax payments and interest expense payments.

Cash (Used in) Provided by Investing Activities from Continuing Operations

Net cash used in investing activities was \$120.7 million, \$154.5 million and \$216.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Year ended December 31, 2009 vs. Year ended December 31, 2008

Net cash used in investing activities was \$120.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, as compared to cash used in investing activities of \$154.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. The \$33.8 million decrease primarily reflects the following activities:

Cash settlements of our foreign currency contracts for our hedged transactions resulted in cash inflows of \$11.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to cash outflows of \$25.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2008; partially offset by:

A net increase in additions to computer software and other intangibles and capital expenditures, which was primarily used to fund software development, product and platform enhancements across all three of our solution sets. Capital expenditures were approximately 4% of revenue in 2009 and we expect them to be approximately 5% of revenue in 2010; and

58

During the year ended December 31, 2009, in connection with our initiatives to drive long-term growth, we spent \$74.6 million on acquisitions/majority-owned joint ventures and other investments, net of cash acquired, as compared to \$69.2 million, net of cash acquired, during the year ended December 31, 2008. See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information.

Year ended December 31, 2008 vs. Year ended December 31, 2007

Net cash used in investing activities was \$154.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, as compared to cash used in investing activities of \$216.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The \$61.9 million decrease primarily reflects the following activities:

During the year ended December 31, 2008, in connection with our initiatives to drive long-term growth, we spent \$69.2 million on acquisitions/majority-owned joint ventures and other investments, net of cash acquired, as compared to \$146.5 million, net of cash acquired, during the year ended December 31, 2007. See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information;

A decrease in capital expenditures and additions to computer software and other intangibles, which was primarily used to fund software development, product and platform enhancements across all three of our solution sets. The decrease of \$12.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to December 31, 2007 was primarily driven by a longer software product development cycle in 2008 versus 2007. The decrease in capital expenditures is related to approximately \$6.1 million of furniture and equipment primarily related to our Center Valley, Pennsylvania facility, which was included in accounts payable on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2006, and was paid for in the year ended December 31, 2007; and

During the year ended December 31, 2008, we received approximately \$9.0 million in cash from the sale of our Italian real estate business on December 27, 2007;

partially offset by:

Cash settlements of our foreign currency contracts for our hedged transactions resulted in cash outflows of \$25.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to cash outflows of \$0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2007.

#### Cash Used in Financing Activities from Continuing Operations

Net cash used in financing activities was \$213.1 million, \$242.5 million and \$143.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. As set forth below for all these years, these changes primarily relate to contractual obligations, share repurchases and dividends.

### Contractual Obligations

Debt

In April 2008, we issued notes with a face value of \$400 million that mature on April 1, 2013, bearing interest at a fixed annual rate of 6.00%, payable semi-annually. The proceeds from this issuance were used to repay indebtedness under our credit facility.

On January 30, 2008, we entered into interest rate derivative transactions with an aggregate notional amount of \$400 million. The objective of these hedges was to mitigate the variability of future cash flows from market changes in Treasury rates in anticipation of the issuance of the 2013 notes. These transactions were accounted for as cash flow hedges and, as such, changes in fair value of the hedges that took place through the date of the issuance of the 2013 notes were recorded in AOCI. In connection with the issuance of the 2013 notes, these interest rate derivative transactions were executed, resulting in a payment of \$8.5 million at the date of termination. The payments are recorded in AOCI, and are being amortized over the life of the 2013 notes.

59

#### Credit Facility

At December 31, 2007, we had a \$500 million, five-year bank revolving credit facility, which expires in April 2012. Borrowings under the \$500 million credit facility are available at prevailing short-term interest rates. On January 25, 2008, we exercised a \$150 million expansion feature on our \$500 million credit facility expanding the total facility to \$650 million. We had \$259.4 million and \$203.4 million of borrowings outstanding under the \$650 million credit facility at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. At December 31, 2007, we had \$425.3 million of borrowings outstanding under the \$500 million credit facility. We borrowed under these facilities from time-to-time during the year ended December 31, 2009 to fund our share repurchases, acquisition strategy and working capital needs.

#### Share Repurchases

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we repurchased 2.9 million shares of common stock for \$225.6 million under our share repurchase programs. The share repurchases are comprised of the following programs:

In February 2009, our Board of Directors approved a \$200 million share repurchase program which commenced in December 2009. During the year ended December 31, 2009, we repurchased 0.2 million shares of common stock for \$22.7 million under this share repurchase program. We anticipate that this program will be completed by December 2011.

In December 2007, our Board of Directors approved a \$400 million, two-year share repurchase program which commenced in February 2008. During the year ended December 31, 2009, we repurchased 1.7 million shares of common stock for \$127.3 million under this share repurchase program. This program was completed in December 2009; and

In August 2006, our Board of Directors approved a four-year, five million share repurchase program to mitigate the dilutive effect of the shares issued under our stock incentive plans and ESPP. We repurchased 1.0 million shares of common stock for \$75.6 million under this program during the year ended December 31, 2009. This program expires in August 2010. We anticipate that this program will be completed prior to maturity in August 2010.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, we repurchased 4.4 million shares of common stock for \$381.9 million under our share repurchase programs. The share repurchases are comprised of the following programs:

In December 2007, our Board of Directors approved a \$400 million, two-year share repurchase program, which commenced in February 2008. We repurchased 3.2 million shares of common stock for \$272.7 million under this share repurchase program during the year ended December 31, 2008;

In May 2007, our Board of Directors approved a \$200 million, one-year share repurchase program, which commenced in July 2007. We repurchased 0.3 million shares of common stock for \$26.8 million under this repurchase program during the year ended December 31, 2008. This program was completed in February 2008; and

In August 2006, our Board of Directors approved a four-year, five million share repurchase program to mitigate the dilutive effect of the shares issued under our stock incentive plans and ESPP. We repurchased 0.9 million shares of common stock for \$82.4 million under this program during the year ended December 31, 2008. This program expires in August 2010.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we repurchased 4.5 million shares of common stock for \$408.5 million under our share repurchase programs. The share repurchases are comprised of the following programs:

In May 2007, our Board of Directors approved a \$200 million, one-year share repurchase program, which began in July 2007 upon the completion of the then existing \$200 million program. We purchased 1.9 million shares of common stock for \$173.2 million under the new \$200 million program during the year ended December 31, 2007. This program was completed in February 2008;

60

In August 2006, our Board of Directors approved a \$200 million, one-year share repurchase program which began in October 2006. We repurchased 1.4 million shares of common stock for \$125.0 million under this program during the year ended December 31, 2007. This program was completed in July 2007; and

In August 2006, our Board of Directors approved a four-year, five million share repurchase program to mitigate the dilutive effect of the shares issued under our stock incentive plans and ESPP. We repurchased 1.2 million shares of common stock for \$110.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2007. This program expires in August 2010.

#### Dividends

The total amount of dividends paid during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was \$71.5 million, \$65.6 million and \$58.4 million, respectively.

#### Future Liquidity Sources and Uses of Funds

Contractual Cash Obligations

The following table quantifies, as of December 31, 2009, our contractual obligations that will require the use of cash in the future.

Contractual Obligations <sup>(a)</sup>	Total	2010	2011	2012 (Amounts	2013 in millions	2014 s)	The	reafter	All Other
Long-Term Debt(1)	\$ 1,064.2	\$ 43.5	\$ 329.3	\$ 284.6	\$ 406.2	\$ 0.1	\$	0.5	\$
Operating Leases(2)	\$ 128.2	\$ 30.6	\$ 24.3	\$ 20.1	\$ 14.2	\$ 12.7	\$	26.3	\$
Obligations to Outsourcers(3)	\$ 373.1	\$ 121.7	\$ 93.0	\$ 67.3	\$ 51.3	\$ 39.8	\$		\$
Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits									
Payments/Contributions(4)	\$ 891.5	\$ 38.4	\$ 45.9	\$ 34.2	\$ 33.2	\$ 32.3	\$	707.5	\$
Spin-off Obligation(5)	\$ 21.5	\$ 21.5	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$		\$
Unrecognized Tax Benefits(6)	\$ 129.0	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$		\$ 129.0

- (a) Because their future cash flows are uncertain, noncurrent liabilities are excluded from the table.
- (1) Primarily represents our senior notes with a face value of \$300 million that mature in March 2011, net of a \$0.2 million discount, bearing interest at a fixed annual rate of 5.50%, payable semi-annually, borrowings outstanding under our bank credit facility at short-term interest rates and our senior notes with a face value of \$400 million that mature in April 2013, bearing interest at a fixed annual rate of 6.00%, payable semi-annually. Amounts include the interest portion on future obligations. The interest rate on our senior notes is presented using the stated interest rate. Interest expense on our bank credit facility is estimated using the rate in effect as of December 31, 2009.
- (2) Most of our operations are conducted from leased facilities, which are under operating leases that expire over the next ten years, with the majority expiring within five years. We also lease certain computer and other equipment under operating leases that expire over the next three and five years, respectively. These computer and other equipment leases are frequently renegotiated or otherwise changed as advancements in computer technology produce opportunities to lower costs and improve performance.
- (3) In July 2002, we outsourced certain technology functions to Computer Sciences Corporation ( CSC ) under a 10-year agreement, which we had the right to terminate for a fee at any time and under certain other conditions. Under the terms of the agreement, CSC s responsibilities included data center operations, technology help desk and network management functions in the U.S. and UK as well as certain application development and maintenance functions. This agreement was amended in March 2008, which, among other things, increased certain services level agreements that CSC is required to provide under the Technology Services Agreement and added additional security services to be performed by CSC. In August 2009, we

61

#### **Table of Contents**

entered into a wind down agreement with CSC and Acxiom Corporation ( Acxiom ) which terminated all of the data center operations functions provided by CSC, effective September 2009. In September 2009 we entered into a new agreement with CSC for limited print and fulfillment services that remained with CSC. We incurred costs of \$50.6 million, \$77.6 million and \$80.4 million under this contract for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

In December 2003, we signed a three-year agreement with ICT Group, Inc. ( ICT ), effective January 2004, to outsource certain marketing call center activities, which agreement contains two renewal options for up to a one-year period. The agreement was amended effective September 2007 to be extended through 2011. Under the terms of the agreement, ICT is responsible for performing certain marketing and credit-calling activities previously performed by our own call centers in North America. The obligation under the contract is based upon transmitted call volumes, but shall not be less than \$3 million per contract year. We incurred costs of \$3.3 million, \$3.2 million and \$4.5 million under this contract for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

In October 2004, we signed a seven-year outsourcing agreement with International Business Machines ( IBM ). Under the terms of the agreement, we have transitioned certain portions of our data acquisition and delivery and customer service to IBM. We may terminate this agreement for a fee at any time. We incurred costs of \$26.2 million, \$30.1 million and \$30.7 million under this contract for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

In July 2006, we signed a four-year product and technology outsourcing agreement with Acxiom in order to significantly increase the speed, data processing capacity and matching capabilities we provide our global sales and marketing customers. In November 2008, we extended the term of the outsourcing agreement through 2011. In November 2008 we entered into an agreement that will expand our service capabilities, enhance customer experience and accelerate the migration of the remaining existing D&B fulfillment processes to Acxiom.

In May 2009, and as part of our ongoing Financial Flexibility initiatives, we entered into another agreement with Acxiom to provide certain infrastructure management services that were formerly provided by CSC. These services include data center operations, technology help desk and network management functions. The agreement has an initial term ending in October 2014. In addition, after expiration of the initial term, we have the right to extend the agreement under the same terms for up to a maximum period of three years. Payments to Acxiom over the initial five year contract term based on current volumes will aggregate to approximately \$285 million. The agreement provides for typical adjustments due to changes in volume, inflation and incremental project work. Payments made for the provision of such services in 2009 did not differ materially from payments that were expected to be made under our prior arrangement with CSC. However, we anticipate savings to be generated over the life of the contract.

In addition, in December 2009 we signed a three-year data maintenance and support agreement with Acxiom. Payments over the contract term will aggregate approximately \$5 million. The agreement provides for typical adjustments due to changes in volume, inflation and incremental project work.

We incurred costs of \$42.5 million, \$7.5 million and \$6.6 million under all of these agreements for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Total payments to Acxiom over the remaining terms of the above contracts will aggregate to approximately \$290 million.

(4) Represents projected contributions to our non-U.S. defined benefit plans as well as projected benefit payments related to our unfunded plans, including the U.S. Non-Qualified Plans and our postretirement benefit plan. We do not expect to make any contributions to our U.S. Qualified Plan. The expected benefits are estimated based on the same assumptions used to measure our benefit obligation at the end of 2009 and include benefits attributable to estimated future employee service. A closed group approach is used in calculating the projected benefit payments, assuming only the participants who are currently in the valuation population are included in the projection and the projected benefits continue for up to approximately 99 years.

62

- (5) As part of our spin-off from Moody s/The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (D&B2) in 2000, Moody s/D&B2 and D&B entered into a Tax Allocation Agreement ( TAA ). Under the TAA, Moody s/D&B2 and D&B agreed that Moody s/D&B2 would be entitled to deduct the compensation expense associated with the exercise of Moody s stock options (including Moody s stock options exercised by D&B employees) and D&B would be entitled to deduct the compensation expense associated with the exercise of D&B stock options (including D&B stock options exercised by employees of Moody s/D&B2). Put simply, the tax deduction would go to the company that granted the stock options, rather than to the employer of the individual exercising the stock options. The TAA provides, however, that if the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) issues rules, regulations or other authority contrary to the agreed-upon treatment of the compensation expense deductions under the TAA, then the party that becomes entitled under such guidance to take the deduction may be required to reimburse the other party for the tax benefit it has realized, in order to compensate the other party for its loss of such deduction. In 2002 and 2003, the IRS issued rulings that appear to provide that, under the circumstances applicable to Moody s/D&B2 and D&B, the compensation expense deduction belongs to the employer of the option grantee and not to the issuer of the option (e.g., D&B would be entitled to deduct the compensation expense associated with D&B employees exercising Moody s/D&B2 options and Moody s/D&B2 would be entitled to deduct the compensation expense associated with Moody s/D&B2 employees exercising D&B options). We have filed tax returns for 2001 through 2008, and made estimated tax deposits for 2009, consistent with the IRS rulings. Under the TAA, we may be required to reimburse Moody s/D&B2 for the loss of compensation expense deductions relating to tax years 2003 to 2009 of approximately \$21.5 million in the aggregate for such years. In 2005 and 2006, we paid Moody s/D&B2 approximately \$30.1 million in the aggregate under the TAA. We have not made any payments to Moody s/D&B2 since the first quarter of 2006. We may also be required to pay additional amounts in the future based upon interpretations by the parties of the TAA and the IRS rulings.
- (6) We have a total amount of unrecognized tax benefits of \$136.9 million for the year ending December 31, 2009. Although we do not anticipate payments within the next twelve months for these matters, these could require the aggregate use of cash totaling approximately \$129.0 million. As we cannot make reliable estimates regarding the timing of the cash flows by period, we have included unrecognized tax benefits within the All Other column in the table above.

Capital Structure

Every year we examine our capital structure and review our plans. During 2010, in connection with our focus on Total Shareholder Return (TSR), we anticipate continued share repurchases and cash dividends.

We believe that cash provided by operating activities, supplemented as needed with readily available financing arrangements, is sufficient to meet our short-term needs, including the cash cost of restructuring charges, transition costs, contractual obligations and contingencies, excluding the legal matters identified herein for which exposures cannot be estimated. See Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

As we execute our long-term TSR strategy, which contemplates strategic acquisitions, we may require or consider additional financing to fund our TSR strategy. We regularly evaluate market conditions, our liquidity profile and various financing alternatives for opportunities to enhance our capital structure. While we feel confident that such financing arrangements are available to us, there can be no guarantee that we will be able to access new sources of liquidity when required.

The unprecedented disruption in the economic environment has had a significant adverse impact on a number of commercial and financial institutions. At this point in time, our liquidity has not been impacted by the credit environment and management does not expect that it will be materially impacted in the near future. Management continues to closely monitor our liquidity, the credit markets and our financial counterparties. However, management cannot predict with any certainty the impact to us of any further disruption in the credit environment.

63

#### **Table of Contents**

Share Repurchases and Dividends

In order to mitigate the dilutive effect of the shares issued under our stock incentive plans and ESPP, our Board of Directors approved in August 2006, a four-year, five million share repurchase program. During the year ended December 31, 2009, we repurchased 1.0 million shares of common stock for \$75.6 million under this program with 0.8 million shares remaining to be repurchased. We anticipate that this program will be completed prior to maturity in August 2010.

In February 2009, our Board of Directors approved a \$200 million share repurchase program which commenced in December 2009. During the year ended December 31, 2009, we repurchased 0.2 million shares of common stock for \$22.7 million under this share repurchase program with \$177.3 million remaining under this program. We anticipate that this program will be completed by December 2011.

On February 4, 2010, our Board of Directors approved the declaration of a dividend of \$0.35 per share for the first quarter of 2010. This cash dividend will be payable on March 18, 2010 to shareholders of record at the close of business on March 3, 2010.

Two-Year Strategic Technology Investment Program

On February 4, 2010, we announced an approximately two-year strategic technology investment program aimed at strengthening our leading position in commercial data and improving our current technology platform to meet emerging needs of customers. We anticipate spending approximately \$110 million to \$130 million over approximately the next two years to complete the program, with approximately \$45 million to \$55 million of the spend occurring in 2010. Approximately 60% of the spend will be recognized as an increase to expenses and the remainder as capital expenditures.

#### Potential Payments in Legal Matters

We and our predecessors are involved in certain legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. These matters are at various stages of resolution, but could ultimately result in significant cash payments as described in Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We believe we have adequate reserves recorded in our consolidated financial statements for our share of current exposures in these matters, where applicable, as described therein.

#### Pension Plan and Postretirement Benefit Plan Contribution Requirements

For financial statement reporting purposes, the funded status of our pension plans, as determined in accordance with GAAP, had a deficit of \$121.5 million, \$257.0 million and \$72.3 million for the U.S. Qualified Plan, the U.S. Non-Qualified Plans and the non-U.S. plans, respectively at December 31, 2009, as compared to deficits of \$155.5 million, \$235.8 million, and \$45.9 million, respectively, at December 31, 2008. The improvement in the funded status of the U.S. Qualified Plan was primarily due to better asset performance in 2009, partially offset by a higher projected benefit obligation at December 31, 2009 which was driven by a lower discount rate. The deterioration in the funded status of the U.S. Non-Qualified Plans and the non-U.S. plans was primarily due to a higher projected benefit obligation at December 31, 2009, mainly driven by lower discount rates and the negative impact from a change in foreign currency exchange rates, partially offset by higher asset gains in 2009. See Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

During fiscal 2009, we were not required to make contributions to the U.S. Qualified Plan, the largest of our six plans, under funding regulations associated with the Pension Protection Act of 2006 ( PPA 2006 ) as the plan was considered fully funded for the 2008 plan year. We do not expect to make any contributions to the U.S. Qualified Plan in fiscal 2010 for the 2009 plan year. Final funding requirements for fiscal 2010 were determined based on our January 2010 funding actuarial valuation.

64

#### **Table of Contents**

We expect to continue to make cash contributions to our other pension plans during 2010. The expected 2010 contribution is approximately \$31 million, compared to \$24.4 million in 2009. In addition, we expect to make benefit payments related to our postretirement benefit plan of approximately \$7 million during 2010, compared to \$8.4 million in 2009. See the Contractual Cash Obligations table above for projected contributions and benefit payments beyond 2009.

Effective March 1, 2010, we will eliminate company-paid life insurance benefits for retirees. In addition, we will only share the minimum necessary amount of subsidy received from the government in any year to maintain actuarial equivalence for as long as possible.

Effective in April 2010, we will increase our employer maximum match from three percent (3%) to seven percent (7%) of a team member s eligible compensation, subject to certain 401(k) Plan limitations and we will continue to match 50% of a team member s contributions. We expect 2010 cash contributions to the 401(k) Plan to be approximately \$9 million compared to \$6.9 million in 2009. See Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for changes to our 401(k) Plan.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Related Party Transactions

We do not have any transactions, obligations or relationships that could be considered off-balance sheet arrangements except for those disclosed in Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Additionally, we have not engaged in any significant related-party transactions.

#### Fair Value Measurements

As described in Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, effective January 1, 2008, we adopted the authoritative guidance for fair value measurements in ASC 820-10. Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, which has been applied prospectively beginning January 1, 2008 for all financial assets and liabilities recognized in the consolidated financial statements at fair value. The authoritative guidance defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under GAAP and expands fair value measurement disclosures. The guidance also allowed for a one-year delay of the effective date for fair value measurements for all non-financial assets and liabilities, except for those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis. We delayed the effective date and applied the measurement provisions for all non-financial assets and liabilities that are recognized at fair value in the consolidated financial statements on a non-recurring basis until January 1, 2009. Our non-recurring non-financial assets and liabilities include long-lived assets held and used, goodwill and intangible assets. These assets are recognized at fair value when they are deemed to be impaired. As of December 31, 2009, we did not have any unobservable (Level III) inputs in determining fair value for our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis other than our real estate funds.

#### **Forward-Looking Statements**

We may from time-to-time make written or oral forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including statements contained in filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, in reports to shareholders and in press releases and investor Web casts. These forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of words like anticipates, aspirations, believes, continues, estimates, expects, goals, guidance, intends, strategy, targets, commits, will and other words of similar meaning. They can also be identified by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts.

We cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statement will be realized. Achievement of future results is subject to risks, uncertainties and inaccurate assumptions. Should known or unknown risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, actual results could vary materially from those anticipated, estimated or projected. Investors should bear this in mind as they consider forward-looking

65

#### **Table of Contents**

statements and whether to invest in, or remain invested in, our securities. In connection with the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, we are identifying in the following paragraphs important factors that, individually or in the aggregate, could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements made by us; any such statement is qualified by reference to the following cautionary statements.

The following important factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected in such forward-looking statements:

We rely significantly on third parties to support critical components of our business model in a continuous and high quality manner, including third-party data providers, strategic third-party members in our D&B Worldwide Network, and third parties with whom we have outsourcing arrangements;

Our ability to implement and successfully maintain our recently announced approximately two-year strategic technology investment program;

Demand for our products is subject to intense competition, changes in customer preferences and economic conditions which impact customer behavior:

Our solutions and brand image are dependent upon the integrity and security of our global database and the continued availability thereof through the internet and by other means, as well as our ability to protect key assets, such as our data centers;

Our ability to maintain the integrity of our brand and reputation, which we believe are key assets and competitive advantages;

Our ability to renew large contracts, the related revenue recognition and the timing thereof, or a shift in product mix, may impact our results of operations from period-to-period;

As a result of the macro-economic challenges currently affecting the global economy, our customers or vendors may experience cash flow problems. This may cause our customers to delay, cancel or significantly decrease their purchases from us and impact their ability to pay amounts owed to us. In addition, our vendors may substantially increase their prices without notice. Such behavior may adversely affect our earnings and cash flow. In addition, if economic conditions in the United States and other key markets deteriorate further or do not show improvement, we may experience material adverse impacts to our business, operating results, and/or access to credit markets;

Our results are subject to the effects of foreign economies, exchange rate fluctuations, legislative or regulatory requirements, such as the adoption of new or changes in accounting policies and practices, including pronouncements by the Financial Accounting Standards Board or other standard setting bodies, and the implementation or modification of fees or taxes that we must pay to acquire, use, and/or redistribute data;

Our ability to introduce new solutions or services in a seamless way and without disruption to existing solutions such as DNBi;

Our ability to acquire and successfully integrate other complementary businesses, products and technologies into our existing business, without significant disruption to our existing business or to our financial results;

The continued adherence by third-party members of our D&B Worldwide Network to our quality standards, our brand and communication standards and to the terms and conditions of our commercial services arrangements;

Our future success requires that we attract and retain qualified personnel, including members of our sales force and technology teams, in regions throughout the world;

The profitability of our International segment depends on our ability to identify and execute on various initiatives, such as the continued implementation of subscription plan pricing and successfully

66

#### **Table of Contents**

managing our D&B Worldwide Network, and our ability to identify and contend with various challenges present in foreign markets, such as local competition and the availability of public records at no cost;

Our ability to successfully implement our growth strategy requires that we successfully reduce our expense base through our Financial Flexibility initiatives, and reallocate certain of the expense-base reductions into initiatives that produce desired revenue growth;

We are involved in various tax matters and legal proceedings, the outcomes of which are unknown and uncertain with respect to the impact on our cash flow and profitability;

Our ability to repurchase shares is subject to market conditions, including trading volume in our stock, and our ability to repurchase shares in accordance with applicable securities laws; and

Our projection for free cash flow is dependent upon our ability to generate revenue, our collection processes, customer payment patterns, the timing and volume of stock option exercises and the amount and timing of payments related to the tax and other matters and legal proceedings in which we are involved.

We elaborate on the above list of important factors throughout this document and in our other filings with the SEC, particularly in the discussion of our Risk Factors in Item 1A. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. It should be understood that it is not possible to predict or identify all risk factors. Consequently, the above list of important factors and the Risk Factors discussed in Item 1A. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K should not be considered to be a complete discussion of all of our potential trends, risks and uncertainties. Except as otherwise required by federal securities laws, we do not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statement we may make from time-to-time.

#### Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Information in response to this Item is set forth under the caption Market Risk in Item 7. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

67

## **Table of Contents**

# Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data Index to Financial Statements and Schedules

	Page(s)
Management s Responsibility for Financial Statements	69
Management s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting	69
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	70
Consolidated Financial Statements:	
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007	71
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2009 and 2008	72
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007	73
Consolidated Statement of Shareholders Equity (Deficit) for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007	74
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	75
Schedules	

Schedules are omitted as they are not required or inapplicable or because the required information is provided in our consolidated financial statements, including the notes to our consolidated financial statements.

68

#### MANAGEMENT S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and related information appearing in this report. Management believes that the consolidated financial statements fairly reflect the form and substance of transactions and that the consolidated financial statements reasonably present our financial position and results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America. Management also has included in the consolidated financial statements amounts that are based on estimates and judgments which it believes are reasonable under the circumstances.

An independent registered public accounting firm audits our consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) and their report is provided herein.

#### MANAGEMENT S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER

#### FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Management designed our internal control systems in order to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in *Internal Control Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on its evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2009.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included herein.

69

#### REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders equity (deficit) and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting on page 69. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements and on the Company s internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

As discussed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for uncertain tax positions in accordance with ASC 740 Income Taxes in 2007.

A company s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Florham Park, New Jersey

February 25, 2010

70

# THE DUN & BRADSTREET CORPORATION

## CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2009 2008\* 2007\*
(Amounts in millions,

	except per share data)			
Revenue	\$ 1,687.0	\$ 1,726.3	\$ 1,599.2	
Operating Expenses	500.3	480.7	430.4	
Selling and Administrative Expenses	641.0	686.0	671.5	
Depreciation and Amortization	58.1	58.5	46.6	
Restructuring Charge	23.1	31.4	25.1	
Operating Costs	1,222.5	1,256.6	1,173.6	
Operating Income	464.5	469.7	425.6	
\$ F	70 110		12010	
Interest Income	3.0	11.5	7.3	
Interest Expense	(45.7)	(47.4)	(28.3)	
Other Income (Expense) Net	10.7	5.1	21.7	
Carpense) Tee	10.,	0.1	21	
Non-Operating Income (Expense) Net	(32.0)	(30.8)	0.7	
1001-Operating income (Expense) 1001	(32.0)	(30.0)	0.7	
Income from Continuing Operations Perfore Provision for Income Toxas and Equity in Not Income of				
Income from Continuing Operations Before Provision for Income Taxes and Equity in Net Income of Affiliates	432.5	438.9	426.3	
Provision for Income Taxes	112.1	128.0	135.8	
Equity in Net Income of Affiliates	1.6	1.0	1.3	
Equity in 1 for income of 7 firmaces	1.0	1.0	1.5	
Income from Continuing Operations	322.0	311.9	291.8	
income from continuing operations	322.0	311.7	271.0	
Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Income Taxes		0.7	5.4	
Gain on Disposal of Italian Real Estate Business, Net of Tax Impact		0.7	3.4	
Gain on Disposar of Italian Real Estate Business, 1 Ret of Tax Impact		0.4		
Income from Discontinued Operations Not of Income Toyog		1.1	5.4	
Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Income Taxes		1.1	5.4	
N.4 T	222.0	212.0	207.2	
Net Income	322.0	313.0	297.2	
Less: Net (Income) Loss Attributable to the Noncontrolling Interest	(2.6)	(2.4)	0.9	
N. J. A. J. J. J. J. D. D. D.	Φ 210.4	Φ 210.6	Φ 200.1	
Net Income Attributable to D&B	\$ 319.4	\$ 310.6	\$ 298.1	
Basic Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:				
Income from Continuing Operations Attributable to D&B	¢ (0(	¢ 5 6 5	¢ 400	
Common Shareholders  Income from Discontinued Operations Attributable to D&P.	\$ 6.06	\$ 5.65	\$ 4.99	
Income from Discontinued Operations Attributable to D&B  Common Shareholders		0.02	0.09	
Common Shar Cholucis		0.02	0.09	
N. J. L. A. A. A. A. A. A. D. D. C. Charles I. L.	<b>6</b> (0)	ф <i>5.6</i> 7	Φ 500	
Net Income Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders	\$ 6.06	\$ 5.67	\$ 5.08	

**Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:** 

Edgar Filing: DUN & BRADSTREET CORP/NW - Form 10-K

Income from Continuing Operations Attributable to D&B			
Common Shareholders	\$ 5.99	\$ 5.56	\$ 4.88
Income from Discontinued Operations Attributable to D&B			
Common Shareholders		0.02	0.09
Net Income Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders	\$ 5.99	\$ 5.58	\$ 4.97
Weighted Average Number of			
Shares Outstanding Basic	52.3	54.4	58.3
Weighted Average Number of			
Shares Outstanding Diluted	52.9	55.3	59.6
Amounts Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders			
Income from Continuing Operations, Net of Income Taxes	\$ 319.4	\$ 309.5	\$ 292.7
Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Income Taxes		1.1	5.4
Net Income Attributable to D&B	\$ 319.4	\$ 310.6	\$ 298.1
Cash Dividend Paid Per Common Share	\$ 1.36	\$ 1.20	\$ 1.00
Comprehensive Income Attributable to D&B	\$ 352.4	\$ (57.2)	\$ 396.9

<sup>\*</sup> Reflects the adoption of the Financial Accounting Standards Board guidance on noncontrolling interests in consolidated financial statements. See Note 2, Recent Accounting Pronouncements for additional information.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

71

## THE DUN & BRADSTREET CORPORATION

# CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS	December 31, 2009 2008* (Amounts in millions, except per share data)				
Current Assets					
Cash and Cash Equivalents	\$ 222.9	\$ 164.2			
Accounts Receivable, Net of Allowance of \$15.5 at December 31, 2009 and \$17.4 at December 31, 2008	464.1	461.8			
Other Receivables	8.0	11.4			
Prepaid Taxes	3.1	3.9			
Deferred Income Tax	31.4	29.9			
Other Current Assets	30.1	24.6			
Total Current Assets	759.6	695.8			
Non-Current Assets					
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net of Accumulated Depreciation of \$80.6 at December 31, 2009 and \$80.7 at December 31, 2008	53.6	53.1			
	119.2	96.0			
Computer Software, Net of Accumulated Amortization of \$347.7 at December 31, 2009 and \$303.7 at December 31, 2008 Goodwill	440.8	397.6			
Deferred Income Tax	181.9	190.0			
Other Receivables	43.8	43.4			
Other Intangibles (Note 15)	91.2	65.3			
Other Non-Current Assets	59.3	44.8			
Total Non-Current Assets	989.8	890.2			
Total Assets	\$ 1,749.4	\$ 1,586.0			
LIABILITIES					
Current Liabilities					
Accounts Payable	\$ 36.4	\$ 63.0			
Accrued Payroll	104.9	115.1			
Accrued Income Tax	3.0	29.8			
Short-Term Debt	1.7	0.5			
Other Accrued and Current Liabilities (Note 15)	173.4	163.6			
Deferred Revenue	539.7	536.5			
Total Current Liabilities	859.1	908.5			
Pension and Postretirement Benefits	490.5	504.8			
Long-Term Debt	961.8	904.3			
Liabilities for Unrecognized Tax Benefits	115.5	81.6			
Other Non-Current Liabilities	56.5	37.4			
Total Liabilities	2,483.4	2,436.6			
Contingencies (Note 13)					
EQUITY DED SHAREHOLDERS FOLLTY (DEFICIT)					
<b>D&amp;B SHAREHOLDERS</b> EQUITY (DEFICIT) Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, \$0.01 par value per share, authorized 0.5 shares; outstanding none					
Preferred Stock, \$0.01 par value per share, authorized 9.5 shares; outstanding none					
Series Common Stock, \$0.01 par value per share, authorized 10.0 shares; outstanding none					
Common Stock, \$0.01 par value per share, authorized 200.0 shares; issued 81.9 shares	0.8	0.8			

# Edgar Filing: DUN & BRADSTREET CORP/NW - Form 10-K

	200.5	2064
Capital Surplus Capital Surplus	209.5	206.1
Retained Earnings	1,830.7	1,582.8
Treasury Stock, at cost, 30.7 shares at December 31, 2009 and 28.6 shares at December 31, 2008	(2,097.7)	(1,924.4)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)	(689.0)	(722.0)
Total D&B Shareholders Equity (Deficit)	(745.7)	(856.7)
Noncontrolling Interest	11.7	6.1
Total Equity (Deficit)	(734.0)	(850.6)
Total Liabilities and Shareholders Equity (Deficit)	\$ 1,749.4	\$ 1,586.0

<sup>\*</sup>Reflects the adoption of the Financial Accounting Standards Board guidance on noncontrolling interests in consolidated financial statements. See Note 2, Recent Accounting Pronouncements for additional information.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

# THE DUN & BRADSTREET CORPORATION

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

	For t 2009	he Years Ended Decem 2008* (Amounts in millions	2	er 31, 2007*	
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:					
Net Income	\$ 322.0	\$ 313.0	\$	297.2	
Less:					
Gain from Sale of Discontinued Operations		0.4			
Net Income from Discontinued Operations		0.7		5.4	
Net Income from Continuing Operations	\$ 322.0	\$ 311.9	\$	291.8	
Reconciliation of Net Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:					
Depreciation and Amortization	58.1	58.5		46.6	
Amortization of Unrecognized Pension Loss	17.3	7.7		15.9	
Gain from Sales of Businesses	(6.5)	(1.3)		(19.9)	
Income Tax Benefit from Stock-Based Awards	14.2	22.7		33.8	
Excess Tax Benefit on Stock-Based Awards	(7.7)	(14.4)		(26.4)	
Equity-Based Compensation	22.3	27.6		25.9	
Restructuring Charge	23.1	31.4		25.1	
Restructuring Payments	(30.5)	(14.5)		(31.2)	
Deferred Income Taxes, Net	40.7	28.4		(38.7)	
Accrued Income Taxes, Net	(28.8)	13.3		88.4	
Changes in Current Assets and Liabilities:					
Increase in Accounts Receivable	(2.2)	(36.4)		(30.0)	
(Increase) Decrease in Other Current Assets	(0.1)	1.1		(4.1)	
Increase in Deferred Revenue	6.6	24.6		44.3	
(Decrease) Increase in Accounts Payable	(31.5)	35.2		(5.4)	
Net Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Liabilities	3.8	(31.9)		16.1	
Net (Decrease) Increase in Other Accrued and Current Liabilities	(1.4)	5.6		(0.1)	
Changes in Non-Current Assets and Liabilities:	(11.)	0.0		(0.1)	
Net Increase in Other Long-Term Assets	(0.1)	(33.7)		(28.1)	
Net (Decrease) Increase in Long-Term Liabilities	(35.4)	1.9		(16.2)	
Net, Other Non-Cash Adjustments	5.6	(3.8)		(3.2)	
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities from Continuing Operations	369.5	433.9		384.6	
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities from Discontinued Operations		2.6		9.3	
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities	369.5	436.5		393.9	
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:					
Proceeds from Sales of Businesses, Net of Cash Divested	11.7	8.8		2.0	
Payments for Acquisitions of Businesses, Net of Cash Acquired	(74.6)	(69.2)		(146.5)	
Investment in Debt Security	(5.0)	(10.0)			
Cash Settlements of Foreign Currency Contracts	11.3	(25.6)		(0.3)	
Capital Expenditures	(9.2)	(11.8)		(13.7)	
Additions to Computer Software and Other Intangibles	(56.1)	(47.7)		(58.4)	
Net, Other	1.2	1.0		0.5	
Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Investing Activities from Continuing Operations	(120.7)	(154.5)		(216.4)	
Net Cash (Used in) Investing Activities from Discontinued Operations		(11.7)		(0.8)	
Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Investing Activities	(120.7)	(166.2)		(217.2)	
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:					
Payments for Purchases of Treasury Shares	(225.6)	(381.9)		(408.5)	
Net Proceeds from Stock-Based Awards	21.2	23.8		31.3	

# Edgar Filing: DUN & BRADSTREET CORP/NW - Form 10-K

Proceeds from Issuance of Long-Term Debt		400.0	
Payment of Bond Issuance Costs		(3.0)	
Payments of Dividends	(71.5)	(65.6)	(58.4)
Proceeds from Borrowings on Credit Facilities	311.6	779.6	750.7
Payments of Borrowings on Credit Facilities	(255.6)	(1,001.5)	(484.9)
Termination of Interest Rate Derivatives		(8.5)	
Excess Tax Benefit on Stock-Based Awards	7.7	14.4	26.4
Net, Other	(0.9)	0.2	0.4
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities	(213.1)	(242.5)	(143.0)
	(====)	(= :=.=)	(= 1210)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents	23.0	(53.3)	17.6
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents	23.0	(55.5)	17.0
Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents	58.7	(25.5)	51.3
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period	164.2	189.7	138.4
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period	\$ 222.9	\$ 164.2	\$ 189.7
Cash and Cash Equivalents of Discontinued Operations, End of Period			13.9
•			
Cash and Cash Equivalents of Continuing Operations, End of Period	\$ 222.9	\$ 164.2	\$ 175.8
Cash and Cash Equivalents of Continuing Operations, End of Period	Ψ 222.7	φ 104.2	φ 175.0
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:			
Cash Paid (Received) for:	<b>.</b> 0.00		
Income Taxes, Net of Refunds	\$ 86.0	\$ 63.6	\$ 52.4
Interest	\$ 43.7	\$ 41.0	\$ 27.9

<sup>\*</sup> Reflects the adoption of the Financial Accounting Standards Board guidance on noncontrolling interests in consolidated financial statements. See Note 2, Recent Accounting Pronouncements for additional information.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

## THE DUN & BRADSTREET CORPORATION

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY (DEFICIT)

## For the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008\* and 2007\* Accumulated Other

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Net Income 298.1 (9.9) 297.2 \$297.2 Purchase of Shares						In	come (Loss	)					
Par Cyalle   Par		Common	n										
Para		Stock					Minimum		D&B				
Name		(\$0.01			(	Cumulative	Pension	DerivativSl	nareholders	6	Total C	omp	rehensiv
Malance, January 1, 2007   0.8   18.6   1.13.2   (1.265.9)   (153.5)   (302.4)   2.9   (399.1)   399.1   399		Par	Capital	Retained	Treasury 7	<b>Franslation</b>	Liability	Financial	<b>Equity No</b>	ncontrollir	ngEquity	In	come
Net Income		Value)	Surplus	Earnings	Stock A	Adjustment	Adjustmenl	Instrument	(Deficit)	Interest	(Deficit)	(1	Loss)
Net Income 298.1 (9.9) 297.2 \$297.2 Purchase of Shares													
Purchase of Shares	Balance, January 1, 2007	0.8	186.8	1,132.2	(1,265.9)	(153.5)	(302.4)	2.9	(399.1)		(399.1)		
Purchase of Shares													
Equity-Based Plans 3.1 70.6 73.7 73.7 73.7 17.8 17.8 17.8 17.8 19.8 19.8 19.8 19.8 19.8 19.8 19.8 19	Net Income			298.1					298.1	(0.9)	297.2	\$	297.2
Teasury Shares Acquired   (408.5)	Purchase of shares									4.5	4.5		
Pension Adjustments, net of tax of \$132   79.3	Equity-Based Plans		3.1		70.6				73.7		73.7		
of tax of \$132	Treasury Shares Acquired				(408.5)				(408.5)		(408.5)		
Dividend Declared   (75.5)	Pension Adjustments, net												
Uncertain Tax Position Adoption Adjustments to Legacy Tax Matters Change in Cumulative Translation Adjustment (Loss)  Total Comprehensive Income (Loss)  Balance, December 31, 2007  Comprehensive Income Attributable to the Noncontrolling Interest  Occumpance  Treasury Shares Acquired  310.6  310.	of tax of \$132						79.3		79.3		79.3		79.3
Uncertain Tax Position Adoption   (34.1)   (34	Dividend Declared			(75.5)					(75.5)		(75.5)		
Change in Cumulative Translation Adjustment Redigner Surface S	Uncertain Tax Position Adoption								(34.1)		(34.1)		
Change in Cumulative Translation Adjustment Redigner Surface S	•		6.5	` ′									
Adjustment 20.5 20.5 20.5 20.5 Derivative Financial Instrument, net of tax of \$0.1 (1.0) (	-												
Derivative Financial Instrument, net of tax of \$0.1 (1.0) (1	e					20.5			20.5		20.5		20.5
Total Comprehensive Income (Loss)  Balance, December 31, 2007  0.8 196.4 1,320.7 (1,603.8) (133.0) (223.1) 1.9 (440.1) 3.6 (436.5)  Comprehensive Income Attributable to the Noncontrolling Interest  Comprehensive Income Attributable to D&B  Net Income 310.6 310.6 2.4 313.0 \$3													
Total Comprehensive Income (Loss) \$ 396.0  Balance, December 31, 2007 0.8 196.4 1,320.7 (1,603.8) (133.0) (223.1) 1.9 (440.1) 3.6 (436.5)  Comprehensive Income Attributable to the Noncontrolling Interest 0.9  Comprehensive Income Attributable to D&B \$ 396.9  Net Income 310.6 310.6 2.4 313.0 \$ 313.0 \$ 319.0 \$ 310.6 \$ 2.4 \$ 313.0 \$ 31								(1.0)	(1.0)		(1.0)		(1.0)
Comprehensive Income	(Loss)											\$	396.0
Attributable to the Noncontrolling Interest	Balance, December 31, 2007	0.8	196.4	1,320.7	(1,603.8)	(133.0)	(223.1)	1.9	(440.1)	3.6	(436.5)		
Attributable to D&B  Net Income 310.6 310.6 2.4 313.0 \$ 313.0 Equity-Based Plans 3.2 61.3 64.5 64.5  Treasury Shares Acquired (381.9) (381.9) (381.9)  Pension Adjustments, net of tax of \$186.9 (291.1) (291.1) (291.1) (291.1) Dividend Declared (48.5) (48.5) (48.5)  Change in Cumulative Translation Adjustment (71.3) (71.3) 0.5 (70.8) (70.8) Acquisitions/Joint Ventures (0.4) (0.4)  Derivative Financial Instrument, net of tax of \$3.4 (5.4) (5.4) (5.4) (5.4)	Comprehensive Income Attributable to the Noncontrolling Interest	;											0.9
Net Income 310.6 2.4 313.0 \$ 313.0 Equity-Based Plans 3.2 61.3 64.5 64.5	Comprehensive Income												
Equity-Based Plans 3.2 61.3 64.5 64.5 Treasury Shares Acquired (381.9) (381.9) (381.9) Pension Adjustments, net of tax of \$186.9 (291.1) (291.1) (291.1) (291.1) Dividend Declared (48.5) (48.5) (48.5) Adjustments to Legacy Tax Matters 6.5 6.5 Change in Cumulative Translation Adjustment (71.3) (71.3) 0.5 (70.8) (70.8) Acquisitions/Joint Ventures (0.4) (0.4) Derivative Financial Instrument, net of tax of \$3.4 (5.4) (5.4) (5.4) (5.4)	Attributable to D&B											\$	396.9
Equity-Based Plans 3.2 61.3 64.5 64.5 Treasury Shares Acquired (381.9) (381.9) (381.9) Pension Adjustments, net of tax of \$186.9 (291.1) (291.1) (291.1) (291.1) Dividend Declared (48.5) (48.5) (48.5) Adjustments to Legacy Tax Matters 6.5 6.5 Change in Cumulative Translation Adjustment (71.3) (71.3) 0.5 (70.8) (70.8) Acquisitions/Joint Ventures (0.4) (0.4) Derivative Financial Instrument, net of tax of \$3.4 (5.4) (5.4) (5.4) (5.4)													
Treasury Shares Acquired (381.9) (381.9) (381.9)  Pension Adjustments, net of tax of \$186.9 (291.1) (291.1) (291.1) (291.1)  Dividend Declared (48.5) (48.5) (48.5)  Adjustments to Legacy Tax Matters (6.5) (6.5  Change in Cumulative Translation  Adjustment (71.3) (71.3) 0.5 (70.8) (70.8)  Acquisitions/Joint Ventures (0.4) (0.4)  Derivative Financial Instrument, net of tax of \$3.4 (5.4) (5.4) (5.4) (5.4)	Net Income			310.6						2.4		\$	313.0
Pension Adjustments, net of tax of \$186.9  Cight (291.1)  Dividend Declared  (48.5)  Adjustments to Legacy Tax Matters  (5.5)  Change in Cumulative Translation  Adjustment  Adjustment  Adjustment  (71.3)  (71.3)  (71.3)  (71.3)  (70.8)  (70.8)  Acquisitions/Joint Ventures  (0.4)  Derivative Financial Instrument, net of tax of \$3.4  (5.4)  (5.4)  (5.4)  (5.4)  (5.4)	1 7		3.2										
of tax of \$186.9 (291.1) (291.1) (291.1) (291.1) (291.1) Dividend Declared (48.5) (48.5) (48.5) Adjustments to Legacy Tax Matters 6.5 6.5 Change in Cumulative Translation Adjustment (71.3) (71.3) 0.5 (70.8) (70.8) Acquisitions/Joint Ventures (0.4) (0.4) Derivative Financial Instrument, net of tax of \$3.4 (5.4) (5.4) (5.4) (5.4)	Treasury Shares Acquired				(381.9)				(381.9)		(381.9)		
Dividend Declared (48.5) (48.5) (48.5) Adjustments to Legacy Tax Matters 6.5 6.5 Change in Cumulative Translation Adjustment (71.3) (71.3) 0.5 (70.8) (70.8) Acquisitions/Joint Ventures (0.4) (0.4) Derivative Financial Instrument, net of tax of \$3.4 (5.4) (5.4) (5.4) (5.4)  Total Comprehensive Income	Pension Adjustments, net												
Adjustments to Legacy Tax Matters 6.5 6.5  Change in Cumulative Translation  Adjustment (71.3) (71.3) 0.5 (70.8) (70.8)  Acquisitions/Joint Ventures (0.4) (0.4)  Derivative Financial Instrument, net of tax of \$3.4 (5.4) (5.4) (5.4) (5.4)  Total Comprehensive Income							(291.1)						(291.1)
Change in Cumulative Translation       (71.3)       (71.3)       0.5       (70.8)       (70.8)         Acquisitions/Joint Ventures       (0.4)       (0.4)       (0.4)         Derivative Financial Instrument, net of tax of \$3.4       (5.4)       (5.4)       (5.4)       (5.4)    Total Comprehensive Income	Dividend Declared			(48.5)									
Adjustment (71.3) (71.3) 0.5 (70.8) (70.8) Acquisitions/Joint Ventures (0.4) (0.4) Derivative Financial Instrument, net of tax of \$3.4 (5.4) (5.4) (5.4)  Total Comprehensive Income	Adjustments to Legacy Tax Matters		6.5						6.5		6.5		
Acquisitions/Joint Ventures (0.4) (0.4)  Derivative Financial Instrument, net of tax of \$3.4 (5.4) (5.4) (5.4)  Total Comprehensive Income	Change in Cumulative Translation												
Derivative Financial Instrument, net of tax of \$3.4 (5.4) (5.4) (5.4) (5.4)  Total Comprehensive Income	Adjustment					(71.3)			(71.3)				(70.8)
of tax of \$3.4 (5.4) (5.4) (5.4) (5.4) <b>Total Comprehensive Income</b>	Acquisitions/Joint Ventures									(0.4)	(0.4)		
Total Comprehensive Income	Derivative Financial Instrument, net												
•	of tax of \$3.4							(5.4)	(5.4)		(5.4)		(5.4)
•	Total Communication In												
	(Loss)											\$	(54.3)

# Edgar Filing: DUN & BRADSTREET CORP/NW - Form 10-K

Balance, December 31, 2008	0.8	206.1	1,582.8	(1,924.4)	(204.3)	(514.2)	(3.5)	(856.7)	6.1	(850.6)	
Comprehensive Income Attributable to the Noncontrolling Interest											(2.9)
Comprehensive Income Attributable to D&B											\$ (57.2)
Net Income Purchase of shares Payment to noncontrolling interest			319.4					319.4	2.6 3.2 (0.5)	322.0 3.2 (0.5)	\$ 322.0
Equity-Based Plans Treasury Shares Acquired Pension Adjustments, net of tax of		(3.1)		52.3 (225.6)				49.2 (225.6)	(0.3)	49.2 (225.6)	
\$2.3 Dividend Declared Adjustments to Legacy Tax Matters		6.5	(71.5)			(10.4)		(10.4) (71.5) 6.5		(10.4) (71.5)	(10.4)
Change in Cumulative Translation Adjustment		6.3			42.9			42.9	0.3	43.2	43.2
Derivative Financial Instruments, no tax impact							0.5	0.5		0.5	0.5
Total Comprehensive Income (Loss)											\$ 355.3
Balance, December 31, 2009	\$ 0.8	\$ 209.5	\$ 1,830.7	\$ (2,097.7)	\$ (161.4)	\$ (524.6)	\$ (3.0)	\$ (745.7)	\$ 11.7	\$ (734.0)	
Comprehensive Income Attributable to the Noncontrolling Interest											(2.9)
Comprehensive Income Attributable to D&B											\$ 352.4

Reflects the adoption of the Financial Accounting Standards Board guidance on noncontrolling interests in consolidated financial statements. See Note 2, Recent Accounting Pronouncements for additional information.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

#### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

#### Note 1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (D&B or we or our) is the world s leading source of commercial information and insight on businesses, enabling customers to Decide with Confidence® for over 168 years. Our global commercial database contains more than 150 million business records. The database is enhanced by our proprietary DUNSRight® Quality Process, which provides our customers with quality business information. This quality information is the foundation of our global solutions that customers rely on to make critical business decisions.

We provide solution sets that meet a diverse set of customer needs globally. Customers use our Risk Management Solutions to mitigate credit and supplier risk, increase cash flow and drive increased profitability; our Sales & Marketing Solutions to increase revenue from new and existing customers; and our Internet Solutions to convert prospects into clients faster by enabling business professionals to research companies, executives and industries.

Basis of Presentation. The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period reported. As discussed throughout this Note 1, we base our estimates on historical experience, current conditions and various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include: valuation allowances for receivables and deferred income tax assets; liabilities for potential tax exposure and potential litigation claims and settlements; assets and obligations related to employee benefits; allocation of the purchase price in acquisition accounting; long-term asset and amortization recoverability; revenue deferrals; and restructuring charges. We review estimates and assumptions periodically and reflect the revisions in the consolidated financial statements in the period in which we determine any revisions to be necessary. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

The consolidated financial statements include our accounts, as well as those of our subsidiaries and investments in which we have a controlling interest. Investments in companies over which we have significant influence but not a controlling interest are carried under the equity method of accounting. Investments over which we do not have significant influence are recorded under the cost method of accounting. We periodically review our investments to determine if there has been any impairment judged to be other than temporary. Such impairments are recorded as write-downs in the statement of operations.

All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Where appropriate, we have reclassified certain prior year amounts to conform to the current year presentation. As of January 1, 2009, Canada has been moved out of our International segment and into our renamed North America segment (formerly our United States (U.S.) segment). Therefore, on January 1, 2009, we began managing our operations through the following two segments: North America (which consists of the U.S. and Canada) and International (which consists of our operations in Europe, Asia Pacific and Latin America). We have conformed historical amounts to reflect the new segment structure.

The financial statements of our subsidiaries outside North America reflect a fiscal year ended November 30, in order to facilitate timely reporting of our consolidated financial results and financial position.

75

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

On December 27, 2007, we sold our Italian real estate business for \$9.0 million, which was a part of our International segment, and we have reclassified the historical financial results of the Italian real estate business as discontinued operations. We have reflected the results of this business as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of earnings for all periods presented. See Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We have recorded the resulting gain of \$0.4 million (both pre-tax and after-tax) from the sale in the first quarter of 2008 in the consolidated statement of operations.

## Financial Accounting Standards Board ( FASB ) Launches Accounting Standards Codification

In June 2009, the FASB issued FASB Accounting Standards Codification<sup>TM</sup> ( ASC ) 105-10, Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, or ASC 105-10 (the Codification ). This authoritative guidance establishes the exclusive authoritative reference for GAAP for use in financial statements, except for Securities and Exchange Commission ( SEC ) rules and interpretative releases, which are also authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants. The Codification supersedes all existing non-SEC accounting and reporting standards. All other grandfathered, non-SEC accounting literature not included in the Codification is nonauthoritative.

Following the Codification, the FASB will not issue new standards in the form of Statements, FASB Staff Positions or Emerging Issues Task Force Abstracts. Instead, it will issue Accounting Standards Updates ( ASU ), which will serve to update the Codification, provide background information about the authoritative guidance and provide the basis for conclusions on the changes to the Codification.

GAAP is not intended to be changed as a result of the Codification, but it has changed the way the authoritative guidance is organized and presented. As a result, these changes made an impact on how we reference GAAP in our financial statements and in our accounting policies. Where appropriate, we have conformed, throughout this Form 10-K, references to both the Codification and/or the previous GAAP source reference.

## **Significant Accounting Policies**

**Revenue Recognition.** Revenue is recognized when the following four conditions are met:

Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;

The contract fee is fixed and determinable;

Delivery or performance has occurred; and

Collectibility is reasonably assured.

If at the outset of an arrangement, we determine that collectibility is not reasonably assured, revenue is deferred until the earlier of when collectibility becomes probable or the receipt of payment. If there is uncertainty as to the customer s acceptance of our deliverables, revenue is not recognized until the earlier of receipt of customer acceptance or expiration of the acceptance period. If at the outset of an arrangement, we determine that the arrangement fee is not fixed or determinable, revenue is deferred until the arrangement fee becomes estimable, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Our Risk Management Solutions are generally sold under fixed price subscription contracts that allow customers unlimited access to risk information. Revenue on this type of contract is recognized ratably over the term of the contract, which is generally one year.

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Risk information is also sold using monthly or annual contracts that allow customers to purchase our risk information up to the contract amount based on an agreed price list. Once the contract amount is fully used, additional risk information can be purchased at per-item prices which may be different than those in the original contract. Revenue on these contracts is recognized on a per-item basis as information is purchased and delivered to the customer. If customers do not use the full amount of their contract and forfeit the unused portion, we recognize the forfeited amount as revenue at contract expiration.

Where a data file of risk information is sold with periodic updates to that information, a portion of the revenue related to the updates is deferred as a liability on the balance sheet and recognized as the updates are delivered, usually on a quarterly or monthly basis over the term of the contract.

Revenue related to services, such as monitoring, is recognized ratably over the period of performance.

Sales & Marketing Solutions that provide continuous access to our marketing information and business reference databases may include access or hosting fees which are sold on a subscription basis. Revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the contract, which is typically one year.

Where a data file of marketing information is sold, we recognize revenue upon delivery of the marketing data file to the customer. If the contract provides for periodic updates to that marketing data file, the portion of the revenue related to updates is deferred as a liability on the balance sheet and recognized as the updates are delivered, usually on a quarterly or monthly basis, over the term of the contract.

Internet Solutions represent the results of our Hoover s business, including both the First Research division and the AllBusiness.com division. Hoover s and First Research provide subscription solutions that allow continuous access to our business information databases. Revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the contract, which is generally one year. Any additional solutions purchased are recognized upon delivery to the customer. AllBusiness.com provides online media and e-commerce products that provide advertisers the ability to target small business customers. Revenue is recognized as solutions are delivered to the customer over the contract period.

Sales of software that are considered to be more than incidental are recognized in revenue when a non-cancelable license agreement has been signed and the software has been shipped and installed, if required.

Revenue from consulting and training services is recognized as the services are performed.

We have certain solution offerings that are sold as multi-element arrangements. The multiple elements or deliverables may include access to our business information databases, information data files, updates, software and services. To account for each deliverable as a separate unit of accounting, they each must meet all of the following separation criteria:

The delivered item(s) has value to the customer on a stand-alone basis;

There is objective and reliable evidence of fair value of the undelivered item(s); and

If the arrangement includes a general right of return relative to the undelivered item(s), delivery or performance of the undelivered item(s) is considered probable and substantially in the control of the company.

If the deliverable or a group of deliverables meets the separation criteria, the total arrangement consideration is allocated to each unit of accounting based on its relative fair value. The amount of arrangement consideration that is allocated to a delivered unit of accounting is limited to the amount that is not contingent upon the delivery of another unit of accounting.

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

We obtain vendor specific objective evidence ( VSOE ) of the fair value of a deliverable by monitoring the price at which we sell the deliverable on a standalone basis. Where we are unable to use VSOE, we may use the price at which we or a third party sell a similar product to similarly situated customers on a standalone basis. If we do not have fair value for the delivered items, the contract fee is allocated to the undelivered items based on their fair values and the remaining residual amount, if any, is allocated to the delivered items.

After the arrangement consideration is allocated to each unit of accounting, we apply the appropriate revenue recognition method from those described above for each unit of accounting, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are met. All deliverables that do not meet the separation criteria are combined with an undelivered unit of accounting. We generally recognize revenue for a combined unit of accounting based on the method most appropriate for the last delivered item.

Deferred revenue consists of amounts billed in excess of revenue recognized on sales of our information solutions and generally relates to deferral of subscription revenue. Deferred revenue is included in current liabilities in the balance sheet and is subsequently recognized as revenue in accordance with our revenue recognition policies.

We record revenue on a net basis for those sales where we act as an agent or broker in the transaction.

Sales Cancellations. In determining sales cancellation allowances, we analyze historical trends, customer-specific factors and current economic trends.

**Restructuring Charges.** Restructuring charges have been recorded in accordance with ASC 712-10, Nonretirement Postemployment Benefits, or ASC 712-10, and/or ASC 420-10, Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations, or ASC 420-10, as appropriate.

We record severance costs provided under an ongoing benefit arrangement once they are both probable and estimable in accordance with the provisions of ASC 712-10.

We account for one-time termination benefits, contract terminations, asset write-offs, and/or costs to terminate lease obligations less assumed sublease income in accordance with ASC 420-10, which addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with restructuring activities. Under ASC 420-10, we establish a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity, including severance and lease termination obligations, and other related costs, when the liability is incurred, rather than at the date that we commit to an exit plan. We reassess the expected cost to complete the exit or disposal activities at the end of each reporting period and adjust our remaining estimated liabilities, if necessary.

The determination of when we accrue for severance costs and which standard applies depends on whether the termination benefits are provided under an ongoing arrangement as described in ASC 712-10 or under a one-time benefit arrangement as defined by ASC 420-10. Inherent in the estimation of the costs related to the restructurings are assessments related to the most likely expected outcome of the significant actions to accomplish the exit activities. In determining the charges related to the restructurings, we had to make estimates related to the expenses associated with the restructurings. These estimates may vary significantly from actual costs depending, in part, upon factors that may be beyond our control. We will continue to review the status of our restructuring obligations on a quarterly basis and, if appropriate, record changes to these obligations in current operations based on management s most current estimates.

*Employee Benefit Plans.* We provide various defined benefit plans to our employees as well as healthcare and life insurance benefits to our retired employees. We use actuarial assumptions to calculate pension and

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

benefit costs as well as pension assets and liabilities included in our consolidated financial statements. See Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further detail.

Income Taxes and Tax Contingencies. We recognize deferred income tax liabilities and assets based on the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are determined based on the differences between the financial statement and tax bases of particular liabilities and assets and net operating loss carryforwards, using tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. We establish valuation allowances for deferred tax assets if, based upon the available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we have considered future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies.

We utilize a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. As a result of the implementation of authoritative guidance on January 1, 2007 related to the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the financial statements, we recognized \$34.1 million (net of tax benefits) in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits, which was accounted for as a reduction to the January 1, 2007 balance of retained earnings.

Legal Contingencies. We are involved in legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. We periodically assess our liabilities and contingencies in connection with these matters, based upon the latest information available. For those matters where it is probable that we have incurred a loss and the loss, or range of loss, can be reasonably estimated, we have recorded reserves in the consolidated financial statements. In other instances, because of the uncertainties related to the probable outcome and/or amount or range of loss, we are unable to make a reasonable estimate of a liability, if any. As additional information becomes available, we adjust our assessment and estimates of such liabilities accordingly.

*Cash and Cash Equivalents.* We consider all investments purchased with an initial term to maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. These instruments are stated at cost, which approximates market value because of the short maturity of the instruments.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Bad Debts. Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. With respect to estimating the allowance for bad debts, we analyze the aging of accounts receivable, historical bad debts, customer creditworthiness and current economic trends.

*Property, Plant and Equipment.* Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, except for property, plant and equipment that have been impaired for which the carrying amount is reduced to the estimated fair value at the impairment date. Property, plant and equipment are generally depreciated using the straight-line method. Buildings are depreciated over a period of 40 years. Equipment is depreciated over a period of three to ten years. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the improvement. Property, plant and equipment depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was \$10.7 million, \$10.3 million and \$10.6 million, respectively.

Computer Software. We develop various computer software applications for internal use including systems which support our databases and common business services and processes (back-end systems), our financial and administrative systems (back-office systems) and systems which we use to deliver our information solutions to customers (customer-facing systems).

79

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

We expense costs incurred during the preliminary development stage which includes conceptual formulation and review of alternatives. Once that stage is complete, we begin the application development stage which includes design, coding and testing. Direct internal and external costs incurred during this stage are capitalized. Capitalization of costs cease when the software is ready for its intended use and all substantial testing is completed. Upgrades and enhancements which provide added functionality are accounted for in the same manner. Maintenance costs incurred solely to extend the life of the software are expensed as incurred.

We periodically reassess the estimated useful lives of our computer software considering our overall technology strategy, the effects of obsolescence, technology, competition and other economic factors on the useful life of these assets. Effective April 1, 2009, we increased the lives of our back-end and back-office software from three to five years to five to eight years in conjunction with changes in our technology strategy. Customer-facing software will continue to have lives of three to five years. The impact of this change for the year ended December 31, 2009 was a reduction in software amortization expense by approximately \$7 million after-tax (\$0.14 per diluted share), respectively.

Internal-use software is tested for impairment along with other long-lived assets (See Impairment of Long-Lived Assets).

We also develop software for sale to customers. Costs are expensed until technological feasibility is established after which costs are capitalized until the software is ready for general release to customers. Costs of enhancements which extend the life or improve the marketability of the software are capitalized once technological feasibility is reached. Maintenance and customer support are expensed as incurred.

Capitalized costs of software for sale are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated economic life of the software of three years. We continually evaluate recoverability of the unamortized costs, which are reported at the lower of unamortized cost or net realizable value.

The computer software amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was \$35.0 million, \$38.9 million and \$28.7 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, we acquired \$7.0 million and \$6.4 million, respectively, of computer software, which was included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2009 and in accounts payable on the accompanying balance sheet as of December 31, 2008, and was therefore excluded from the consolidated statement of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Goodwill and intangible assets represent the excess of costs over fair value of assets of businesses acquired. Goodwill and intangibles with an indefinite life are not subject to regular periodic amortization. Instead, the carrying amount of the goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles is tested for impairment at least annually, and between annual tests if events or circumstances warrant such a test. An impairment loss would be recognized if the carrying amount exceeded the fair value.

We assess recoverability of goodwill at the reporting unit level. A reporting unit is an operating segment or a component of an operating segment which is a business and for which discrete financial information is available and reviewed by a segment manager. Our reporting units are North America, United Kingdom, Benelux, Latin America, Partnerships, Japan, Greater China and India. We perform a two-step goodwill impairment test. In the first step, we compare the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value. We determine the fair value of our reporting units based on the market approach. Under the market approach, we estimate the fair value based on market multiples of revenue or earnings. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of the net assets, including goodwill assigned to that reporting unit, goodwill is not impaired and no further test is performed. If the carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, the second step of the impairment test is performed to determine the

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

implied fair value of the reporting unit s goodwill. The implied fair value of goodwill is the difference between the fair value of the reporting unit and the fair value of its identifiable net assets. If the carrying value of goodwill exceeds the implied value of goodwill, an impairment loss is recorded as depreciation and amortization expense equal to the difference.

For indefinite-lived intangibles, other than goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized if the carrying value exceeds the fair value. The estimated fair value is determined by utilizing the expected present value of the future cash flows of the assets.

No impairment charges related to goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets have been recognized for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

Other intangibles, which primarily include customer lists and relationships, trademarks, and technology related assets resulting from acquisitions, are being amortized over one to eighteen years based on their estimated useful life using the straight-line method. Other intangibles amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was \$12.4 million, \$9.3 million and \$7.3 million, respectively. Other intangibles are tested for recoverability along with other long-lived assets, excluding goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles, whenever events or circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. (See Impairment of Long-Lived Assets).

Future amortization of acquired intangible assets as of December 31, 2009 is as follows:

Total	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	Thereafter
\$ 91.2	\$ 14.0	\$ 13.8	\$ 11.8	\$ 11.0	\$ 9.2	\$ 31.4

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. Long-lived assets including property, plant and equipment, internal-use software and other intangible assets held for use are tested for impairment when events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the asset group which includes these assets is not recoverable. An asset group is the lowest level for which its cash flows are independent of the cash flows of other asset groups. The carrying value of an asset group is not considered recoverable if the carrying value exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset group. The impairment loss is measured by the difference between the carrying value of the asset group and its fair value. We generally estimate the fair value of an asset group using an income approach.

Based on our assessments, an impairment charge of \$3.0 million was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2009 related to certain intangible assets of Visible Path. See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further detail. An impairment test was performed in 2009 due to our election to no longer offer a certain product to our customers. As a result, during 2009 we wrote off the related intangible assets which were charged to operating expense in our North America segment. These assets were technology based intangible assets with a definite-life. Undiscounted cash flows were used to calculate the recoverable value of the long-lived assets to determine if such assets were impaired. Where impairment was identified, a discounted cash flow valuation model, incorporating discount rates commensurate with the risks involved for each group of assets, was used to determine the fair value for the assets to measure any potential impairment. See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. No impairment charges related to long-lived assets have been recorded for fiscal years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007.

**Foreign Currency Translation.** For all operations outside the U.S. where we have designated the local currency as the functional currency, assets and liabilities are translated using the end-of-year exchange rates, and revenues and expenses are translated using average exchange rates for the year. For those countries where we

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

designate the local currency as the functional currency, translation adjustments are accumulated in a separate component of shareholders equity. Transaction gains and losses are recognized in earnings in Other Income (Expense) Net. Transaction losses were \$0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. Transaction gains were \$3.9 million and \$0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Earnings Per Share of Common Stock. Effective January 1, 2009, we updated our policy to reflect the authoritative guidance in ASC 260-10, Earnings Per Share, which clarifies that instruments granted in share-based payment transactions (e.g., stock-based awards) are participating securities prior to vesting and, therefore, need to be included in the earnings allocation in computing earnings per share (EPS) under the two-class method. The two-class method requires earnings to be allocated between common shareholders and holders of participating securities. All outstanding unvested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends are considered to be a separate class of common stock and should be included in the calculation of basic and diluted EPS. The EPS calculation is applied retrospectively to all prior-period EPS data presented. The impact of the adoption resulted in a four-cent and two-cent decrease to our basic and diluted EPS for each of the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Based on a review of our stock-based awards, we have determined that only our restricted stock awards are deemed participating securities.

Basic EPS is calculated based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted EPS is calculated giving effect to all potentially dilutive common shares, assuming such shares were outstanding during the reporting period. The difference between basic and diluted EPS is solely attributable to stock options and restricted stock programs. We use the treasury stock method to calculate the impact of outstanding stock options and restricted stock.

*Stock-Based Compensation.* Our stock-based compensation programs are described more fully in Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The compensation expense of our stock-based compensation programs is calculated by estimating the fair value of each stock-based award at the date of grant. The stock-based compensation expense is recognized over the shorter of the award s vesting period or the period from the date of grant to the date when retirement eligibility is achieved. In addition, we estimate future forfeitures in calculating the stock-based compensation expense as opposed to only recognizing these forfeitures and the corresponding reductions in expense as they occur.

For stock option awards, the fair value is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. The Black-Scholes option valuation model requires that we make assumptions about the stock price volatility, dividend yield, expected term of the stock option and risk-free interest rates. Our expected stock price volatility assumption is derived from the historical volatility of our common stock. The expected dividend yield assumption is determined by dividing the anticipated annual dividend payment by the stock price on the date of grant. Beginning in 2009, we began determining our expected term assumption using a midpoint scenario which combines our historical exercise data with hypothetical exercise data for our unexercised stock options. Prior to 2009, our expected term assumption was determined using the Simplified Method, as prescribed by the SEC, for estimating the expected life of the options. Our risk-free interest rate assumption corresponds to the expected term assumption of the stock option and is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.

For restricted stock and restricted stock unit awards the fair value is estimated by using the average of the high and low price of our common stock on the date of grant.

If factors change, we may decide to use different assumptions under the Black-Scholes option valuation model and our forfeiture assumption in the future, which could materially affect our stock-based compensation expense, operating income, net income and earnings per share.

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

*Financial Instruments*. We use financial instruments, including foreign exchange forward, option and swap contracts, to manage our exposure to movements in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. The use of these financial instruments modifies our exposure to these risks with the intent to reduce the risk or costs to us.

We recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and measure those instruments at fair value. We do not use derivatives for trading purposes or speculative purposes.

We use foreign exchange forward and option contracts to hedge cross-border intercompany transactions and certain non-U.S. earnings. These forward and option contracts are mark-to-market and gains and losses are recorded as other income or expense. In addition, foreign exchange forward contracts are used to hedge certain of our foreign net investments. The gains and losses associated with these contracts are recorded in Cumulative Translation Adjustments, a component of shareholders equity.

From time to time, we use interest rate swap agreements to hedge long-term fixed-rate debt. When executed, we designate the swaps as fair-value hedges and assess whether the swaps are highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair value of the hedged debt. We formally document all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, and we have documented policies for management of our exposures. Changes in fair values of interest rate swap agreements that are designated fair-value hedges are recognized in earnings as an adjustment of interest expense. The effectiveness of hedge accounting is monitored on an ongoing basis, and if considered ineffective, we discontinue hedge accounting prospectively. See Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Also, from time to time, we use interest rate swap agreements to hedge our variable debt. In January 2009 and December 31, 2008, we executed interest rate cash flow hedges in the form of interest rate swap agreements in order to mitigate our exposure to variability in cash flows for future payments on a designated portion of our borrowings. We defer gains and losses on this derivative instrument in the accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) line of our consolidated balance sheet until the hedged transaction impacts our earnings. The effectiveness of hedge accounting is monitored on an ongoing basis, and any resulting ineffectiveness will be recorded as gains and losses in earnings in the respective measurement period. See Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further detail.

Fair Value Measurements. Effective January 1, 2008, we adopted the authoritative guidance for fair value measurements in ASC 820-10, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, which has been applied prospectively beginning January 1, 2008 for all financial assets and liabilities recognized in the consolidated financial statements at fair value. The authoritative guidance defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under GAAP and expands fair value measurement disclosures. The guidance also allowed for a one-year delay of the effective date for fair value measurements for all non-financial assets and liabilities, except for those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis. We delayed the effective date and applied the measurement provisions for all non-financial assets and liabilities that are recognized at fair value in the consolidated financial statements on a non-recurring basis until January 1, 2009. Our non-recurring non-financial assets and liabilities include long-lived assets held and used, goodwill and intangible assets.

83

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

We define fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Additionally, the inputs used to measure fair value are prioritized based on a three-level hierarchy. This hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows:

## **Level Input: Input Definition:**

Level I	Observable inputs utilizing quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets at the measurement
	date

Level II Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level I that are either directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability

through corroboration with market data at the measurement date.

Level III Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability in which little or no market data exists therefore requiring management s best estimate of what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement in its entirety falls has been determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and considers factors specific to the asset or liability.

The estimated fair values of financial assets and liabilities, which are presented herein, have been determined by our management using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. However, judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein may not necessarily be indicative of amounts we could realize in a current market sale. See Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

### **Note 2. Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Improving Disclosures and Fair Value Measurements, which adds new requirements for disclosures about transfers into and out of Level II and Level II and to add separate disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements relating to Level III measurements. In addition, this amendment further clarifies the existing fair value disclosure requirements. The authoritative guidance is effective for the first interim or annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the newly added disclosure for Level III activity, which will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010. We adopted the authoritative guidance in the fourth quarter of 2009 for disclosures related to Level I and Level II. The adoption of this section of the authoritative guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. We will adopt the new disclosures on Level III in fiscal year 2010. We are currently assessing the impact of the adoption of the Level III section of the authoritative guidance will have, if any, on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-17, Improvements to Financial Reporting by Enterprises Involved with Variable Interest Entities, which amends consolidation guidance that applies to variable interest entities or VIEs. This guidance changes how a reporting entity evaluates whether an entity is considered the primary beneficiary of a VIE and is therefore required to consolidate the VIE. The guidance requires assessments at each reporting period to determine whether an entity is a VIE, which party within the VIE is considered the primary beneficiary and which type of financial statement disclosures are required. The

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

authoritative guidance is effective as of the beginning of the first fiscal year that begins after November 15, 2009. We are currently assessing the impact of the adoption of the authoritative guidance will have, if any, on our consolidated financial statements.

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-14, Certain Revenue Arrangements that Include Software Elements, which amends guidance in ASC 985-605, Software, which focuses on determining which arrangements are included or excluded from the scope of existing software revenue guidance under ASC 985. This guidance removes non-software components of tangible products and certain software components of tangible products from the scope of the existing software revenue guidance, resulting in the recognition of revenue similar to that for other tangible products. The authoritative guidance may be applied prospectively to revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010 or retrospectively for all arrangements in the period presented. We will adopt the authoritative guidance on January 1, 2011. We are currently assessing the impact of the adoption of this authoritative guidance will have, if any, on our consolidated financial statements.

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-13, Revenue Recognition Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements, which amends guidance in ASC 605-25, Revenue Recognition: Multiple-Element Arrangements. The guidance will allow companies to allocate arrangement consideration in multiple deliverable arrangements in a manner that better reflects the transaction is economics. It also provides principles and application guidance on whether multiple deliverables exist, how the arrangement should be separated, and the consideration allocated. It also requires an entity to allocate revenue in an arrangement using estimated selling prices of deliverables if a vendor does not have vendor-specific objective evidence or third-party evidence of selling price. The guidance eliminates the use of the residual method, requires entities to allocate revenue using the relative-selling-price method and significantly expands the disclosure requirements for multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements. The authoritative guidance requires new and expanded disclosures and is applied prospectively to revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010 or retrospectively for all periods presented. We will adopt the authoritative guidance on January 1, 2011. We are currently assessing the impact of the adoption of this authoritative guidance will have, if any, on our consolidated financial statements.

In August 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-05, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Measuring Liabilities at Fair Value, to provide guidance on measuring the fair value of liabilities. The authoritative guidance provides clarification for circumstances in which a quoted market price in an active market for an identical liability is not available. The authoritative guidance is effective for the first interim or annual reporting period beginning after its issuance. We adopted the authoritative guidance in the fourth quarter of 2009. The adoption of this authoritative guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In June 2009, the FASB issued ASC 105-10 as the single source of authoritative GAAP recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities. This authoritative guidance is effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009. We adopted the authoritative guidance in the third quarter of 2009 and the implementation of this authoritative guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In June 2009, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 112, or SAB No. 112, which amends or rescinds portions of the SEC s interpretive guidance to conform with the updated guidance the FASB issued for business combinations in ASC 805, Business Combinations and in ASC 810-10, Consolidation. The adoption of SAB No. 112 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

85

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

In May 2009, the FASB issued ASC 855-10, Subsequent Events, or ASC 855-10, which establishes general standards of accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be issued. This authoritative guidance requires disclosure of the date through which subsequent events were evaluated and the rationale for why that date was selected. This authoritative guidance is effective for interim and annual periods ending after June 15, 2009. We adopted this authoritative guidance in the second quarter of 2009 and the adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2009, the FASB issued ASC 825-10-65, Financial Instruments, or ASC 825-10-65, which requires disclosures about the fair value of financial instruments for interim reporting periods as well as for annual reporting periods. This authoritative guidance is effective for interim reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009, with early adoption permitted. This authoritative guidance does not require disclosure for earlier periods presented for comparative purposes at initial adoption. We adopted this authoritative guidance in the second quarter of 2009 and the adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance in ASC 805-10, ASC 805-20, ASC 805-50, Business Combinations, or ASC 805-10, ASC 805-20, ASC 805-50, which addresses application issues on initial recognition and measurement, subsequent measurement and accounting, and disclosure of assets and liabilities arising from contingencies in a business combination. This authoritative guidance requires assets acquired or liabilities assumed in a business combination that arise from a contingency to be recognized at fair value if the acquisition-date fair value can be determined during the measurement period. If the acquisition-date fair value cannot be determined, the asset or liability would be measured at the amount that would be recognized for liabilities in accordance with ASC 450-10, Accounting for Contingencies. This authoritative guidance applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. We adopted this authoritative guidance in the first quarter of 2009.

In December 2008, the FASB issued authoritative guidance in ASC 715-20-65-2, Compensation Retirement Benefits, or ASC 715-20-65-2, which requires the disclosure of major categories of plan assets, investment policies and strategies, fair value measurements of plan assets and significant concentration of credit risk related to defined benefit pension or other postretirement plans. The disclosures are required for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2009. We adopted this authoritative guidance in the fourth quarter of 2009.

In April 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance in ASC 820-10-65, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, or ASC 820-10-65, which provides additional guidance for estimating fair value when the volume and level of activity for the asset or liability have significantly decreased. Fair value of an asset, when the market is not active, is the price that would be received to sell the asset in an orderly transaction between the market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. This authoritative guidance is effective for interim and annual periods ending after June 15, 2009 and is applied prospectively. This authoritative guidance does not require disclosures for earlier periods presented for comparative purposes at initial adoption. We adopted this authoritative guidance in the second quarter of 2009 and the adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued authoritative guidance in ASC 820-10, which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under GAAP and expands fair value measurement disclosures. The guidance does not require new fair value measurements and is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and interim periods within those fiscal years. In February 2008, the FASB issued guidance which allows for a one-year delay of the effective date for fair value measurements for all non-financial assets and liabilities, except for those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the

86

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

financial statements on a recurring basis. We delayed the effective date and applied the measurement provisions for all non-financial assets and liabilities that are recognized at fair value in the consolidated financial statements on a non-recurring basis until January 1, 2009. Our non-recurring non-financial assets and liabilities include long-lived assets held and used, goodwill and intangible assets. The adoption of the guidance for financial assets and liabilities and for non-recurring non-financial assets and liabilities did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In June 2008, the FASB issued guidance in ASC 260-10, which clarifies that instruments granted in share-based payment transactions (e.g., stock-based awards) are participating securities prior to vesting and, therefore, need to be included in the earnings allocation in computing EPS under the two-class method. The two-class method requires earnings to be allocated between common shareholders and holders of participating securities. All outstanding unvested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends are considered to be a separate class of common stock and should be included in the calculation of basic and diluted EPS. The EPS calculation is applied retrospectively to all prior-period EPS data presented. The impact of the adoption resulted in a four cent and two cent decrease to our basic and diluted EPS for 2008. Based on a review of our stock-based awards, we have determined that only our restricted stock awards are deemed participating securities. We adopted the authoritative guidance as of January 1, 2009, and it did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2008, the FASB issued authoritative guidance in ASC 350-30-65, Intangibles Goodwill and Other, or ASC 350-30-65, which amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of a recognized intangible asset. The intent of the authoritative guidance is to improve the consistency between the useful life of a recognized intangible asset and the period of expected cash flows used to measure the fair value of the asset. The authoritative guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and early adoption is prohibited. The measurement provision will apply only to intangible assets acquired after the effective date. We adopted this authoritative guidance in the first quarter of 2009.

In March 2008, the FASB issued authoritative guidance in ASC 815-10-65, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, or ASC 815-10-65. This authoritative guidance requires disclosures of how and why an entity uses derivative instruments, how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for and how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity s financial position, financial performance and cash flows. This authoritative guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008, with early adoption permitted. We adopted this authoritative guidance in the first quarter of 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB revised the authoritative guidance for business combinations in ASC 805-10, which establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer in a business combination: recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree; recognizes and measures goodwill acquired in the business combination or a gain from a bargain purchase; and determines what information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination. This authoritative guidance applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. We adopted this authoritative guidance in the first quarter of 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued authoritative guidance in ASC 810-10-65, Consolidation, or ASC 810-10-65, which establishes accounting and reporting standards that require the disclosure of: the ownership interests in subsidiaries held by third parties other than the parent; the amount of consolidated net income

87

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest; changes in a parent s ownership interest; and when a subsidiary is deconsolidated, any retained noncontrolling equity investment in the former subsidiary be initially measured at fair value. This authoritative guidance also establishes disclosures that identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent and the interests of the noncontrolling owners. This authoritative guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008; however, application of the disclosure and presentation is retroactive. Early adoption of the authoritative guidance was prohibited. The adoption of this authoritative guidance as of January 1, 2009 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

#### **Note 3. Restructuring Charges**

Financial Flexibility is an ongoing process that reallocates our spending from low-growth or low-value activities to activities that will create greater value for shareholders through enhanced revenue growth, improved profitability and/or quality improvements. With each initiative, we have incurred restructuring charges (which generally consist of employee severance and termination costs, contract terminations, asset write-offs, and/or costs to terminate lease obligations less assumed sublease income). These charges are incurred as a result of eliminating, consolidating, standardizing and/or automating our business functions. We have also incurred transition costs such as consulting fees, costs of temporary workers, relocation costs and stay bonuses to implement our Financial Flexibility initiatives.

Restructuring charges have been recorded in accordance with ASC 712-10, Nonretirement Postemployment Benefits, or ASC 712-10, and/or ASC 420-10, Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations, or ASC 420-10, as appropriate.

We record severance costs provided under an ongoing benefit arrangement once they are both probable and estimable in accordance with the provisions of ASC 712-10.

We account for one-time termination benefits, contract terminations, asset write-offs, and/or costs to terminate lease obligations less assumed sublease income in accordance with ASC 420-10, which addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with restructuring activities. Under ASC 420-10, we establish a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity, including severance and lease termination obligations, and other related costs, when the liability is incurred, rather than at the date that we commit to an exit plan. We reassess the expected cost to complete the exit or disposal activities at the end of each reporting period and adjust our remaining estimated liabilities, if necessary.

The determination of when we accrue for severance costs and which standard applies depends on whether the termination benefits are provided under an ongoing arrangement as described in ASC 712-10 or under a one-time benefit arrangement as defined by ASC 420-10. Inherent in the estimation of the costs related to the restructurings are assessments related to the most likely expected outcome of the significant actions to accomplish the exit activities. In determining the charges related to the restructurings, we had to make estimates related to the expenses associated with the restructurings. These estimates may vary significantly from actual costs depending, in part, upon factors that may be beyond our control. We will continue to review the status of our restructuring obligations on a quarterly basis and, if appropriate, record changes to these obligations in current operations based on management s most current estimates.

88

#### **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)**

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we recorded a \$23.1 million restructuring charge in connection with Financial Flexibility initiatives. The significant components of these charges included:

Severance and termination costs of \$12.7 million in accordance with the provisions of ASC 712-10 were recorded. Approximately 535 employees are impacted. Of these 535 employees, approximately 365 employees have exited the Company and approximately 170 employees will exit the Company in 2010; and

Lease termination obligations, other costs to consolidate or close facilities and other exit costs of \$10.4 million. During the year ended December 31, 2008, we recorded a \$31.4 million restructuring charge in connection with Financial Flexibility initiatives. The significant components of these charges included:

Severance and termination costs of \$27.5 million in accordance with the provisions of ASC 712-10 were recorded. Approximately 500 employees were impacted; and

Severance and termination costs of \$3.0 million in accordance with the provisions of ASC 420-10 were recorded. Approximately 40 employees were impacted.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we recorded a \$25.1 million restructuring charge in connection with Financial Flexibility initiatives. The significant components of these charges included:

Severance and termination costs of \$22.7 million in accordance with the provisions of ASC 420-10 were recorded. Approximately 315 employees were impacted; and

Lease termination obligations, other costs to consolidate or close facilities and other exit costs of \$2.4 million. The following table sets forth, in accordance with ASC 712-10 and/or ASC 420-10, the restructuring reserves and utilization related to our Financial Flexibility initiatives.

	Lease Termination Severance Obligations and and Other Termination Exit Costs				
Restructuring Charges:					
Balance Remaining as of January 1, 2007	\$ 7.4	\$ 6.3	\$ 13.7		
Charge Taken during the Year Ended December 31, 2007	22.7	2.4	25.1		
Payments during the Year Ended December 31, 2007	(23.9)	(8.5)	(32.4)		
Balance Remaining as of December 31, 2007	6.2	0.2	6.4		

Edgar Filing: DUN & BRADSTREET CORP/NW - Form 10-K

Charge Taken during the Year Ended December 31, 2008	30.5	0.9	31.4
Payments during the Year Ended December 31, 2008	(15.0)	(0.9)	(15.9)
Balance Remaining as of December 31, 2008	21.7	0.2	21.9
Charge Taken during the Year Ended December 31, 2009	12.7	10.4	23.1
Payments during the Year Ended December 31, 2009	(20.6)	(9.9)	(30.5)
Balance Remaining as of December 31, 2009	\$ 13.8	\$ 0.7	\$ 14.5

For initiatives taken during the year ended December 31, 2007, all actions were substantially completed.

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

#### Note 4. Acquisitions

#### ICC Holdings

During the third quarter of 2009, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Bisnode s UK operations and a 100% equity interest in Bisnode s Irish operations ( ICC ), with cash on hand. ICC is a large provider of risk and business information in the United Kingdom and Ireland markets. We believe that the acquisition of ICC will help drive significant operational efficiencies and improve the customer value proposition for our Risk Management Solutions business. The results of ICC have been included in our consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition.

The transaction was valued at \$17.2 million, including a working capital adjustment of \$0.2 million. Transaction costs of \$1.0 million were included in operating expenses in the statement of operations. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase transaction, and accordingly, the assets and liabilities of the acquired entity were recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of acquisition. The table below reflects the purchase price related to the acquisition and the resulting purchase price allocations:

	Amortization Life (years)	otal iisitions
Current Assets		\$ 8.2
Intangible Assets:		
Customer Relationships	11	3.9
Technology	5	4.0
Trademark	10	0.9
Database	5	4.0
Other		0.6
Total Assets Acquired		21.6
Current Liabilities		(4.3)
Noncurrent Liabilities		(0.1)
Total Liabilities Assumed		(4.4)
Total Purchase Price		\$ 17.2

No goodwill was recognized in this transaction. The intangible assets, with useful lives from 5 to 11 years, are being amortized over a weighted average useful life of 7.2 years and are recorded as Trademark, Patents and Other within Other Non-Current Assets in our consolidated balance sheet since the date of acquisition. The impact the acquisition would have had on our results had the acquisition occurred at the beginning of 2009 is not material, and, as such, pro forma financial results have not been presented.

We are in the process of finalizing the valuation of the acquired assets and liabilities assumed in connection with the acquisition.

### RoadWay International Limited

During the third quarter of 2009, we acquired a 90% equity interest in RoadWay International Limited (RoadWay), with cash on hand. RoadWay is the leading provider of integrated services of direct marketing in China. As part of the transaction, D&B Huaxia, our existing joint venture company with Huaxia in China, transferred its Sales & Marketing Solutions business into RoadWay. As a result, RoadWay will become the specialized Sales & Marketing Solutions arm in China, catering to customer needs in business and consumer database marketing. The results

# Edgar Filing: DUN & BRADSTREET CORP/NW - Form 10-K

of RoadWay have been included in our consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition.

90

#### **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)**

#### (Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

The transaction was valued at \$28.3 million. Transaction costs of \$0.7 million were included in operating expenses in the statement of operations. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase transaction, and accordingly, the assets and liabilities of the acquired entity were recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of acquisition. Based on the share purchase and share subscription agreement, the noncontrolling interest is estimated based on the fair value of the net assets acquired. The table below reflects the purchase price related to the acquisition and the resulting purchase price allocations:

	Amortization Life (years)	Fotal uisitions
Current Assets		\$ 5.3
Intangible Assets:		
Goodwill		21.6
Customer Relationships	5.5	1.1
Non Compete Agreement	1	
Technology	6	2.1
Trademark	7.5	0.6
Database	6.5	1.3
Other		0.2
Total Assets Acquired		32.2
Current Liabilities		(1.9)
Noncurrent Liabilities		(1.3)
Total Liabilities Assumed		(3.2)
Noncontrolling Interest		(0.7)
Total Purchase Price		\$ 28.3

The goodwill was assigned to our Greater China reporting unit. The primary item that generated the goodwill is the value of revenue growth and synergies between the acquired entity and our Sales & Marketing Solutions, catering to customers needs in business and consumer database marketing. The intangible assets, with useful lives from 1 to 7.5 years, are being amortized over a weighted-average useful life of 6.2 years and are recorded as Trademarks, Patents and Other within Other Non-Current Assets in our consolidated balance sheet since the date of acquisition. The impact the acquisition would have had on our results had the acquisition occurred at the beginning of 2009 is not material, and, as such, pro forma financial results have not been presented.

We are in the process of finalizing the valuation of the acquired assets and liabilities assumed in connection with the acquisition.

#### Quality Education Data

During the first quarter of 2009, we acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities related to Quality Education Data (QED) for \$29.0 million with cash on hand. QED is a provider of educational data and services located in Denver, Colorado. QED is a natural fit with our Sales & Marketing Solutions as both provide education marketers with high quality data and services. The results of QED have been included in our consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition.

91

#### **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)**

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

The transaction was valued at \$29.0 million. Transaction costs of \$0.8 million were included in operating expenses in the statement of operations. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase transaction, and accordingly, the assets and liabilities of the acquired entity were recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of acquisition. The table below reflects the purchase price related to the acquisition and the resulting purchase price allocations:

	Amortization Life (years)	Total uisitions
Current Assets		\$ 1.7
Intangible Assets:		
Goodwill		14.6
Customer Relationships	12	8.0
Technology	8	2.4
Trade Name	16.5	0.2
Database	7	2.5
Total Assets Acquired		29.4
Total Liabilities Assumed		(0.4)
Total Purchase Price		\$ 29.0

The goodwill was assigned to our North America reporting unit. The primary item that generated the goodwill is the value of revenue growth and synergies between the acquired entity and our Sales & Marketing Solutions as both provide education marketers with high quality data and services. The intangible assets, with useful lives from 7 to 16.5 years, are being amortized over a weighted-average useful life of 10.4 years and are recorded as Trademarks, Patents and Other within Other Non-Current Assets in our consolidated balance sheet since the date of acquisition. The impact the acquisition would have had on our results had the acquisition occurred at the beginning of 2009 is not material, and, as such, pro forma financial results have not been presented.

We are in the process of finalizing the valuation of the acquired assets and liabilities assumed in connection with the acquisition.

## Dun & Bradstreet Information Services India Private Limited

On November 25, 2008, we increased our indirect minority ownership stake in Dun & Bradstreet Information Services India Private Limited ( D&B India ) to a 53% direct majority ownership stake with cash on hand. D&B India is the premier provider of credit information and sales and marketing solutions in India. Our majority stake in D&B India will allow us to provide global customers with even higher levels of information and insight on businesses in India. Prior to the transaction, D&B India was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Dun & Bradstreet South Asia Middle East Limited ( D&B SAME ), our existing Indian and Middle Eastern joint venture partner. D&B SAME remains a minority owner of D&B India. The results of D&B India have been included in our consolidated financial statements since the date we established a majority ownership interest stake.

The transaction was valued at \$49.3 million, inclusive of transaction costs of \$2.6 million. The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. As a result, the purchase price was allocated to acquired tangible assets and liabilities assumed on the basis of their respective fair values with the remaining purchase price recognized as goodwill and intangible assets of \$35.0 million and \$11.8 million, respectively. The goodwill was assigned to our India reporting unit. Of the \$11.8 million of acquired intangible assets, \$2.5 million was assigned to the tradename, \$8.7 million was assigned to customer relationships and \$0.6 million was assigned to an exclusive license. The intangible assets, with useful lives from 5 to 18 years, are being amortized

92

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

over a weighted-average useful life of 15.2 years and are recorded as Trademarks, Patents and Other within Other Non-Current Assets in our consolidated balance sheet since the date of acquisition. The impact the acquisition would have had on our results had the acquisition occurred at the beginning of 2008 is not material, and, as such, pro forma financial results have not been presented. The goodwill and intangible assets are inclusive of a \$4.0 million adjustment related to the fair value of goodwill and intangibles made during the year ended December 31, 2009.

HC International, Inc./D&B China Joint Venture

On November 28, 2008, we entered into an agreement with HC International Inc. to establish two joint ventures to grow our market research business in China with cash on hand. HC International Inc. is one of the leading e-commerce companies in China. The alliance with HC International Inc. will leverage our strength and give us immediate scale to grow our market research business in China. Under the agreement, D&B and HC International Inc. established two joint venture structures including Beijing D&B HuiCong Market Research Co., LTD (Sales JV) and Beijing HuiCong Market Research Co. Ltd (Fulfillment JV), in which D&B has a 60% and 30% interest, respectively. The joint ventures began business operations in fiscal 2009, therefore, the results of the Sales JV operations are included in our consolidated financial statements as of such date. The investment in the Fulfillment JV is accounted for as an equity investment.

The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting and accounting for nonmonetary transactions. The transaction was valued at \$6.4 million, inclusive of transaction costs of \$1.3 million. Pursuant to the accounting for nonmonetary transactions, we were required to recognize a gain of \$0.6 million related to the minority owner s share of the difference between the fair value of our contributed business and its carrying amount. The purchase price was allocated to tangible assets and liabilities on the basis of their respective fair values with the remaining purchase price recognized as goodwill and intangible assets of \$5.9 million and \$1.5 million, respectively. The goodwill was assigned to our Greater China reporting unit. Of the \$1.5 million of acquired intangible assets, \$1.2 million was assigned to customer relationships and \$0.3 million was assigned to tradename. These intangible assets, with useful lives from 1 to 7.5 years, are being amortized over a weighted-average useful life of 4.2 years and are recorded as Trademarks, Patents and Other within Other Non-Current Assets in our consolidated balance sheet since the date of acquisition. The impact the acquisition would have had on our results had the acquisition occurred at the beginning of 2008 is not material, and, as such, pro forma financial results have not been presented. The goodwill is inclusive of a \$0.4 million deferred tax liability adjustment made for the year ended December 31, 2009.

## Visible Path

During the first quarter of 2008, we acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities related to Visible Path for \$4.2 million with cash on hand. Visible Path was a web-based social networking service provider located in Foster City, California. We acquired the business in connection with the execution of our Internet strategy. The results of Visible Path have been included in our consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition. The impact the acquisition would have had on our results had the acquisition occurred at the beginning of 2008 is not material, and, as such, pro forma financial results have not been presented. As of year end 2009, all the intangible assets associated with Visible Path were written off.

## Treatment of Goodwill

The acquisition of QED was an asset acquisition and, as a result, the associated goodwill is deductible for tax purposes. However, the goodwill associated with RoadWay, D&B India and HC International Inc./D&B Joint Venture are not deductible for tax purposes.

# Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

#### **Note 5. Income Taxes**

Income before provision for income taxes consisted of:

	For the Years Ended December 31,		
	2009	2008	2007
U.S.	\$ 332.4	\$ 345.8	\$ 322.9
Non-U.S.	100.1	93.1	103.4
Income from Continuing Operations Before Provision for Income Taxes and Equity in Net Income of			
Affiliates	\$ 432.5	\$ 438.9	\$ 426.3

The provision for income taxes consisted of:

		For the Years Ended December 31,	
	2009	2008	2007
Current Tax Provision:			
U.S. Federal	\$ 75.2	\$ 87.5	\$ 64.5
State and Local	11.8	18.6	18.5
Non-U.S.	10.1	1.6	26.9
Total Current Tax Provision	97.1	107.7	109.9
Deferred Tax Provision:			
U.S. Federal	10.8	15.8	18.2
State and Local	1.5	1.7	2.1
Non-U.S.	2.7	2.8	5.6
Total Deferred Tax Provision	15.0	20.3	25.9
Provision for Income Taxes	\$ 112.1	\$ 128.0	\$ 135.8

The following table summarizes the significant differences between the U.S. Federal statutory tax rate and our effective tax rate for financial statement purposes.

	For	For the Years Ended		
	]	December 31,		
	2009	2008	2007	
Statutory Tax Rate	35.0%	35.0%	35.0%	
State and Local Taxes, net of U.S. Federal Tax Benefit	2.0	2.9	3.1	
Non-U.S. Taxes	(3.4)	(1.2)	1.2	

# Edgar Filing: DUN & BRADSTREET CORP/NW - Form 10-K

Valuation Allowance	(1.2)	(1.2)	(0.2)
Interest	0.6	0.7	0.8
Tax Credits and Deductions	(0.9)	(1.0)	(0.7)
Settlement of Foreign Audits		(3.1)	
Tax Contingencies Related to Uncertain Tax Positions	3.2	(3.0)	(7.2)
Worldwide Legal Entity Simplification	(9.2)		
Other	(0.2)	0.1	(0.1)
Effective Tax Rate	25.9%	29.2%	31.9%

#### **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)**

### (Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Income taxes paid were \$92.7 million, \$101.8 million and \$74.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Income taxes refunded were \$6.7 million, \$38.2 million and \$22.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) are comprised of the following:

		December 31, 2009 2008	
Deferred Tax Assets:	2005		
Operating Losses	\$ 58.3	\$ 54.9	
Fixed Assets		3.3	
Restructuring Costs	6.0	8.6	
Bad Debts	6.2	5.7	
Accrued Expenses	19.3	22.8	
Investments	12.9	11.6	
Other	1.1		
Minimum Pension Liability	319.1	316.5	
Total Deferred Tax Assets	422.9	423.4	
Valuation Allowance	(41.2)	(43.7)	
		Ì	
Net Deferred Tax Assets	381.7	379.7	
The Botolica Tax Hoods	301.7	317.1	
Deferred Tax Liabilities:			
Pension and Postretirement Benefits	(122.5)	(122.6)	
Intangibles	(61.7)	(48.0)	
Fixed Assets	(6.1)	Ì	
Other		(3.0)	
		ì	
Total Deferred Tax Liabilities	(190.3)	(173.6)	
Tom Beloned Tax Baomites	(170.3)	(175.0)	
Net Deferred Tax Assets	\$ 191.4	\$ 206.1	

We have not provided for U.S. deferred income taxes or foreign withholding taxes on \$501.4 million of undistributed earnings of our non-U.S. subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009, since we intend to reinvest these earnings indefinitely. Additionally, we have not determined the tax liability if such earnings were remitted to the U.S., as the determination of such liability is not practicable. See Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for our significant accounting policy related to income taxes.

We have federal, state and local, and foreign tax loss carry forwards, the tax effect of which was \$57.8 million as of December 31, 2009. Approximately \$48.0 million of these tax benefits have an indefinite carry forward period. The remainder of \$9.8 million expires at various times between 2010 and 2028.

We have established a valuation allowance against U.S. and non-U.S. net operating losses in the amount of \$28.6 million, \$25.0 million and \$31.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively, that, in the opinion of our management, are more likely than not to expire before we can utilize them.

We utilize a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. As a result of the implementation of authoritative guidance on January 1, 2007 related to the accounting for

# Edgar Filing: DUN & BRADSTREET CORP/NW - Form 10-K

uncertainty in income taxes recognized in

95

### **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)**

### (Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

the financial statements, we recognized \$34.1 million (net of tax benefits) in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits, which was accounted for as a reduction to the January 1, 2007 balance of retained earnings.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, we increased our unrecognized tax benefits by \$28.3 million (net of decreases). The increase primarily relates to the implementation of a worldwide legal entity simplification and global tax planning initiatives.

The total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 were \$136.9 million, \$108.6 million and \$131.8 million, respectively. The following is a reconciliation of the gross unrecognized tax benefits.

Gross Unrecognized Tax Benefits as of January 1, 2007	\$ 136.5
Additions for Prior Years Tax Positions	47.3
Additions for Current Years Tax Positions	15.4
Settlements with Taxing Authorities	(11.1)
Reduction Due to Expired Statute of Limitations	(56.3)
Gross Unrecognized Tax Benefits as of December 31, 2007	131.8
Additions for Prior Years Tax Positions	2.7
Additions for Current Years Tax Positions	16.6
Reduction in Prior Year Tax Positions	(26.5)
Reduction Due to Expired Statute of Limitations	(16.0)
Gross Unrecognized Tax Benefits as of December 31, 2008	108.6
Additions for Prior Years Tax Positions	2.8
Additions for Current Years Tax Positions	28.7
Reduction in Prior Years Tax Positions	(1.0)
Reduction Due to Expired Statute of Limitations	(2.2)
Gross Unrecognized Tax Benefits as of December 31, 2009	\$ 136.9

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would impact the effective tax rate is \$106.8 million, net of tax benefits. We believe it is reasonably possible that the unrecognized tax benefits could decrease within the next twelve months, by approximately \$23 million, as a result of not pursuing certain refund claims.

We or one of our subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S. federal, and various state, local and foreign jurisdictions. In the U.S. federal jurisdiction, we are no longer subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) for years prior to 2004. In state and local jurisdictions, with a few exceptions, we are no longer subject to examinations by tax authorities for years prior to 2006. In foreign jurisdictions, with a few exceptions, we are no longer subject to examinations by tax authorities for years prior to 2005. The IRS is currently examining our 2004, 2005 and 2006 tax years and we expect the examination to be completed during the first quarter of 2011.

We recognize accrued interest expense related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. The total amount of interest expense, net of tax benefits, recognized for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was \$2.9 million, \$3.0 million and \$3.6 million, respectively. The total amount of accrued interest as of December 31, 2009 was \$10.1 million, net of tax benefits, as compared to \$7.2 million, net of tax benefits, as of December 31, 2008.

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

### Note 6. Notes Payable and Indebtedness

Our borrowings are summarized in the following table:

	Dec 2009	cember 31, 2008
Debt Maturing Within One Year:		
Other	\$ 1.	7 \$ 0.5
Total Debt Maturing Within One Year	\$ 1.	7 \$ 0.5
Debt Maturing After One Year:		
Long-Term Fixed-Rate Notes (Net of a \$0.2 million and a \$0.3 million discount as of December 31, 2009 and 2008,		
respectively)	\$ 699.	8 \$ 699.7
Credit Facilities	259.	4 203.4
Other	2.	6 1.2
Total Dakt Maturing After One Veer	\$ 961.	8 \$ 904.3
Total Debt Maturing After One Year	<b>ъ</b> 901.	o \$ 904.5

### Fixed-Rate Notes

In April 2008, we issued senior notes with a face value of \$400 million that mature on April 1, 2013 (the 2013 notes), bearing interest at a fixed annual rate of 6.00%, payable semi-annually. The interest rate applicable to the 2013 notes is subject to adjustment if our debt rating is decreased four levels below our A- credit rating on the date of issuance of the 2013 notes or subsequently upgraded. The maximum adjustment is 2.00% above the initial interest rate. As of December 31, 2009, no such adjustments to the interest rate have been made. Proceeds from this issuance were used to repay indebtedness under our credit facility. The 2013 notes are recorded as Long-Term Debt in our audited consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2009.

The 2013 notes were issued at face value and, in connection with the issuance, we incurred underwriting and other fees of \$3.0 million. These costs are being amortized over the life of the 2013 notes. The 2013 notes contain certain covenants that limit our ability to create liens, enter into sale and leaseback transactions and consolidate, merge or sell assets to another entity. The 2013 notes do not contain any financial covenants.

On January 30, 2008, we entered into interest rate derivative transactions with an aggregate notional amount of \$400 million. The objective of these hedges was to mitigate the variability of future cash flows from market changes in Treasury rates in the anticipation of the issuance of the 2013 notes. These transactions were accounted for as cash flow hedges and, as such, changes in fair value of the hedges that took place through the date of the issuance of the 2013 notes were recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income or AOCI. In connection with the issuance of the 2013 notes, these interest rate derivative transactions were executed, resulting in a payment of \$8.5 million on March 28, 2008, the date of termination. The payments are recorded in AOCI and will be amortized over the life of the 2013 notes.

In March 2006, we issued senior notes with a face value of \$300 million that mature on March 15, 2011 (the 2011 notes), bearing interest at a fixed annual rate of 5.50%, payable semi-annually. The proceeds were used to repay our then existing \$300 million senior notes, bearing interest at a fixed annual rate of 6.625% which matured on March 15, 2006. The 2011 notes of \$299.8 million and \$299.7 million, net of \$0.2 million and \$0.3 million remaining discounts, are recorded as Long-Term Debt in our audited consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively.

97

### **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)**

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

The 2011 notes were issued at a discount of \$0.8 million and, in connection with the issuance, we incurred underwriting and other fees of \$2.2 million. These costs are being amortized over the life of the 2011 notes. The 2011 notes contain certain covenants that limit our ability to create liens, enter into sale and leaseback transactions and consolidate, merge or sell assets to another entity. The 2011 notes do not contain any financial covenants.

On February 10, 2006 and September 30, 2005, we entered into interest rate derivative transactions with aggregate notional amounts of \$100 million and \$200 million, respectively. The objective of these hedges was to mitigate the variability of future cash flows from market changes in Treasury rates in the anticipation of the issuance of the 2011 notes. These transactions were accounted for as cash flow hedges and, as such, changes in fair value of the hedges that took place through the date of the issuance of the 2011 notes were recorded in AOCI. In connection with the issuance of the 2011 notes, these interest rate derivative transactions were executed, resulting in proceeds of \$5.0 million at the date of termination. The proceeds are recorded in AOCI and are being amortized over the life of the 2011 notes.

### Credit Facilities

At December 31, 2009, we had a \$650 million, five-year bank revolving credit facility, which expires in April 2012. Borrowings under the \$650 million credit facility are available at prevailing short-term interest rates. The facility requires the maintenance of interest coverage and total debt to Earnings Before Income Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA) ratios (defined in the credit agreement). We were in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2009 and at December 31, 2008.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, we had \$259.4 million and \$203.4 million, respectively, of borrowings outstanding under the \$650 million credit facility with weighted average interest rates of 0.47% and 0.88%, respectively. We borrowed under these facilities from time-to-time during the year ended December 31, 2009 to fund our share repurchases, acquisition strategy and working capital needs. The \$650 million credit facility also supports our commercial paper borrowings of up to \$300 million (limited by borrowed amounts outstanding under the facility). We did not borrow under our commercial paper program during 2009 and 2008.

In January 2009 and December 2008, we entered into interest rate swap agreements with aggregate notional amounts of \$25 million and \$75 million, respectively, and designated these swaps as cash flow hedges against variability in cash flows related to our \$650 million credit facility. These transactions were accounted for as cash flow hedges and, as such, changes in fair value of the hedges are recorded in AOCI. Approximately \$0.8 million of net derivative losses associated with these swaps was included in AOCI at December 31, 2009.

### Other

At December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, certain of our International operations had non-committed lines of credit of \$9.6 million and \$8.2 million, respectively. There were no borrowings outstanding under these lines of credit at December 31, 2009 or December 31, 2008. These arrangements have no material commitment fees and no compensating balance requirements.

At December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, we were contingently liable under open standby letters of credit issued by our bank in favor of third parties totaling \$9.6 million and \$3.7 million, respectively.

Interest paid for all outstanding debt totaled \$43.7 million, \$41.0 million and \$27.9 million during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

#### **Note 7. Financial Instruments**

We employ established policies and procedures to manage our exposure to changes in interest rates and foreign currencies. We use foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge short-term foreign currency denominated loans, investments and certain third-party and intercompany transactions. From time-to-time, we use foreign exchange option contracts to reduce our International earnings exposure to adverse changes in foreign exchange rates. In addition, from time-to-time, we use interest rate derivatives to hedge a portion of the interest rate exposure on our outstanding debt or in anticipation of future debt issuance, as discussed under—Interest Rate Risk Management—below.

We do not use derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. If a hedging instrument ceases to qualify as a hedge, any subsequent gains and losses are recognized currently in income. Collateral is generally not required for these types of instruments.

By their nature, all such instruments involve risk, including the credit risk of non-performance by counterparties. However, at December 31, 2009 and 2008, in our opinion, there was no significant risk of loss in the event of non-performance of the counterparties to these financial instruments. We control our exposure to credit risk through monitoring procedures.

Our trade receivables do not represent a significant concentration of credit risk at December 31, 2009 and 2008, because we sell to a large number of customers in different geographical locations.

We recognize all derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities at fair value in the statement of financial position. We recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and measure those instruments at fair value. In accordance with authoritative guidance, we designate our current outstanding interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges.

For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative is reported as a component of other comprehensive income and reclassified to earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Gains and losses on the derivative representing either hedge ineffectiveness or hedge components excluded from the assessment of effectiveness are recognized in current earnings.

### Interest Rate Risk Management

Our objective in managing exposure to interest rates is to limit the impact of interest rate changes on our earnings, cash flows and financial position, and to lower overall borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives, we maintain a policy that floating-rate debt be managed within a minimum and maximum range of our total debt exposure. To manage our exposure and limit volatility, we may use fixed-rate debt, floating-rate debt and/or interest rate swaps.

In January 2009 and December 2008, we entered into interest rate swap agreements with an aggregate notional amount of \$25 million and \$75 million, respectively, and designated these swaps as cash flow hedges against variability in cash flows related to our bank revolving credit facility. These transactions were accounted for as cash flow hedges and, as such, changes in fair value of the hedges are recorded in AOCI. At December 31, 2009, the balance of net derivative losses associated with these swaps included in AOCI was \$0.8 million.

In January 2008, we entered into interest rate derivative transactions with aggregate notional amounts of \$400 million. The objective of these hedges was to mitigate the variability of future cash flows from market changes in Treasury rates in the anticipation of the below referenced debt issuance. These transactions were

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

accounted for as cash flow hedges and, as such, changes in fair value of the hedges that took place through the date of debt issuance were recorded in AOCI. In connection with the issuance of the 2013 notes, these interest rate derivative transactions were executed, resulting in a payment of \$8.5 million at the date of termination. The payments are recorded in AOCI, and will be amortized over the life of the 2013 notes.

In February 2006 and September 2005, we entered into interest rate derivative transactions with aggregate notional amounts of \$100 million and \$200 million, respectively. The objective of these hedges was to mitigate the variability of future cash flows from market changes in Treasury rates in the anticipation of the below referenced debt issuance. These transactions were accounted for as cash flow hedges, and as such, changes in fair value of the hedges that took place through the date of debt issuance were recorded in AOCI. In connection with the issuance of the 2011 notes, these interest rate derivative transactions were executed, resulting in proceeds of \$5.0 million at the date of termination. The proceeds are recorded in AOCI and will be amortized over the life of the 2011 notes.

At December 31, 2006, we had a \$300 million bank revolving credit facility available at prevailing short-term interest rates, which we terminated on April 19, 2007, and then entered into a new \$500 million, five-year bank revolving credit facility, which expires in April 2012. On January 25, 2008, we exercised a \$150 million expansion feature on our \$500 million credit facility expanding the total facility to \$650 million. Borrowings under the \$650 million credit facility are available at prevailing short-term interest rates. At December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, we had \$259.4 million and \$203.4 million of floating-rate debt outstanding under the facility, respectively.

A 100 basis point increase/decrease in the weighted average interest rate on our outstanding variable rate debt at December 31, 2009 would result in an incremental increase/decrease in annual interest expense of approximately \$2 million.

### Foreign Exchange Risk Management

Our objective in managing exposure to foreign currency fluctuations is to reduce the volatility caused by foreign exchange rate changes on the earnings, cash flows and financial position of our International operations. We follow a policy of hedging balance sheet positions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency applicable to each of our various subsidiaries. In addition, we are subject to foreign exchange risk associated with our International earnings and investments. We use short-term, foreign exchange forward and option contracts to implement our hedging strategies. Typically, these contracts have maturities of twelve months or less. These contracts are denominated primarily in the British pound sterling, the Euro and Canadian dollar. The gains and losses on the forward contracts associated with the balance sheet positions hedge are recorded in Other Income (Expense) Net in our consolidated financial statements and are essentially offset by the gains and losses on the underlying foreign currency transactions.

As in prior years, we have hedged substantially all balance sheet positions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency applicable to each of our various subsidiaries with short-term forward foreign exchange contracts. In addition, from time-to-time, we use foreign exchange option contracts to hedge certain foreign earnings and foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge certain net investment positions. The underlying transactions and the corresponding forward exchange and option contracts are marked-to-market at the end of each quarter and are reflected within our consolidated financial statements.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, we did not have any option contracts outstanding. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, we had notional amounts of \$271.0 million and \$254.5 million, respectively, of foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding that offset foreign currency denominated loans. Realized gains and losses

100

### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

associated with these contracts were \$24.9 million and \$13.6 million, respectively, at December 31, 2009; \$16.2 million and \$41.8 million, respectively, at December 31, 2007. Unrealized gains and losses associated with these contracts were \$0.6 million and \$0.2 million, respectively, at December 31, 2009; \$0.4 million and \$2.8 million, respectively, at December 31, 2007.

### Fair Values of Derivative Instruments in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2009

	Asset Derivatives 2009	Asset Derivatives 2009		ives
	Balance Sheet Location	Fair Value	Balance Sheet Location	Fair Value
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:				
			Other Accrued &	
Interest rate contracts	Other Current Assets	\$	Current Liabilities	\$ 0.8
Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments		\$		\$ 0.8
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:				
			Other Accrued &	
Foreign exchange contracts	Other Current Assets	\$ 0.6	Current Liabilities	\$ 0.2
Total derivatives not designated as hedging instruments		\$ 0.6		\$ 0.2
Total Derivatives		\$ 0.6		\$ 1.0

The Effect of Derivative Instruments on the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2009:

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships	Amount of Gain or (Loss) Recognized in OCI on Derivative (Effective Portion) For the Year Ended December 31, 2009	Location of Gain or (Loss) Reclassified from Accumulated OCI Into Income (Effective Portion)	Amount of Gain or (Loss) Reclassified from Accumulated OCI on Into Income (Effective Portion) For the Year Ended December 31, 2009 \$ (1.4)	Location of Gain or (Loss) Recognized in Income on Derivative (Ineffective Portion and Amount Excluded from Effectiveness Testing)	Amount of Gain or (Loss) Recognized in Income on Derivative (Ineffective Portion and Amount Excluded from Effectiveness Testing) For the Year Ended December 31, 2009
Interest rate contracts	\$ (0.1)		\$ (1.4)		\$

## Edgar Filing: DUN & BRADSTREET CORP/NW - Form 10-K

Non-Operating
Income
Income
(Expenses) Net
(Expenses) Net

Our forward exchange contracts and foreign exchange options are not designated as hedging instruments under authoritative guidance.

101

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

The Effect of Derivative Instruments on the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2009:

Derivatives not Designated as Hedging Instruments	Location of Gain or (Loss) Recognized in Income on Derivative	Amount of (Los Recogn in Incor Deriva For the Yes	ss) nized ne On ative ar Ended
		200	/
Forward exchange contracts	Non-Operating Income (Expenses) Net	\$	13.9

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our financial assets and liabilities that are reflected in the consolidated financial statements include derivative financial instruments. We use short-term foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge short-term foreign currency-denominated loans, investments and certain third-party and intercompany transactions and, from time-to-time, we have used foreign exchange option contracts to reduce our International earnings exposure to adverse changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Fair value for derivative financial instruments is determined utilizing a market approach.

We have an established and well-documented process for determining fair values. Fair value is based upon quoted market prices, where available. If listed prices or quotes are not available, we use quotes from independent pricing vendors based on recent trading activity and other relevant information including market interest rate curves and referenced credit spreads.

In addition to utilizing external valuations, we conduct our own internal assessment of the reasonableness of the external valuations by utilizing a variety of valuation techniques including Black-Scholes option pricing and discounted cash flow models that are consistently applied. Inputs to these models include observable market data such as yield curves, and foreign exchange rates where applicable. Our assessments are designed to identify prices that appear stale, those that have changed significantly from prior valuations and other anomalies that may indicate that a price may not be accurate. We also follow established routines for reviewing and reconfirming valuations with the pricing provider, if deemed appropriate. In addition, the pricing vendor has an established challenge process in place for all valuations, which facilitates identification and resolution of potentially erroneous prices. Valuation adjustments may be made to ensure that financial instruments are recorded at fair value. These adjustments include amounts to reflect counterparty credit quality, and our own creditworthiness and constraints on liquidity. For non-active markets that do not have observable pricing or sufficient trading volumes, or for positions that are subject to transfer restrictions, valuations are adjusted to reflect illiquidity and/or non-transferability. Such adjustments are generally based on available market evidence. In the absence of such evidence, management s best estimate will be used.

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while we believe our valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting date.

### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

The following table summarizes fair value measurements by level at December 31, 2009 for assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

	Qu	oted				
	Pric	ces in				
	Mark Idei	etive xets for ntical	Obse	ificant ther rvable	Significant Unobservable	lance at
		sets vel I)		puts vel II)	Inputs (Level III)	ember 31, 2009
Assets:						
Cash Equivalents(1)	\$	106.7	\$		\$	\$ 106.7
Other Current Assets:						
Foreign Exchange Forwards(2)	\$		\$	0.6	\$	\$ 0.6
Liabilities:						
Other Accrued and Current Liabilities:						
Foreign Exchange Forwards(2)	\$		\$	0.2	\$	\$ 0.2
Swap Arrangement(3)	\$		\$	0.8	\$	\$ 0.8

- (1) Cash equivalents represent fair value as it consists of highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the time of maturity.
- (2) Primarily represents foreign currency forward contracts. Fair value is determined utilizing a market approach and considers a factor for nonperformance in the valuation.
- (3) Primarily represents our interest rate swap agreements.

The following table summarizes fair value measurements by level at December 31, 2008 for assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

	Quoted				
	Prices in				
	Active Markets for Identical Assets (Level I)	Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level II)	Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level III)	Dece	lance at ember 31, 2008
Assets:					
Cash Equivalents(1)	\$ 110.7	\$	\$	\$	110.7
Other Current Assets:					
Foreign Exchange Forwards(2)	\$	\$ 0.4	\$	\$	0.4

## Edgar Filing: DUN & BRADSTREET CORP/NW - Form 10-K

Liabilities:			
Other Accrued and Current Liabilities:			
Foreign Exchange Forwards(2)	\$ \$	2.8	\$ \$ 2.5
Swap Arrangement(3)	\$ \$	0.7	\$ \$ 0.

- (1) Cash equivalents represent fair value as it consists of highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the time of maturity.
- (2) Primarily represents foreign currency forward contracts. Fair value is determined utilizing a market approach and considers a factor for nonperformance in the valuation.
- (3) Primarily represents our interest rate swap agreements.

103

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

### Items Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

In addition to assets and liabilities that are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis, we are required to record assets and liabilities at fair value on a nonrecurring basis as required by GAAP. Generally, assets are recorded at fair value on a nonrecurring basis as a result of impairment charges. During the year ended December 31, 2009, we recorded an impairment charge of \$3.0 million related to certain intangible assets of Visible Path. See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We determined that the new cost basis of Visible Path is zero based on Level III inputs.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, our financial instruments included cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other receivables, accounts payable, short-term and long-term borrowings and foreign exchange forward and option contracts.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the fair value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other receivables and accounts payable approximated carrying value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The estimated fair values of other financial instruments subject to fair value disclosures, determined based on third-party quotes from financial institutions, are as follows:

		Dece	ember 31,		
	200	09		2008	
	Carrying Amount		Carrying Amount		
	(Asset)	Fair Value	(Asset)	Fai	r Value
	Liability	(Asset) Liability	Liability	(Asset	) Liability
Long-term Debt	\$ 699.8	\$ 747.7	\$ 699.7	\$	687.3
Credit Facilities	\$ 259.4	\$ 254.8	\$ 203.4	\$	211.7

### Note 8. Capital Stock

The total number of shares of all classes of stock that we have authority to issue under our Certificate of Incorporation is 220,000,000 shares, of which 200,000,000 shares, par value \$0.01 per share, represent Common Stock (the Common Stock); 10,000,000 shares, par value \$0.01 per share, represent Preferred Stock (the Preferred Stock); and 10,000,000 shares, par value \$0.01 per share, represent Series Common Stock (the Series Common Stock). The Preferred Stock and the Series Common Stock can be issued with varying terms, as determined by our Board of Directors. Our Board of Directors has designated 500,000 shares of the Preferred Stock as Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value \$0.01 per share, and 1,400,000 shares of the Preferred Stock as Series B Preferred Stock, par value \$0.01 per share.

In August 2000, in connection with our separation from Moody s (see Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K), we entered into a Rights Agreement with our Rights Agent Computershare Limited, formerly known as EquiServe Trust Company, N.A. In 2009, we changed our Rights Agent to Mellon Investor Services LLC. The Rights Agreement was designed to:

minimize the prospects of changes in control that could jeopardize the tax-free nature of the separation by assuring meaningful Board of Directors involvement in any such proposed transaction; and

enable us to develop our businesses and foster our long-term growth without disruptions caused by the threat of a change in control not deemed by our Board of Directors to be in the best interests of shareholders.

104

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Under the Rights Agreement, each share of our Common Stock has a right that trades with the stock until the right becomes exercisable. Each right entitles the registered holder to purchase one one-thousandth of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value \$0.01 per share, at a price of \$125 per one one-thousandth of a share, subject to adjustment. The rights will generally not be exercisable until a person or group (an Acquiring Person ) acquires beneficial ownership of, or commences a tender offer or exchange offer that would result in such person or group having beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the outstanding Common Stock.

In the event that any person or group becomes an Acquiring Person, each right will thereafter entitle its holder (other than the Acquiring Person) to receive, upon exercise of a right and payment of the adjusted purchase price, that number of shares of our Common Stock having a market value of two times the purchase price.

In the event that, after a person or group has become an Acquiring Person, we are acquired by another person in a merger or other business combination transaction, or 50% or more of our consolidated assets or earning power are sold, each right will entitle its holder (other than the Acquiring Person) to receive, upon exercise, that number of shares of common stock of the person with whom we have engaged in the foregoing transaction (or its parent) having a market value of two times the purchase price.

We may redeem the rights, which expire on August 15, 2010, for \$0.01 per right, under certain circumstances.

### Preferred Stock Issuance

On February 24, 2009, we authorized 1,400,000 shares of 4.0% Series B Preferred Stock (Series B Preferred Stock) and issued 1,345,757 of such shares to a wholly-owned subsidiary in an intercompany transaction in exchange for \$1.2 billion of outstanding intercompany debt. This transaction was eliminated in the consolidation. This transaction was undertaken in connection with worldwide legal entity simplification. The Series B Preferred Stock was issued pursuant to an exemption from registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The terms of the Series B Preferred Stock were set forth in a Certificate of Designation amending our Certificate of Incorporation effective as of February 24, 2009.

### Note 9. Earnings Per Share

Effective January 1, 2009, we updated our policy to reflect the authoritative guidance in ASC 260-10, which clarifies that instruments granted in share-based payment transactions (e.g., stock-based awards) are participating securities prior to vesting and, therefore, need to be included in the earnings allocation in computing EPS under the two-class method. The two-class method requires earnings to be allocated between common shareholders and holders of participating securities. All outstanding unvested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends are considered to be a separate class of common stock and should be included in the calculation of basic and diluted EPS. The EPS calculation is applied retrospectively to all prior-period EPS data presented. The impact of the adoption resulted in a four-cent and two-cent decrease to our basic and diluted EPS for each of the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Based on a review of our stock-based awards, we have determined that only our restricted stock awards are deemed participating securities. The weighted average restricted shares outstanding was 0.4 million shares for each of the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

105

### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

	For the Years Ended December 31,			
	2009	2008	2007	
Income From Continuing Operations Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders	\$ 319.4	\$ 309.5	\$ 292.7	
Less: Allocation to Participating Securities	(2.2)	(2.2)	(1.9)	
Income from Continuing Operations Applicable to D&B Common Shareholders Basic  Effect of Dilutive Shares Universited Stock	317.2	307.3	290.8	
Income from Continuing Operations Applicable to Common Shareholders Diluted	317.2	307.3	290.8	
Income from Discontinued Operations Net of Income taxes		1.1	5.4	
Net Income Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders Basic	\$ 317.2	\$ 308.4	\$ 296.2	
Net Income Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders Diluted	\$ 317.2	\$ 308.4	\$ 296.2	
Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding Basic	52.3	54.4	58.3	
Dilutive Effect of Our Stock Incentive Plans	0.6	0.9	1.3	
Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding Diluted	52.9	55.3	59.6	
Basic Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:			<b>.</b>	
Income From Continuing Operations Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders	\$ 6.06	\$ 5.65	\$ 4.99	
Income from Discontinued Operations Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders		0.02	0.09	
Net Income Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders	\$ 6.06	\$ 5.67	\$ 5.08	
Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:				
Income From Continuing Operations Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders	\$ 5.99	\$ 5.56	\$ 4.88	
Income from Discontinued Operations Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders		0.02	0.09	
Net Income Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders	\$ 5.99	\$ 5.58	\$ 4.97	

Stock-based awards to acquire 1.1 million, 0.7 million and 0.4 million shares of common stock were outstanding at December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the assumed proceeds, as calculated under the treasury stock method, resulted in these awards being anti-dilutive. Our options generally expire 10 years from the grant date.

The following table sets forth our share repurchases:

	2009		or the Years Ende	,	2007	
Program	Shares	\$ Amount	Shares (Share Data in	\$ Amount n millions)	Shares	\$ Amount
Share Repurchase Programs	1.9(a)(b)	\$ 150.0	3.5(b)(c)	\$ 299.5	3.3(c)(d)	\$ 298.2
Repurchases to Mitigate the Dilutive Effect of the Shares Issued Under Our Stock Incentive Plans and Employee Stock Purchase Plan	1.0(e)	75.6	0.9(e)	82.4	1.2(e)	110.3

# Edgar Filing: DUN & BRADSTREET CORP/NW - Form 10-K

(ESPP)

Total Repurchases 2.9 \$ 225.6 4.4 \$ 381.9 4.5 \$ 408.5

106

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

- (a) In February 2009, our Board of Directors approved a \$200 million share repurchase program which commenced in December 2009. During the year ended December 31, 2009, we repurchased 0.2 million shares of common stock for \$22.7 million under this share repurchase program. We anticipate that this program will be completed by December 2011.
- (b) In December 2007, our Board of Directors approved a \$400 million, two-year share repurchase program which commenced in February 2008. During the year ended December 31, 2009, we repurchased 1.7 million shares of common stock for \$127.3 million under this share repurchase program. During the year ended December 31, 2008, we repurchased 3.2 million shares of common stock for \$272.7 million under this share repurchase program. This program was completed in December 2009.
- (c) In May 2007, our Board of Directors approved a \$200 million, one-year share repurchase program which commenced in July 2007. During the year ended December 31, 2008, we repurchased 0.3 million shares of common stock for \$26.8 million under this share repurchase program. During the year ended December 31, 2007, we repurchased 1.9 million shares of common stock for \$173.2 million under this share repurchase program. This program was completed in February 2008.
- (d) In August 2006, our Board of Directors approved a \$200 million, one-year share repurchase program which commenced in October 2006. During the year ended December 31, 2007, we repurchased 1.4 million shares of common stock for \$125.0 million under this share repurchase program. This program was completed in July 2007.
- (e) In August 2006, our Board of Directors approved a four-year, five million share repurchase program to mitigate the dilutive effect of the shares issued under our stock incentive plans and ESPP. This program expires in August 2010. We anticipate that this program will be completed prior to maturity in August 2010.

### Note 10. Pension and Postretirement Benefits

Through June 30, 2007, we offered substantially all of our U.S.-based employees coverage under a defined benefit plan called The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Retirement Account (U.S. Qualified Plan). The defined benefit plan covered active and retired employees including retired individuals from spin-off companies (see Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion of spin-off companies). The benefits to be paid upon retirement are based on a percentage of the employee s annual compensation. The percentage of compensation allocated annually to a retirement account ranged from 3% to 12.5%, based on age and service. Amounts allocated under the plan also receive interest credits based on the 30-year Treasury rate or equivalent rate published by the Internal Revenue Service. Pension costs are determined actuarially and funded in accordance with the IRS. We also maintain supplemental and excess plans in the United States (U.S. Non-Qualified Plans) to provide additional retirement benefits to certain key employees of the Company. These plans are unfunded, pay-as-you-go plans. The U.S. Qualified Plan and the U.S. Non-Qualified Plans account for approximately 70% and 15% of our pension obligation, respectively, at December 31, 2009. Our employees in certain of our International operations are also provided retirement benefits through defined benefit plans, representing the remaining balance of our pension obligations.

In addition to providing pension benefits, we provide various health care and life insurance benefits for retired employees. U.S.-based employees, who retire with 10 years of vesting service after age 45, are eligible to receive these benefits. These postretirement benefit costs and obligations are also determined actuarially.

Effective March 1, 2010, we will eliminate company-paid life insurance benefits for retirees. In addition, we will only share the minimum necessary amount of subsidy received from the government in any year to maintain actuarial equivalence for as long as possible.

107

### **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)**

### (Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Certain of our non-U.S. based employees receive postretirement benefits through government-sponsored or administered programs.

In addition, on May 1, 2006, we added a new supplemental pension plan in the U.S. for certain key employees hired or promoted after January 1, 2006.

Effective June 30, 2007, we amended the U.S. Qualified Plan and one of the U.S. Non-Qualified Plans, known as the U.S. Pension Benefit Equalization Plan (PBEP). Any pension benefit that had been accrued through such date under the two plans was frozen at its then current value and no additional benefits, other than interest on such amounts, will accrue under the U.S. Qualified Plan and the PBEP. All non-vested participants under the two plans who were actively employed as of June 30, 2007, were immediately vested on July 1, 2007. As a result, we recognized a curtailment charge of \$3.2 million during the second quarter of 2007.

We use an annual measurement date of December 31 for our U.S. and Canada plans and November 30 for other non-U.S. plans.

### Benefit Obligation and Plan Assets

The following table sets forth the changes in our benefit obligations and plan assets for our pension and postretirement plans. The table also reconciles the funded status of these obligations to the amounts reflected in our financial statements, and identifies the line items in our consolidated balance sheets where the related assets and liabilities are recorded.

	Pension Plans 2009 2008			nent Benefits
Change in Benefit Obligation:	2009	2008	2009	2008
Benefit Obligation at January 1	\$ (1,511.8)	\$ (1,591.4)	\$ (79.2)	\$ (84.3)
Service Cost	(7.0)	(5.8)	(0.6)	(0.6)
Interest Cost	(90.7)	(95.1)	(4.3)	(4.6)
Benefits Paid	93.4	94.8	21.5	20.6
Direct Subsidies Received			(2.7)	(2.7)
Plan Amendment	4.6		20.2	, í
Impact of Curtailment Gain	0.7	1.1		
Special Termination Benefit		(1.1)		
Plan Participant Contributions	(0.4)	(0.6)	(10.4)	(11.0)
Actuarial (Loss) Gain	(34.2)	36.0	4.7	2.9
Assumption Change	(96.4)	(17.1)	(4.5)	0.5
Effect of Changes in Foreign Currency Exchange Rates	(23.2)	67.4		
Benefit Obligation at December 31	\$ (1,665.0)	\$ (1,511.8)	\$ (55.3)	\$ (79.2)
Change in Plan Assets:				
Fair Value of Plan Assets at January 1	\$ 1,074.6	\$ 1,589.0	\$	\$
Actual Return on Plan Assets	191.5	(392.2)		
Employer Contributions	24.4	23.0	8.4	6.9
Direct Subsidies Received			2.7	2.7
Plan Participant Contributions	0.4	0.6	10.4	11.0
Benefits Paid	(93.3)	(94.8)	(21.5)	(20.6)
Effect of Changes in Foreign Currency Exchange Rates	16.6	(51.0)		
Fair Value of Plan Assets at December 31	\$ 1,214.2	\$ 1,074.6	\$	\$

108

### **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)**

### (Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

	At December 31,				
	2009	2008	2009	2008	
Reconciliation of Funded Status to Total Amount Recognized:					
Funded Status of Plan	\$ (450.8)	\$ (437.2)	\$ (55.3)	\$ (79.2)	
Amounts Recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets:					
Prepaid Pension Costs	\$	\$ 0.1	\$	\$	
Pension and Postretirement Benefits	(432.7)	(421.7)	(7.3)	(69.5)	
Accrued Payroll	(18.1)	(15.6)	(48.0)	(9.7)	
Net Amount Recognized	\$ (450.8)	\$ (437.2)	\$ (55.3)	\$ (79.2)	
Accumulated Benefit Obligation	\$ 1,638.3	\$ 1,485.2	N/A	N/A	
Amount Recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income Consists of:					
Actuarial Loss (Gain)	\$ 887.7	\$ 855.2	\$ (26.2)	\$ (28.4)	
Prior Service Cost (Credit)	2.3	7.9	(17.8)	(1.3)	
Total Amount Recognized Pretax	\$ 890.0	\$ 863.1	\$ (44.0)	\$ (29.7)	

Grantor Trusts are used to fund the U.S. Non-Qualified Plans. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the balances in these trusts were \$13.6 million and \$7.2 million, respectively, included as components of Other Non-Current Assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, our pension plans have an aggregate of \$887.7 million and \$855.2 million, respectively, of actuarial losses that have not yet been included in net periodic benefit cost. These losses represent the cumulative effect of demographic and investment experience, as well as assumption changes that have been made in measuring the plans—liabilities. The deferred asset gain or loss is not yet reflected in the market-related value of plan assets and is excluded in determining the loss amortization. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, our pension plans had \$233.7 million and \$384.1 million of deferred asset losses, respectively, which were excluded from determining the loss amortization. The remaining loss, to the extent it exceeds the greater of 10% of the projected benefit obligation or market-related value of plan assets, will be amortized into expense each year on a straight-line and plan-by-plan basis, over the remaining expected future working lifetime of active participants or the average remaining life expectancy of the participants if all or almost all of the plan participants are inactive. Currently, the amortization periods range from 11 to 26 years for the U.S. plans and 8 to 33 years for the non-U.S. plans. For certain of our non-U.S. plans, almost all of the plan participants are inactive. In addition, during 2009 we changed the amortization period for our U.S. Qualified Plan from average future service years of active participants to average life expectancy of all plan participants according to our accounting policy. The change was a result of almost all plan participants being deemed inactive. The postretirement benefit plan had \$26.2 million and \$28.4 million of actuarial gains as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The actuarial gains will be amortized into expense in the same manner as described above. The amortization period is approximately 10 years.

Underfunded or Unfunded Accumulated Benefit Obligations

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, our underfunded or unfunded accumulated benefit obligation and the related projected benefit obligation is as follows:

	2009	2008
Accumulated Benefit Obligation	\$ 1,638.3	\$ 1,467.9
Fair Value of Plan Assets	1,214.2	1,056.3

# Edgar Filing: DUN & BRADSTREET CORP/NW - Form 10-K

Unfunded Accumulated Benefit Obligation	\$ 424.1	\$ 411.6
Projected Benefit Obligation	\$ 1,621.2	\$ 1,493.3

109

### Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

### (Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

The underfunded or unfunded accumulated benefit obligations at December 31, 2009 consisted of \$360.9 million and \$63.2 million related to our U.S. plans (including Qualified and non-Qualified Plans) and non-U.S. defined benefit plans, respectively. The underfunded or unfunded accumulated benefit obligations at December 31, 2008 consisted of \$374.4 million and \$37.2 million related to our U.S. Non-Qualified Plans and non-U.S. defined benefit plans, respectively.

### Net Periodic Pension Costs

The following table sets forth the components of the net periodic cost associated with our pension plans and our postretirement benefit obligations:

	Pension Plans					<b>Postretirement Benefits</b>			nefits		
	2	009	2	2008	2	2007	2	2009	2	2008	2007
Components of Net Periodic Cost:											
Service Cost	\$	7.0	\$	5.8	\$	11.6	\$	0.6	\$	0.6	\$ 0.7
Interest Cost		90.7		95.1		91.3		4.3		4.6	5.1
Expected Return on Plan Assets	(	115.2)	(	(121.7)	(	(117.1)					
Amortization of Prior Service Cost (Credit)		1.0		0.9		1.4		(3.7)		(7.5)	(7.5)
Amortized Actuarial (Gain) Loss		22.5		16.2		23.5		(2.5)		(1.9)	(1.8)
Net Periodic (Income) Cost	\$	6.0	\$	(3.7)	\$	10.7	\$	(1.3)	\$	(4.2)	\$ (3.5)

The following table sets forth other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in Other Comprehensive Income:

	At December 31,				
	2009	2008	2009	2008	
Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit Obligations Recognized in					
Other Comprehensive Income:					
Amortization of Actuarial (Loss) Gain, Before Taxes of \$3.6 in 2009 and					
\$5.6 in 2008	\$ (22.5)	\$ (16.2)	\$ 2.5	\$ 1.9	
Amortization of Prior Service (Cost) Credit, Before Taxes of \$0.5 in 2009					
and \$2.6 in 2008	\$ (1.0)	\$ (0.9)	\$ 3.7	\$ 7.5	
Actuarial Loss (Gain) Arising During the Year, Before Taxes of \$9.9 in					
2009 and \$190.0 in 2008	\$ 55.0	\$ 492.6	\$ (0.3)	\$ (6.7)	
Prior Service Cost Arising During the Year	\$ (4.6)	\$	\$ (20.2)	\$ (0.1)	

The following table sets forth estimated 2010 amortization from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income:

		Pension Plans			<b>Postretirement Benefits</b>			
	2009	2008	2007	2009	2008	2007		
Estimated 2010 amortization from Accumulated Other								
Comprehensive Income:								
Actuarial Loss (Gain)	\$ 21.2	N/A	N/A	\$ (1.8)	N/A	N/A		
Prior Service Cost	0.2	N/A	N/A	(4.7)	N/A	N/A		
Total	\$ 21.4	N/A	N/A	\$ (6.5)	N/A	N/A		

In addition, we incurred a special termination benefit charge of \$1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 and a settlement charge of \$1.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2007, related to our Canadian plan. We also incurred a curtailment charge of \$3.2 million for our

# Edgar Filing: DUN & BRADSTREET CORP/NW - Form 10-K

U.S. pension plans for the year ended December 31, 2007. These charges are associated with our Financial Flexibility initiatives.

110

### **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)**

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

We apply our long-term expected rate of return assumption to the market-related value of assets to calculate the expected return on plan assets, which is a major component of our annual net periodic pension expense. The market-related value of assets recognizes short-term fluctuations in the fair value of assets over a period of five years, using a straight-line amortization basis. The methodology has been utilized to reduce the effect of short-term market fluctuations on the net periodic pension cost. Since the market-related value of assets recognizes gains or losses over a five-year-period, the future value of assets will be impacted as previously deferred gains or losses are amortized. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the market-related value of assets of our pension plans was \$1,447.9 million and \$1,458.7 million, respectively, compared with the fair value of the plan assets of \$1,214.2 million and \$1,074.6 million, respectively.

The following table sets forth the assumptions we used to determine our pension plan and postretirement benefit plan obligations for December 31, 2009 and 2008:

	Pension	<b>Postretirement Benefits</b>			
	2009	2008	2009	2008	
Weighted Average Discount Rate	5.71%	6.21%	5.28%	6.23%	
Weighted Average Rate of Compensation					
Increase	5.24%	5.18%	N/A	N/A	
Cash Balance Account Interest Crediting					
Rate(1)	4.50%	3.00%	N/A	N/A	
Cash Balance Account Conversion Rate(1)	2.35%/5.65%/6.45%	6.72%/7.11%/6.36%	N/A	N/A	

### (1) Only applicable to the U.S. Plans.

The following table sets forth the assumptions we used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007:

	Pension Plans			<b>Postretirement Benefits</b>			
	2009	2008	2007	2009	2008	2007	
Weighted Average Discount Rate	6.14%	5.93%	5.50%	6.23%	6.11%	5.64%	
Weighted Average Expected Long-Term Return on							
Plan Assets	8.14%	7.49%	7.76%	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Weighted Average Rate of Compensation Increase	6.09%	5.27%	4.07%	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Cash Balance Account Interest Crediting							
Rate(1)	3.00%	4.75%	4.75%	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Cash Balance Account Conversion Rate(1)	6.72%/7.11%/6.36%	4.96%	4.75%	N/A	N/A	N/A	

### (1) Only applicable to the U.S. Plans.

The expected long-term rate of return assumption was 8.25% for each of the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 for the U.S. Qualified Plan, our principal pension plan. For the year ended December 31, 2010, we will continue to apply an 8.25% expected long-term rate of return assumption to the U.S. Qualified Plan. This assumption is based on the plan s 2010 target asset allocation of 65% equity securities, 29% debt securities and 6% real estate. The expected long-term rate of return assumption reflects long-term capital market return forecasts for the asset classes employed, assumed excess returns from active management within each asset class, the portion of plan assets that are actively managed, and periodic rebalancing back to target allocations. Current market factors such as inflation and interest rates are evaluated before the long-term capital market assumptions are determined. In addition, peer data and historical returns are reviewed to check for

111

### **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)**

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

reasonableness. Although we review our expected long-term rate of return assumption annually, our plan performance in any one particular year does not, by itself, significantly influence our evaluation. Our assumption is generally not revised unless there is a fundamental change in one of the factors upon which it is based, such as the target asset allocation or long-term capital market return forecasts.

### **Obligations**

We use the discount rate to measure the present value of pension plan obligations and postretirement health care obligations at year-end as well as to calculate next year s pension income or cost. It is derived by using a yield curve approach which matches projected plan benefit payment streams with bond portfolios reflecting actual liability duration unique to the plans. The rate is adjusted at each remeasurement date, based on the factors noted above.

### Plan Assets (U.S. Qualified Plan and non-U.S. pension plans)

A financial instrument s level or categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for instruments measured at fair value, including the general classification of such instruments pursuant to the valuation hierarchy.

### Common Stocks and Preferred Stocks

Common stocks and preferred stocks are classified as Level I assets as they are traded in active markets, such as the NYSE, NASDAQ, European exchanges, etc., with quoted market prices (observable inputs).

### Commingled Equity Funds

Commingled equity funds are classified as Level II assets. The Net Asset Value ( NAV ) of commingled equity funds are determined by prices of the underlying securities, less the funds liabilities, and then divided by the number of shares outstanding. As the funds are not traded in active markets, the commingled equity funds are classified as Level II assets.

### Commingled Fixed Income Funds

Commingled fixed income funds are classified as Level II assets. These investments vehicles are valued using the NAV provided by the administrator of the fund. The NAV of commingled fixed income funds are determined by prices of the underlying securities, less the funds liabilities, and then divided by the number of shares outstanding. As the funds are not traded in active markets, the commingled fixed income funds are classified as Level II assets.

### Corporate and Other Bonds

These assets are classified as Level II assets. These investments trade in markets that are not considered to be active and whose values are based on quoted market prices or dealer quotations. Corporate Bonds are typically traded over-the-counter, not via exchanges (e.g., prices are negotiated individually). Hence, identical assets can be quoted with different prices depending on the parties involved. Observable inputs would be the prices obtained from third-party pricing sources retained by the custodian. Such prices are determined by the Treasury yields and the corporate spreads.

### **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)**

### (Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

U.S. and Foreign Governments Bonds and U.S. Agency Mortgage Backed Securities

U.S. Treasury Securities are a Level I asset due to availability of quoted prices in active markets on a daily basis. U.S. Treasury prices can be obtained via direct market quotes provided by market makers and U.S. Treasuries have much more pricing transparency (e.g., very little bid-ask spread versus the other instruments having a larger bid-ask spread).

Government and government agency obligations are generally valued based on bid quotations for identical or similar obligations. Foreign Government Bonds, Agency debts or Mortgage Backed Securities are traded over-the-counter, not via exchanges. Observable inputs would be the prices obtained from third party pricing sources retained by the custodian. These investments are Level II assets.

### Real Estate Investment Trusts

The real estate investment trust component of Plan assets is made up of publicly traded U.S. equities in the real estate industry. Since quoted prices are available in active markets. These investments are a Level I asset.

#### Real Estate Funds

Real estate funds investing in real private properties are classified as Level III assets because liquidity is limited and there are few observable market participant transactions. The underlying investments are valued using third parties. The investment valuations are obtained through appraisals which use the income approach based on unobservable cash flows to be received from expected rents.

### Short-Term Investment Funds ( STIF )

These investments typically include cash, bank notes, corporate notes, government bills and various short-term debt instruments. They are collective trusts typically valued at \$1 for the NAV. The short term funds are classified within Level II of the valuation hierarchy.

The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the plan assets at fair value as of December 31, 2009:

Asset Category	Markets		Ob I	nificant Other servable nputs evel II)	Unob Ir	nificant servable aputs vel III)		Total
Common and Preferred Stocks	\$	386.1	\$	cvci II)	\$	(CI III)	\$	386.1
Commingled Equity Funds	-		-	385.3			_	385.3
Commingled Fixed Income Funds				246.7				246.7
Corporate and Other Bonds				67.4				67.4
U.S. and Foreign Government Bonds and U.S. Agency Mortgage								
Backed Securities		21.1		40.3				61.4
Real Estate Investment Trusts		2.8						2.8
Real Estate Funds						51.2		51.2
Short Term Investment Funds				13.3				13.3
Total Investments at Fair Value	\$	410.0	\$	753.0	\$	51.2	\$	1,214.2

113

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

#### Level III Gains and Losses

The table below sets forth the summary of changes in the fair value of the Plan s Level III assets for the year ended December 31, 2009:

	Real Esta	ate Funds
Beginning Balance at December 31, 2008	\$	78.4
Acquisitions		1.7
Dispositions		(0.6)
Unrealized Loss		(28.3)
Ending Balance at December 31, 2009	\$	51.2

#### Investment Strategy

The investment objective for our principal plan, the U.S. Qualified Plan, is to achieve over the investment horizon a long-term total return, which at least matches our expected long-term rate of return assumption while maintaining a prudent level of portfolio risk. We emphasize long-term growth of principal while avoiding excessive risk so as to use Plan asset returns to help finance pension obligations, thus improving our Plan s funded status. We predominantly invest in assets that can be sold readily and efficiently to ensure our ability to reasonably meet expected cash flow requirements. Although peer relative performance is examined, out-performance of such does not constitute an investment objective.

We define our primary risk concern to be the Plan s funded status volatility and to a lesser extent total plan return volatility. Understanding that risk is present in all types of assets and investment styles, we acknowledge that some risk is necessary to produce long-term investment results that are sufficient to meet the Plan s objectives. However, we monitor and ensure that the investment managers we employ make reasonable efforts to maximize returns while controlling for risk parameters.

Investment risk is also controlled through diversification among multiple asset classes, managers, investment styles and periodic rebalancing toward asset allocation targets. Risk is further controlled at the investment manager level by requiring managers to follow formal written investment guidelines which enumerate eligible securities, maximum portfolio concentration limits, excess return and tracking error targets as well as other relevant portfolio constraints. Investment results and risk are measured and monitored on an ongoing basis and quarterly investment reviews are conducted. The Plan s active investment managers are prohibited from investing plan assets in equity or debt securities issued or guaranteed by us.

Our Plan assets are invested using a combination of both active and passive (indexed) investment strategies. Active strategies employ multiple investment management firms. The Plan s equity securities are diversified across U.S. and non-U.S. stocks in order to further reduce risk at the total Plan level. Our active investment managers employ a range of investment styles and approaches that are combined in a way that compensates for capitalization and style biases versus benchmark indices. As such, our investment managers are expected to adhere to the investment management style for which they were hired and are evaluated regularly for adherence to investment discipline.

The Plan s debt securities are diversified principally among securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government or its agencies, mortgage-backed securities, including collateralized mortgage obligations, corporate debt obligations and dollar-denominated obligations issued in the U.S. by non-U.S. banks and corporations. Generally, up to 10% of the actively managed debt securities may be invested in securities rated below investment grade. The plan s real estate investments are made through a commingled equity real estate fund of U.S. properties diversified by property type and geographic location.

114

### **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)**

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

We have formally identified the primary objective for each asset class within our Plan. U.S. equities are held for their long-term capital appreciation and dividend income which is expected to exceed the rate of inflation. International equities are held for their long-term capital appreciation, as well as diversification relative to U.S. equities and other asset classes. Fixed income instruments are held as a source of current income and to reduce overall Plan volatility. Additionally they are designed to provide a partial hedge relative to the interest rate sensitivity of the Plan s liabilities. Real estate investments are held as a hedge against unexpected inflation and are expected to provide a relatively high level of income. Real estate investments are also expected to provide diversification to the overall Fund. Cash is held only to meet liquidity requirements.

#### Allocations

We employ a total return investment approach in which a mix of equity, debt and real estate investments are used to achieve a competitive long-term rate on plan assets at a prudent level of risk. Our weighted average plan target asset allocation is 64% equity securities (range of 58% to 72%), 31% debt securities (range of 22% to 36%) and 5% real estate (range of 1% to 11%). The Plan s actual allocation is controlled by periodic rebalancing back to target.

The following table sets forth the weighted average asset allocations and target asset allocations by asset category, as of the measurement dates of the plans:

	Asset Alle		Target Alloca	tions
	Fo 2009	r the Years End 2008	led December 31 2009	2008
Equity Securities	64%	62%	64%	65%
Debt Securities	32	31	31	30
Real Estate	4	7	5	5
m . 1	1000	1000	1000	1000
Total	100%	100%	100%	100%

### Contributions and Benefit Payments

We expect to contribute approximately \$31 million to our U.S. Non-Qualified plans and non-U.S. pension plans and approximately \$7 million to our postretirement benefit plan for the year ended December 31, 2010. We do not expect to make any contributions to the U.S. Qualified Plan in fiscal 2010 for the 2009 plan year. Final funding requirements for fiscal 2010 will be determined based on our January 2010 funding actuarial valuation.

The following table summarizes expected benefit payments from our pension plans and postretirement plans through 2019. Actual benefit payments may differ from expected benefit payments. These amounts are net of expected plan participant contributions.

		Pos	<b>Postretirement Benefits</b>			
		Gross		Net		
		Expected	Gross	Expected		
	Pension	Benefit	Expected	Benefit		
	Plans	Payment	Subsidy	Payment		
2010	\$ 105.0	\$ 10.1	\$ 2.8	\$ 7.3		
2011	112.1	9.5	3.0	6.5		

# Edgar Filing: DUN & BRADSTREET CORP/NW - Form 10-K

2012	99.7	8.8	3.1	5.7
2013	101.1	8.3	3.3	5.0
2014	102.0	7.8	3.4	4.4
2015-2019	555.6	35.7	17.7	18.0

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

### Health Care Benefits

For measurement purposes, a 9.0% and 11.0% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed for medical and prescription drug, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2009. The rates are assumed to decrease gradually to 5.0% in 2013, and remain at that level thereafter.

Assumed health care cost trend rates have an effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans. A one-percentage-point change in the assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

	1%	1% Point	
	Increase	Decrease	
Benefit Obligation at End of Year	\$ 0.8	\$ (0.6)	
Service Cost Plus Interest Cost	\$ 0.1	\$ (0.1)	
401(k) Plan			

107 D-1--4

We have a 401(k) plan covering substantially all U.S. employees that provides for employee salary deferral contribution and employer contributions. Employees may contribute up to 50% of their pay on a pre-tax basis subject to IRS limitations. In addition, employees age 50 or older are allowed to contribute additional pre-tax—catch-up—contributions. In the second quarter of 2007, we amended our matching policy in the 401(k) plan effective July 1, 2007, to increase our match formula from 50% to 100% of a team member—s contributions and to increase the maximum match to seven percent (7%), from six percent (6%), of such team member—s eligible compensation, subject to certain 401(k) plan limitations. In February 2009, an amendment was made to the 401(k) plan to decrease the match formula from 100% to 50% of a team member—s contributions and to decrease the maximum match from 7% to 3% of such team member—s eligible compensation, subject to certain 401(k) plan limitations.

We recognized expense associated with our employer contributions to the plan of \$6.9 million, \$19.2 million and \$12.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

### Note 11. Employee Stock Plans

The total stock-based compensation expense recognized for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was \$22.3 million, \$27.6 million, and \$25.9 million, respectively. The expected tax benefit associated with our stock-based compensation programs was \$8.3 million, \$10.1 million, and \$9.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

### **Stock Incentive Plans**

The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2009 Stock Incentive Plan ( 2009 SIP ) and Non-Employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan ( 2000 DSIP ) allow for the granting of stock-based awards, such as, but not limited to, stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units, to certain employees and non-employee directors. On May 5, 2009, our shareholders approved the 2009 SIP which authorized the issuance of up to 5.4 million shares of our common stock plus any shares that were remaining and available for issuance under the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan ( 2000 SIP ) that were not subject to outstanding awards as of May 5, 2009 or that become available for issuance upon forfeiture, cancellation or expiration of awards granted under the 2000 SIP without having been exercised or settled in shares. As of December 31, 2009, 618,293 shares were remaining and available from the 2000 SIP. On May 2, 2007, our shareholders approved an amendment increasing the

116

### **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)**

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

authorization under the 2000 DSIP from 0.3 million shares of common stock to 0.7 million shares of common stock. At December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, 5,837,874 shares, 1,177,438 shares, and 1,889,085 shares of our common stock, respectively, were available for future grants under the 2009 SIP and 304,382 shares, 344,365 shares, and 386,212 shares of our common stock, respectively, were available for future grants under the 2000 DSIP.

Our practice has been to settle all awards issued under the stock incentive plans and ESPP through the issuance of treasury shares. In addition, we have in place share repurchase programs to mitigate the dilutive effect of the shares issued under these plans.

### **Stock Option Programs**

Stock options granted under the 2009 SIP and 2000 SIP generally vest in four equal installments beginning on the first anniversary of the grant. Stock options granted under the 2000 DSIP generally vest 100% on the first anniversary of the grant. All stock options generally expire 10 years from the date of the grant. The annual award of stock options to employees is generally granted in February.

The total compensation expense associated with our stock option program was \$9.5 million, \$11.0 million, and \$11.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The expected total tax benefit associated with our stock option programs was \$3.7 million, \$4.2 million, and \$4.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The fair value of each stock option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model that uses the assumptions noted in the following table:

	2009	2008	2007
Expected stock price volatility	21%	20%	22%
Expected dividends	1.7%	1.4%	1.1%
Expected term (in years)	6.00	6.21	6.21
Weighted average risk-free interest rate	2.81%	3.16%	4.68%
Weighted average fair value of options granted	\$16.53	\$19.48	\$25.53

Expected stock price volatility assumption is derived from the historical volatility of our common stock. The expected dividend yield assumption is determined by dividing the anticipated annual dividend payment by the stock price on the date of grant. Beginning in 2009, we began determining our expected term assumption using a midpoint scenario which combines our historical exercise data with hypothetical exercise data for our unexercised stock options. Prior to 2009, the expected term assumption was determined using the Simplified Method, as prescribed by the SEC, for estimating the expected options life. The risk-free interest rate assumption corresponds to the expected term assumption of the stock option and is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.

## Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Changes in stock options for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 are summarized as follows:

		Weighted Average Exercise Price Per	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term	Aggregate Intrinsic
Stock Options	Shares	Share	(in years)	Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2006	3,928,822	\$ 39.43		
Granted	416,119	\$ 89.27		
Exercised	(994,949)	\$ 29.78		
Forfeited or expired	(111,626)	\$ 63.92		
Outstanding at December 31, 2007	3,238,366	\$ 47.95		
Granted	443,260	\$ 88.22		
Exercised	(717,391)	\$ 33.74		
Forfeited or expired	(122,601)	\$ 76.95		
Outstanding at December 31, 2008	2,841,634	\$ 56.57		
Granted	570,500	\$ 79.77		
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Exercised	(631,342)	\$ 35.11		
Forfeited or expired	(199,190)	\$ 85.42		
Outstanding at December 31, 2009	2,581,602	\$ 64.72	5.8	\$ 53.5
Exercisable and unvested expected to vest at December 31, 2009	2,524,601	\$ 64.33	5.8	\$ 53.3
Exercisable at December 31, 2009	1,629,296	\$ 54.13	4.3	\$ 50.5

Stock options outstanding at December 31, 2009 were originally granted during the years 2000 through 2009 and are exercisable over periods ending no later than 2019. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, stock options for 1,938,616 shares and 2,072,849 shares of our common stock, respectively, were exercisable.

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2009 was \$27.1 million and includes D&B stock options exercised by both D&B and Moody s employees. See Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion on the separation of D&B and Moody s Corporation in September 2000.

### **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)**

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2009:

	Sto	ck Options Outstandin Weighted	ıg	Stock Option	ons Exerci	isable
		Average Remaining Contractual	Weighted Average Exercise		A	eighted verage xercise
Range of Exercise Prices	Shares	Term (in years)	Price	Shares	Price	Per Share
\$14.04-\$27.86	161,884	0.9	\$ 23.41	161,884	\$	23.41
\$31.36-\$35.81	302,231	2.7	\$ 33.61	302,231	\$	33.61
\$36.16-\$49.16	208,138	2.2	\$ 37.03	208,138	\$	37.03
\$53.30-\$59.86	205,696	4.1	\$ 53.49	205,696	\$	53.49
\$60.54-\$67.98	288,087	5.2	\$ 61.34	288,066	\$	61.34
\$70.74-\$78.61	262,345	6.3	\$ 71.97	192,770	\$	71.91
\$79.58-\$82.64	501,200	9.2	\$ 79.88		\$	
\$86.22-\$88.33	287,616	7.1	\$ 88.09	152,936	\$	88.09
\$88.37-\$103.63	364,405	8.1	\$ 89.14	117,575	\$	89.56
Total	2,581,602			1,629,296		

Total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock options at December 31, 2009 was \$8.3 million. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.6 years. The total fair value of stock options vested during the year ended December 31, 2009 was \$8.4 million.

Cash received from the exercise of D&B stock options for the year ended December 31, 2009 was \$16.4 million. The expected tax benefit associated with the tax deduction from the exercise of stock options totaled \$10.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. The expected tax benefit includes both D&B and Moody s stock options exercised by D&B employees.

### **Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Unit Programs**

Beginning in 2004, certain employees were provided an opportunity to receive an award of restricted stock or restricted stock units in the future. That award is contingent on performance against the same goals that drive payout under the annual cash incentive plan. The restricted stock or restricted stock units will be granted, if at all, after the one-year performance goals have been met and will then vest over a three-year period on a graded basis. Compensation expense associated with these grants is recognized on a graded-vesting basis over four years, including the performance period. The annual restricted stock and restricted stock units awarded to employees are generally granted in March, following the conclusion of the fiscal year for which the goals were measured and attained.

In addition, from time-to-time, in order to attract and retain executive talent, the company issues special grants of restricted stock or restricted stock units. These grants generally vest over a three-year period on a graded basis. Compensation expense associated with these grants is recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the award.

Our non-employee directors receive grants of restricted stock units as part of their annual equity retainer. These grants vest on a cliff basis three years from the date of grant. Compensation expense associated with these awards is generally recognized in the year the award is granted.

For restricted stock and restricted stock unit awards the fair value is estimated by using the average of the high and low price of our common stock on the date of grant.

119

### **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)**

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Total compensation expense associated with restricted stock, restricted stock units and restricted stock opportunity was \$11.9 million, \$15.6 million, and \$13.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The expected tax benefit associated with restricted stock, restricted stock units and restricted stock opportunity was \$4.6 million, \$5.9 million, and \$5.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Changes in our nonvested restricted stock and restricted stock units for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 are summarized as follows:

Restricted Stock/Restricted Stock Units	Shares	Weighted Average Grant-Date Fair Value Per Share	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term (in years)	Aggreş Intrin Valu	sic
Nonvested shares at December 31, 2006	456,759	\$ 64.90	1.7		7.8
Granted	203,683	\$ 91.94			
Vested	(129,047)	\$ 63.26			
Forfeited	(56,823)	\$ 76.51			
Nonvested shares at December 31, 2007	474,572	\$ 75.57	1.3	\$ 4	2.1
Granted	230,084	\$ 90.55			
Vested	(196,483)	\$ 68.79			
Forfeited	(65,084)	\$ 86.58			
Nonvested shares at December 31, 2008	443,089	\$ 84.74	1.4	\$ 3	4.2
Granted	231,821	\$ 74.18			
Vested	(184,508)	\$ 80.84			
Forfeited	(69,789)	\$ 82.40			
Nonvested shares at December 31, 2009	420,613	\$ 80.71	1.5	\$ 3.	5.5

Total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested restricted stock and restricted stock units at December 31, 2009 was \$12.4 million. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.2 years.

The total fair value of restricted stock and restricted stock units vesting during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was \$12.6 million, \$17.8 million, and \$12.0 million, respectively. The expected tax benefit associated with the tax deduction from the vesting of restricted stock and restricted stock units totaled \$3.7 million, \$6.6 million, and \$4.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

### **Employee Stock Purchase Plan**

Under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 ESPP we are authorized to sell up to 1.5 million shares of our common stock to our eligible employees of which 606,564 remain available for future purchases as of December 31, 2009.

Under the terms of the ESPP, our employees can purchase our common stock at a 15% discount from market value, subject to certain limitations as set forth in the ESPP. The purchase price of the stock on the date of purchase is 85% of the average of the high and low price of our stock on the last trading day of the month. Under the ESPP, we sold 74,115, 74,598, and 68,012 shares to employees for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

and 2007, respectively. The total compensation expense related to our ESPP was \$0.9 million, \$1.0 million, and \$0.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007. Cash received from employees participating in the ESPP for the year ended December 31, 2009 was \$4.8 million.

### Note 12. Lease Commitments and Contractual Obligations

Most of our operations are conducted from leased facilities, which are under operating leases that expire over the next ten years, with the majority expiring within five years. We also lease certain computer and other equipment under operating leases that expire over the next three and five years, respectively. These computer and other equipment leases are frequently renegotiated or otherwise changed as advancements in computer technology produce opportunities to lower costs and improve performance. Rental expenses under operating leases (cancelable and non-cancelable) were \$32.0 million, \$30.0 million, and \$34.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

In July 2002, we outsourced certain technology functions to Computer Sciences Corporation ( CSC ) under a 10-year agreement, which we had the right to terminate for a fee at any time and under certain other conditions. Under the terms of the agreement, CSC s responsibilities included data center operations, technology help desk and network management functions in the U.S. and UK as well as certain application development and maintenance functions. This agreement was amended in March 2008, which, among other things, increased certain services level agreements that CSC is required to provide under the Technology Services Agreement and added additional security services to be performed by CSC. In August 2009, we entered into a wind down agreement with CSC and Acxiom Corporation ( Acxiom ) which terminated all of the data center operations functions provided by CSC, effective September 2009. In September 2009 we entered into a new agreement with CSC for limited print and fulfillment services that remained with CSC. We incurred costs of \$50.6 million, \$77.6 million and \$80.4 million under this contract for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

In December 2003, we signed a three-year agreement with ICT Group, Inc. ( ICT ), effective January 2004, to outsource certain marketing call center activities, which agreement contains two renewal options for up to a one-year period. The agreement was amended effective September 2007 to be extended through 2011. Under the terms of the agreement, ICT is responsible for performing certain marketing and credit-calling activities previously performed by our own call centers in North America. The obligation under the contract is based upon transmitted call volumes, but shall not be less than \$3 million per contract year. We incurred costs of \$3.3 million, \$3.2 million and \$4.5 million under this contract for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

In October 2004, we signed a seven-year outsourcing agreement with International Business Machines ( IBM ). Under the terms of the agreement, we have transitioned certain portions of our data acquisition and delivery and customer service to IBM. We may terminate this agreement for a fee at any time. We incurred costs of \$26.2 million, \$30.1 million and \$30.7 million under this contract for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

In July 2006, we signed a four-year product and technology outsourcing agreement with Acxiom in order to significantly increase the speed, data processing capacity and matching capabilities we provide our global sales and marketing customers. In November 2008, we extended the term of the outsourcing agreement through 2011. In November 2008 we entered into an agreement that will expand our service capabilities, enhance customer experience and accelerate the migration of the remaining existing D&B fulfillment processes to Acxiom.

121

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

In May 2009, and as part of our ongoing Financial Flexibility initiatives, we entered into another agreement with Acxiom to provide certain infrastructure management services that were formerly provided by CSC. These services include data center operations, technology help desk and network management functions. The agreement has an initial term ending in October 2014. In addition, after expiration of the initial term, we have the right to extend the agreement under the same terms for up to a maximum period of three years. Payments to Acxiom over the initial five year contract term based on current volumes will aggregate to approximately \$285 million. The agreement provides for typical adjustments due to changes in volume, inflation and incremental project work. Payments made for the provision of such services in 2009 did not differ materially from payments that were expected to be made under our prior arrangement with CSC. However, we anticipate savings to be generated over the life of the contract.

In addition, in December 2009 we signed a three-year data maintenance and support agreement with Acxiom. Payments over the contract term will aggregate approximately \$5 million. The agreement provides for typical adjustments due to changes in volume, inflation and incremental project work.

We incurred costs of \$42.5 million, \$7.5 million and \$6.6 million under all of these agreements for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Total payments to Acxiom over the remaining terms of the above contracts will aggregate to approximately \$290 million.

The following table quantifies our future contractual obligations as discussed above as of December 31, 2009.

Contractual Obligations	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	Thei	eafter	Total
Operating Leases	\$ 30.6	\$ 24.3	\$ 20.1	\$ 14.2	\$ 12.7	\$	26.3	\$ 128.2
Obligations to Outsourcers	\$ 121.7	\$ 93.0	\$ 67.3	\$ 51.3	\$ 39.8	\$		\$ 373.1

The table above excludes pension obligations for which funding requirements are uncertain, excludes long-term contingent liabilities and excludes unrecognized tax benefits. Our obligations with respect to pension and postretirement medical benefit plans are described in Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our long-term contingent liabilities with respect to tax and legal matters are discussed in Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our obligations with respect to senior notes and credit facilities are discussed in Note 6 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our obligations with respect to spin-off obligations are discussed in Note 15 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our obligations with respect to unrecognized tax benefits are discussed in Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

### Note 13. Contingencies

We are involved in tax and legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. We periodically assess our liabilities and contingencies in connection with these matters based upon the latest information available. For those matters where it is probable that we have incurred a loss and the loss, or range of loss, can be reasonably estimated, we have recorded reserves in our consolidated financial statements. In other instances, we are unable to make a reasonable estimate of any liability because of the uncertainties related to the probability of the outcome and/or amount or range of loss. As additional information becomes available, we adjust our assessment and estimates of such liabilities accordingly. It is possible that the ultimate resolution of our liabilities and contingencies could be at amounts that are different from our currently recorded reserves and that such differences could be material.

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Based on our review of the latest information available, we believe our ultimate liability in connection with pending tax and legal proceedings, claims and litigation will not have a material effect on our results of operations, cash flows or financial position, with the possible exception of the matters described below.

In order to understand our exposure to the potential liabilities described below, it is important to understand the relationship between us and Moody's Corporation, our predecessors and other parties that, through various corporate reorganizations and contractual commitments, have assumed varying degrees of responsibility with respect to such matters.

In November 1996, the Company then known as The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation ( D&B1 ) separated through a spin-off into three separate public companies: D&B1, ACNielsen Corporation ( ACNielsen ) and Cognizant Corporation ( Cognizant ) (the 1996 Distribution ). This was accomplished through a spin-off by D&B1 of its stock in ACNielsen and Cognizant. In June 1998, D&B1 separated through a spin-off into two separate public companies: D&B1, which in June 1998 changed its name to R.H. Donnelley Corporation and which, in January 2010, changed its name to Dex One Corporation ( Donnelley/D&B1 ), and a new company named The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation ( D&B2 ) (the 1998 Distribution ). During 1998, Cognizant separated into two separate public companies: IMS Health Incorporated ( IMS ) and Nielsen Media Research, Inc. ( NMR ) (the 1998 Cognizant Distribution ). (NMR was subsequently acquired by VNU BV, and in 2008 VNU changed its name to The Nielsen Company BV ( Nielsen ).) In September 2000, D&B2 separated through a spin-off into two separate public companies: D&B2, which changed its name to Moody s Corporation ( Moody s and also referred to elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as Moody s/D&B2 ), and a new company named The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation ( we or D&B3 and also referred to elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as D&B ) (the 2000 Distribution ).

### **Tax Matters**

Moody s/D&B2 and its predecessors entered into global tax-planning initiatives in the normal course of business, principally through tax-free restructurings of both their foreign and domestic operations. We undertook contractual obligations to be financially responsible for a portion of certain liabilities arising from certain historical tax-planning initiatives ( Legacy Tax Matters ).

As of the end of 2005, settlement agreements had been executed with the IRS with respect to the Legacy Tax Matters previously referred to in our SEC filings as Utilization of Capital Losses and Royalty Expense Deductions. With respect to the Utilization of Capital Losses matter, the settlement agreement resolved the matter in its entirety. For the Royalty Expense Deductions matter, the settlement covered tax years 1995 and 1996, which represented substantially all of the total potential liability to the IRS, including penalties. We believe we are adequately reserved for the remaining exposure.

In addition, with respect to these two settlement agreements, we believed that IMS and NMR did not pay the IRS the full portion of the settlements they were required to pay under the applicable spin-off agreements. In 2008, we, Donnelley/D&B1 and Moody s/D&B2 resolved their dispute with IMS and NMR with respect to the Utilization of Capital Losses matter. In the second quarter of 2009, we, Donnelley/D&B1 and Moody s/D&B2 resolved our dispute with IMS and NMR with respect to the Royalty Expense Deductions matter and, in connection therewith, we reported an after-tax non-core gain of \$1.0 million.

## **Legal Proceedings**

### Hoover s Initial Public Offering Litigation

On November 15, 2001, a putative shareholder class action lawsuit was filed against Hoover s Inc. ( Hoover s ), certain of its then current and former officers and directors (the Individual Defendants ), and one

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

of the underwriters of Hoover s July 1999 initial public offering ( IPO ). The lawsuit was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York on behalf of purchasers of Hoover s stock between July 20, 1999 and December 6, 2000. The operative complaint alleges violations of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 against Hoover s and the Individual Defendants. Plaintiffs allege that the underwriter allocated stock in Hoover s IPO to certain investors in exchange for commissions and agreements by those investors to make additional purchases of stock in the aftermarket at prices above the IPO price. Plaintiffs allege that the prospectus for Hoover s IPO was false and misleading because it did not disclose these arrangements.

The defense of the action is being coordinated with more than 300 other nearly identical actions filed against other companies. The parties in the approximately 300 coordinated cases, including ours, reached a settlement. The insurers for the issuer defendants in the coordinated cases will make the settlement payment on behalf of the issuers, including Hoover s. On October 5, 2009, the Court granted final approval of the settlement. Judgment was entered on December 9, 2009. A group of three objectors has filed a petition to the Second Circuit seeking permission to appeal the District Court s final approval order on the basis that the settlement class is broader than the class previously rejected by the Second Circuit in its December 5, 2006 order vacating the District Court s order certifying classes in the focus cases. Plaintiffs have filed an opposition to the petition. In addition, six notices of appeal to the Second Circuit have been filed by different groups of objectors.

Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation, we cannot accurately predict the ultimate outcome of the matter. No amount in respect of any potential judgment in this matter has been accrued in our consolidated financial statements.

#### Other Matters

In addition, in the normal course of business, and including without limitation, our merger and acquisition activities and financing transactions, D&B indemnifies other parties, including customers, lessors and parties to other transactions with D&B, with respect to certain matters. D&B has agreed to hold the other parties harmless against losses arising from a breach of representations or covenants, or arising out of other claims made against certain parties. These agreements may limit the time within which an indemnification claim can be made and the amount of the claim. D&B has also entered into indemnity obligations with its officers and directors of the Company. Additionally, in certain circumstances, D&B issues guarantee letters on behalf of our wholly-owned subsidiaries for specific situations. It is not possible to determine the maximum potential amount of future payments under these indemnification agreements due to the limited history of prior indemnification claims and the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular agreement. Historically, payments made by D&B under these agreements have not had a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

### **Note 14. Segment Information**

The reportable segments reported below are our segments for which separate financial information is available and upon which operating results are evaluated by management on a timely basis to assess performance and to allocate resources. As of January 1, 2009, Canada has been moved out of our International segment and into our renamed North America segment (formerly our U.S. segment). Therefore, on January 1, 2009, we began managing our operations through the following two segments: North America (which consists of the U.S. and Canada) and International (which consists of our operations in Europe, Asia Pacific and Latin America). We have conformed historical amounts to reflect the new segment structure. Our customer solution sets are Risk Management Solutions , Sales & Marketing Solutions and Internet Solutions . Inter-segment sales are immaterial and no single customer accounted for 10% or more of our total revenue. For management reporting purposes, we evaluate business segment performance before restructuring charges because restructuring charges are not a component of our ongoing income or expenses and may have a disproportionate positive or negative impact on the results of our ongoing underlying business. Additionally, transition costs, which are period costs

124

## Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

such as consulting fees, costs of temporary employees, relocation costs and stay bonuses incurred to implement our Financial Flexibility initiatives, are not allocated to our business segments.

	Fo		
Revenue:	2009	2008	2007
North America	\$ 1,309.7	\$ 1,364.2	\$ 1,291.3
International	355.4	314.4	260.8
international	333.4	314.4	200.0
Consolidated Core	1,665.1	1,678.6	1,552.1
Divested Business	21.9	47.7	47.1
Consolidated Total	\$ 1,687.0	\$ 1,726.3	\$ 1,599.2
Operating Income (Loss):			
North America	\$ 482.5	\$ 513.3	\$ 480.8
International	81.1	70.9	54.2
Total Divisions	563.6	584.2	535.0
Corporate and Other(1)	(99.1)	(114.5)	(109.4)
Consolidated Total	464.5	469.7	425.6
Non-Operating Income (Expense), Net	(32.0)	(30.8)	0.7
Income from Continuing Operations Before Provision for Income Taxes and Equity in Net Income of Affiliates	\$ 432.5	\$ 438.9	\$ 426.3
Depreciation and Amortization:(2)			
North America	\$ 42.1	\$ 44.3	\$ 32.7
International	14.6	13.1	11.4
Total Divisions Corporate and Other	56.7 1.4	57.4 1.1	44.1 2.5
Consolidated Total	\$ 58.1	\$ 58.5	\$ 46.6
Capital Expenditures:(3)			
North America	\$ 5.7	\$ 5.7	\$ 11.1
International	2.1	5.6	2.0
Total Divisions	7.8	11.3	13.1
Corporate and Other	1.4	0.5	0.6
Corporate and Office	1.7	0.3	0.0
Consolidated Total	\$ 9.2	\$ 11.8	\$ 13.7
Additions to Computer Software and Other Intangibles:(4)			
North America	\$ 41.3	\$ 37.2	\$ 48.1
International	12.7	10.1	10.3

Edgar Filing: DUN & BRADSTREET CORP/NW - Form 10-K

Total Divisions	54.0	47.3	58.4
Corporate and Other	2.1	0.4	
Consolidated Total	\$ 56.1	\$ 47.7	\$ 58.4
A			
Assets:			
North America	\$ 815.0	\$ 774.6	\$ 729.4
International	672.7	540.0	529.7
Total Divisions	1,487.7	1,314.6	1,259.1
Corporate and Other (primarily taxes)	261.7	271.4	399.7
Consolidated Total	\$ 1,749.4	\$ 1,586.0	\$ 1,658.8
Goodwill(5):			
North America	\$ 266.1	\$ 244.7	\$ 231.5
International	174.7	152.9	112.3
Consolidated Total	\$ 440.8	\$ 397.6	\$ 343.8

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

(1) The following table itemizes Corporate and Other:

	A	At December 31,			
	2009	2008	2007		
Corporate Costs	\$ (59.5)	\$ (70.7)	\$ (71.3)		
Transition Costs (costs to implement our Financial Flexibility initiatives)	(16.5)	(12.4)	(13.0)		
Restructuring Expense	(23.1)	(31.4)	(25.1)		
Total Corporate and Other	\$ (99.1)	\$ (114.5)	\$ (109.4)		

- (2) Includes depreciation and amortization of Property, Plant and Equipment, Computer Software and Other Intangibles.
- (3) Capital expenditures in International decreased \$3.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to December 31, 2008. This decrease was primarily driven by reduced capital expenditures in Europe.

Capital expenditures in North America decreased \$5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to December 31, 2007. This decrease was primarily driven by approximately \$6.1 million of furniture and equipment primarily related to our Center Valley, Pennsylvania facility, which was included in accounts payable on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2006, and was paid for in the year ended December 31, 2007.

Capital expenditures in International increased \$3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to December 31, 2007. This increase was primarily driven by increased leasehold improvements and furniture and equipment additions in 2008.

(4) Additions to computer software and other intangibles in North America increased \$4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to December 31, 2008. This increase was driven by computer software projects.

Additions to computer software and other intangibles in North America and International decreased \$10.9 million and \$0.2 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to December 31, 2007. This decrease was primarily driven by a longer software product development cycle in 2008 versus 2007.

(5) The increase in goodwill in North America from \$244.7 million at December 31, 2008 to \$266.1 million at December 31, 2009 is primarily attributable to the acquisition of QED as described in Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the impact of foreign currency translation.

The increase in goodwill in International from \$152.9 million at December 31, 2008 to \$174.7 million at December 31, 2009 was primarily due to goodwill associated with the acquisition of RoadWay as described in Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the positive impact of foreign currency translation, partially offset by purchase accounting adjustments for customer relationship intangible assets attributable to the consolidation of our majority owned joint venture in Dun & Bradstreet Information Services India Private Limited ( D&B India ) and the sale of our domestic Italian operations.

The increase in goodwill in North America from \$231.5 million at December 31, 2007 to \$244.7 million at December 31, 2008 is primarily attributable to earn-out payments made for the achievement of certain financial performance metrics attributable to the acquisition of First Research and purchase accounting adjustments related to our previous acquisitions.

The increase in goodwill in International from \$112.3 million at December 31, 2007 to \$152.9 million at December 31, 2008 is primarily attributable to the acquisitions and majority-owned joint ventures as described in Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These were partially offset by the impact of foreign currency translation and the sale of our Italian real estate business.

## **Supplemental Geographic and Customer Solution Set Information:**

	At Do	At December 31,			
	2009	2008 2	2007		
Long-Lived Assets:(6)					
North America	\$ 494.5	\$ 455.3 \$ "	725.2		
International	299.8	237.6	165.6		
Consolidated Total	\$ 794.3	\$ 692.9 \$ 8	890.8		

126

### **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)**

### (Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

(6) The increase in long-lived assets in North America to \$494.5 million at December 31, 2009 from \$455.3 million at December 31, 2008 is primarily attributable to the acquisitions as described in Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and computer software additions. The decrease in long-lived assets in North America to \$455.3 million at December 31, 2008 from \$725.2 million at December 31, 2007 is primarily attributable to the decrease in prepaid pension costs to a net liability position.

The increase in long-lived assets in International to \$299.8 million at December 31, 2009 from \$237.6 million at December 31, 2008 is primarily attributable to the acquisitions as described in Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, computer software additions, and foreign currency translation. The increase in long-lived assets in International to \$237.6 million at December 31, 2008 from \$165.6 million at December 31, 2007 is primarily attributable to the acquisitions as described in Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

	For the Years Ended		
	December 31,		
	2009	2008	2007
Customer Solution Set Revenue:			
North America:	¢ 000.0	ф 005.2	e 700.7
Risk Management Solutions	\$ 808.9	\$ 825.3	\$ 790.7
Sales & Marketing Solutions	385.5	418.3	398.2
Internet Solutions	115.3	120.6	102.4
North America Core Revenue	1,309.7	1,364.2	1,291.3
Divested Business(7)			
Total North America Revenue	1,309.7	1,364.2	1,291.3
Total North America Revenue	1,507.7	1,304.2	1,271.3
International:			
Risk Management Solutions	262.9	245.1	200.7
Sales & Marketing Solutions	89.1	65.0	55.0
Internet Solutions	3.4	4.3	5.1
International Core Revenue	355.4	314.4	260.8
Divested Business(7)	21.9	47.7	47.1
Total International Revenue	377.3	362.1	307.9
Total Inchiational Revenue	311.3	302.1	307.7
0			
Consolidated Total:	1.071.0	1.050.4	004.4
Risk Management Solutions	1,071.8	1,070.4	991.4
Sales & Marketing Solutions	474.6	483.3	453.2
Internet Solutions	118.7	124.9	107.5
Core Revenue	1,665.1	1,678.6	1,552.1
Divested Business(7)	21.9	47.7	47.1
Consolidated Total Revenue	\$ 1,687.0	\$ 1,726.3	\$ 1,599.2
Consolitated Lotal Revenue	φ 1,007.0	Ψ 1,720.3	Ψ 1,377.2

<sup>(7)</sup> On May 29, 2009, we completed the sale of substantially all the assets and liabilities of the domestic portion of our Italian operations. This sale has been classified as a Divestiture. Our divested business contributed 1% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009 and 3% of our total revenue for each of the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007. The following table represents divested revenue by solutions set:

	For	For the Years Ended		
		December 31,		
	2009	2008	2007	
Divested Business:				
Risk Management Solutions	\$ 18.7	\$ 40.6	\$ 40.8	
Sales & Marketing Solutions	3.2	7.1	6.3	
Internet Solutions				
Total Divested Revenue	\$ 21.9	\$ 47.7	\$ 47.1	

**Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)** 

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

### Note 15. Supplemental Financial Data

#### Other Accrued and Current Liabilities:

	At Dece	mber 31,
	2009	2008
Restructuring Accruals	\$ 14.5	\$ 21.9
Professional Fees	37.3	35.9
Operating Expenses	32.0	34.1
Spin-Off Obligation(1)	21.5	21.2
Other Accrued Liabilities	68.1	50.5
	\$ 173.4	\$ 163.6

(1) As part of our spin-off from Moody s/The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (D&B2) in 2000, Moody s/D&B2 and D&B entered into a Tax Allocation Agreement ( TAA ). Under the TAA, Moody s/D&B2 and D&B agreed that Moody s/D&B2 would be entitled to deduct the compensation expense associated with the exercise of Moody s stock options (including Moody s stock options exercised by D&B employees) and D&B would be entitled to deduct the compensation expense associated with the exercise of D&B stock options (including D&B stock options exercised by employees of Moody s/D&B2). Put simply, the tax deduction would go to the company that granted the stock options, rather than to the employer of the individual exercising the stock options. The TAA provides, however, that if the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) issues rules, regulations or other authority contrary to the agreed-upon treatment of the compensation expense deductions under the TAA, then the party that becomes entitled under such guidance to take the deduction may be required to reimburse the other party for the tax benefit it has realized, in order to compensate the other party for its loss of such deduction. In 2002 and 2003, the IRS issued rulings that appear to provide that, under the circumstances applicable to Moody s/D&B2 and D&B, the compensation expense deduction belongs to the employer of the option grantee and not to the issuer of the option (e.g., D&B would be entitled to deduct the compensation expense associated with D&B employees exercising Moody s/D&B2 options and Moody s/D&B2 would be entitled to deduct the compensation expense associated with Moody s/D&B2 employees exercising D&B options). We have filed tax returns for 2001 through 2008, and made estimated tax deposits for 2009, consistent with the IRS rulings. Under the TAA, we may be required to reimburse Moody s/D&B2 for the loss of compensation expense deductions relating to tax years 2003 to 2009 of approximately \$21.5 million in the aggregate for such years. In 2005 and 2006, we paid Moody s/D&B2 approximately \$30.1 million in the aggregate under the TAA. We have not made any payments to Moody s/D&B2 since the first quarter of 2006. We may also be required to pay additional amounts in the future based upon interpretations by the parties of the TAA and the IRS rulings.

128

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

### Property, Plant and Equipment at cost Net:

	At Dec 2009	cember 31, 2008
Land	\$ 6.1	\$ 6.0
Buildings	32.3	32.0
Furniture and Equipment	74.7	70.9
	113.1	108.9
Less: Accumulated Depreciation	68.1	66.2
	45.0	42.7
Leasehold Improvements, less:		
Accumulated Amortization of \$12.5 and \$14.4	8.6	10.4
	\$ 53.6	\$ 53.1

### Other Income (Expense) Net:

	For the Years Ended December 31,		ember 31,
	2009	2008	2007
Settlement of Legacy Tax Matter Arbitration(2)	\$ 4.1	\$ 8.1	\$
Gain on Disposal of Italian Domestic Business(3)	6.5		
Legacy Tax Matter Related to the Settlement of 2003 Tax Year(4)		(7.7)	
Gain associated with Beijing D&B HuiCong Market Research Co., Ltd Joint Venture(5)		0.6	
Gain Associated with Huaxia/D&B China Joint Venture(6)			5.8
Gain associated with Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture(7)			13.2
Gain on Sale of an Investment(8)			0.9
Miscellaneous Other Income (Expense) Net(9)	0.1	4.1	1.8
Other Income (Expense) Net	\$ 10.7	\$ 5.1	\$ 21.7

- (2) During the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, we recognized gains on the receipt of awards related to Legacy Tax Matters.
- (3) During the year ended December 31, 2009, we recognized a gain as a result of the divestiture of the domestic portion of our Italian operations. See Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
- (4) During the year ended December 31, 2008, we recognized the reduction of a contractual receipt under the Tax Allocation Agreement between Moody s Corporation and D&B as it relates to the expiration of the statute of limitations.

- (5) During the year ended December 31, 2008, we entered into an agreement with HC International Inc. and established two joint venture companies including Beijing D&B HuiCong Market Research Co., Ltd. and Beijing HuiCong Market Research Co. Ltd., in which D&B has a 60% and 30% ownership interest, respectively. We recognized a gain of \$0.6 million related to the minority owner s share of the difference between the fair value of our contributed business and its carrying amount.
- (6) During the year ended December 31, 2007, we entered into an agreement with Huaxia International Credit Consulting Co. Limited and established our majority owned joint venture to do business as Huaxia/D&B

129

### **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)**

### (Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

China. We recognized a gain of \$5.8 million related to the minority owner s share of the difference between the fair value of our contributed business and its carrying amount.

- (7) During the year ended December 31, 2007, we entered into an agreement with Tokyo Shoko Research and established our majority owned joint venture or Tokyo Shoko Research/D&B Japan Joint Venture to do business as Dun & Bradstreet TSR Ltd. We recognized a gain of \$13.2 million related to the minority owner s share of the difference between the fair value of our contributed business and its carrying amount.
- (8) During the year ended December 31, 2007, we recorded a gain related to the sale of an investment in Australia.
- (9) Miscellaneous Other Income (Expense) Net decreased for the year ended December 31, 2009, compared to the year ended December 31, 2008, is primarily due to the negative impact of foreign exchange. Miscellaneous Other Income (Expense) Net increased for the year ended December 31, 2008, compared to the year ended December 31, 2007, primarily due to the positive impact of foreign exchange.

### **Computer Software and Goodwill:**

	Compute Software	
January 1, 2008	\$ 87.9	\$ 343.8
Additions at cost	52.2	2
Amortization	(38.9	9)
Acquisitions/Joint Ventures	0.2	2 45.9
Other(10)(11)	(5.4	4) 7.9
December 31, 2008	96.0	397.6
Additions at cost	57.0	5
Amortization	(35.0	0)
Acquisitions/Joint Ventures		39.5
Other(12)	0.0	3.7
December 31, 2009	\$ 119.2	2 \$ 440.8

- (10) Computer Software Primarily due to the impact of foreign currency fluctuations.
- (11) Goodwill Primarily due to purchase accounting adjustments offset by the impact of foreign currency fluctuations.
- (12) Goodwill Primarily due to foreign currency fluctuations offset by purchase accounting adjustments related to D&B India, HC International, Inc./D&B China Joint Venture and the sale of the domestic portion of our Italian operations.

130

## Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

## (Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

### Other Intangibles (included in Non-Current Assets):

	 stomer Lists	Pate	lemarks, ents and Other	Total
January 1, 2008	\$ 0.3	\$	59.8	\$ 60.1
Acquisitions			13.8	13.8
Amortization	(0.3)		(9.0)	(9.3)
Other(13)			0.7	0.7
December 31, 2008			65.3	65.3
Acquisitions			38.8	38.8
Amortization			(12.4)	(12.4)
Write-offs(14)			(3.0)	(3.0)
Other(15)			2.5	2.5
December 31, 2009	\$	\$	91.2	\$ 91.2

- (13) Primarily due to the impact of foreign currency fluctuations.
- (14) Amount due to the write-off of certain other intangibles related to Visible Path.
- (15) Amount due to the impact of foreign currency fluctuations.

## **Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:**

January 1, 2007	\$ 20.3
Additions charged to costs and expenses	12.6
Write-offs	(13.3)
Other	(0.6)
December 31, 2007	19.0
Additions charged to costs and expenses	10.2
Write-offs	(10.5)
Other	(1.3)
December 31, 2008	17.4
Additions charged to costs and expenses	19.5
Acquisitions	0.5
Write-offs	(17.1)
Divestitures	(4.9)

Other 0.1

December 31, 2009 \$ 15.5

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

### **Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance:**

January 1, 2007	\$ 52.7
Additions charged (credited) to costs and expenses	(0.7)
Additions charged (credited) due to foreign currency fluctuations	1.5
Additions charged (credited) to other accounts	3.2
Effect of the adoption of uncertain tax positions	(7.8)
December 31, 2007	48.9
Additions charged (credited) to costs and expenses	6.6
Additions charged (credited) due to foreign currency fluctuations	(4.8)
Additions charged (credited) to other accounts	(7.0)
December 31, 2008	43.7
Additions charged (credited) to costs and expenses	(5.2)
Additions charged (credited) due to foreign currency fluctuations	5.9
Additions charged (credited) to other accounts	(3.2)
December 31, 2009	\$ 41.2

132

## Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

## (Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Note 16. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

	March 31,	June 30,	For the Three Month September 30,	ns Ended December 31,	Full Year
2009			•		
Operating Revenue:					
North America	\$ 321.2	\$ 320.3	\$ 310.8	\$ 357.4	\$ 1,309.7
International	86.2	96.6	88.2	106.3	377.3
Consolidated Operating Revenue	\$ 407.4	\$ 416.9	\$ 399.0	\$ 463.7	\$ 1,687.0
Operating Income (Loss):					
North America	\$ 123.2	\$ 110.1	\$ 105.4	\$ 143.8	\$ 482.5
International	11.6	22.6	17.7	29.2	ψ <del>4</del> 82.5
	11.0	22.0	17.7	27.2	01.1
Total Divisions	134.8	132.7	123.1	173.0	563.6
Corporate and Other(1)	(20.1)	(22.7)	(30.5)	(25.8)	(99.1)
Consolidated Operating Income	\$ 114.7	\$ 110.0	\$ 92.6	\$ 147.2	\$ 464.5
Income from Continuing Operations	\$ 104.4	\$ 77.9	\$ 54.7	\$ 85.0	\$ 322.0
Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of	φισι.ι	Ψ 77.5	Ψ 51.7	ψ 05.0	Ψ 322.0
Income Taxes					
Net Income	104.4	77.9	54.7	85.0	322.0
Less: Net (Income) Loss Attributable to the Noncontrolling Interest	(0.2)	(1.1)	(0.7)	(0.6)	(2.6)
	Ì	· ·	· ·		
Net Income Attributable to D&B	\$ 104.2	\$ 76.8	\$ 54.0	\$ 84.4	\$ 319.4
Basic Earnings Per Share of Common Stock(2)					
Income from Continuing Operations Attributable to					
D&B Common Shareholders	\$ 1.95	\$ 1.45	\$ 1.03	\$ 1.63	\$ 6.06
Income from Discontinued Operations Attributable to D&B Common Shareholders					
Net Income Attributable to D&B Common					
Shareholders	\$ 1.95	\$ 1.45	\$ 1.03	\$ 1.63	\$ 6.06
Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock(2)					
Income from Continuing Operations Attributable to					
D&B Common Shareholders	\$ 1.93	\$ 1.43	\$ 1.02	\$ 1.61	\$ 5.99
Income from Discontinued Operations Attributable					
to D&B Common Shareholders					
Net Income Attributable to D&B Common					
Shareholders	\$ 1.93	\$ 1.43	\$ 1.02	\$ 1.61	\$ 5.99
ORIGINATION	ψ 1.93	ψ 1.τυ	ψ 1.02	ψ 1.01	ф 5.99

Cash Dividends Paid Per Common Share \$ 0.34 \$ 0.34 \$ 0.34 \$ 1.36

133

## Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

## (Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

	March 31,	June 30,	For the Three Months September 30,	s Ended December 31,	Full Year
***************************************	march o1,	guile 50,	September 50,	December 51,	Tun Tun
2008					
Operating Revenue:	¢ 220.7	\$ 330.7	¢ 221.0	¢ 270.0	¢ 1 264 2
North America	\$ 332.7		\$ 321.0	\$ 379.8	\$ 1,364.2
International	82.0	97.0	88.2	94.9	362.1
Consolidated Operating Revenue	\$ 414.7	\$ 427.7	\$ 409.2	\$ 474.7	\$ 1,726.3
Operating Income (Loss):					
North America	\$ 123.0	\$ 109.7	\$ 113.1	\$ 167.5	\$ 513.3
International	8.6	21.1	15.7	25.5	70.9
memational	0.0	21.1	13.7	23.3	70.5
Total Divisions	131.6	130.8	128.8	193.0	584.2
Corporate and Other(1)	(31.3)	(24.8)	(37.6)	(20.8)	(114.5)
Consolidated Operating Income	\$ 100.3	\$ 106.0	\$ 91.2	\$ 172.2	\$ 469.7
Consolidated Operating Income	Ψ 100.5	φ 100.0	Ψ )1.2	Ψ 172.2	ψ 102.7
Income from Continuing Operations	\$ 60.0	\$ 84.8	\$ 65.3	\$ 101.8	\$ 311.9
Income from Continuing Operations	\$ 60.0	\$ 84.8	\$ 65.3	\$ 101.8	\$ 311.9
Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of	1.1				1.1
Income Taxes	1.1				1.1
Net Income	61.1	84.8	65.3	101.8	313.0
Less: Net (Income) Loss Attributable to the	01.1	04.0	03.3	101.8	313.0
	0.1	(0.6)	(0.2)	(1.7)	(2.4)
Noncontrolling Interest	0.1	(0.6)	(0.2)	(1.7)	(2.4)
Net Income Attributable to D&B	\$ 61.2	\$ 84.2	\$ 65.1	\$ 100.1	\$ 310.6
Basic Earnings Per Share of Common Stock(2)					
Income from Continuing Operations Attributable to					
D&B Common Shareholders	\$ 1.06	\$ 1.54	\$ 1.20	\$ 1.87	\$ 5.65
Income from Discontinued Operations Attributable	\$ 1.00	φ 1.54	Ψ 1.20	φ 1.67	\$ 5.05
to D&B Common Shareholders	0.02				0.02
to D&B Common Shareholders	0.02				0.02
N. J. Aug. L. H. & DOD C.					
Net Income Attributable to D&B Common	Φ 1.00	Ф 1.74	Φ 1.20	Φ 1.07	ф. <i>5.6</i> <b>7</b>
Shareholders	\$ 1.08	\$ 1.54	\$ 1.20	\$ 1.87	\$ 5.67
Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock(2)					
Income from Continuing Operations Attributable to					
D&B Common Shareholders	\$ 1.05	\$ 1.51	\$ 1.18	\$ 1.85	\$ 5.56
Income from Discontinued Operations Attributable					
to D&B Common Shareholders	0.01				0.02
Net Income Attributable to D&B Common					
Shareholders	\$ 1.06	\$ 1.51	\$ 1.18	\$ 1.85	\$ 5.58
Cash Dividends Paid Per Common Share	\$ 0.30	\$ 0.30	\$ 0.30	\$ 0.30	\$ 1.20

(1) The following table itemizes the components of the Corporate and Other category of Operating Income (Loss).

134

### **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)**

### (Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

			For the T	hree Months	s Ended			
	March 31,	June 30,	September 30,		ptember 30, December 31,		Full Year	
2009								
Corporate Costs	\$ (14.4)	\$ (14.7)	\$	(14.3)	\$	(16.1)	\$	(59.5)
Transition Costs (costs to implement our Financial								
Flexibility initiatives)	(4.4)	(5.2)		(4.0)		(2.9)		(16.5)
Restructuring Expense	(1.3)	(2.8)		(12.2)		(6.8)		(23.1)
Total Corporate and Other	\$ (20.1)	\$ (22.7)	\$	(30.5)	\$	(25.8)	\$	(99.1)
2008								
Corporate Costs	\$ (17.7)	\$ (19.7)	\$	(17.3)	\$	(16.0)	\$	(70.7)
Transition Costs (costs to implement our Financial								
Flexibility initiatives)	(3.2)	(3.9)		(3.1)		(2.2)		(12.4)
Restructuring Expense	(10.4)	(1.2)		(17.2)		(2.6)		(31.4)
<b>Total Corporate and Other</b>	\$ (31.3)	\$ (24.8)	\$	(37.6)	\$	(20.8)	\$	(114.5)

## Note 17. Divestiture and Discontinued Operations

### Divestiture

On May 29, 2009, we completed the sale of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of the domestic portion of our Italian operations to CRIF, S.p.A. ( CRIF ) for \$12.2 million (including a working capital adjustment of \$1.2 million), which was a part of our International segment.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we recorded a pre-tax gain of \$6.5 million from the sale in Other Income (Expense) Net in the consolidated statement of operations. As of December 31, 2009, we have received \$12.2 million in cash. Our domestic Italian operations generated approximately \$48 million in revenue and approximately \$1 million in operating income in 2008.

We entered into a ten year commercial arrangement to provide CRIF with global data for its Italian customers. This arrangement has aggregate future cash payments of approximately \$130 million. In addition, this transaction will allow us to improve the quality of the data we provide to our global customers seeking information on Italian customers.

<sup>(2)</sup> The number of weighted average shares outstanding changes as common shares are issued for employee benefit plans and other purposes or as shares are repurchased. For this reason, the sum of quarterly earnings per share may not be the same as earnings per share for the year.

## Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Tabular dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

### Discontinued Operations

On December 27, 2007, we sold our Italian real estate business for \$9.0 million, which was a part of our International segment, and we have reclassified the historical financial results of the Italian real estate business as discontinued operations. We have reflected the results of this business as discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of operations for all periods presented. We have recorded the resulting gain of \$0.4 million (both pre-tax and after-tax) from the sale in the first quarter of 2008 in the consolidated statement of operations.

	For the Years En	ded December 31,
	2008	2007
Revenue	\$ 4.1	\$ 60.5
Operating Income	\$ 0.7	\$ 13.6
Non-Operating Income (Expense) Net		0.3
Income before Provision for Income Taxes	0.7	13.9
Provision for Income Taxes		5.2
Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Income Taxes	0.7	8.7
Net Income	0.7	8.7
Less: Net Income Attributable to the Noncontrolling Interest		(3.3)
		(= 12)
Net Income from Discontinued Operations Attributable to D&B	\$ 0.7	\$ 5.4
The means from Biscontinued Operations Fittiloudible to BCB	Ψ 0.7	Ψ 5.1

## Note 18. Subsequent Events

We have evaluated subsequent events through February 25, 2010, the filing date of this Form 10-K.

## Dividend

On February 4, 2010, our Board of Directors approved the declaration of a dividend of \$0.35 per share for the first quarter of 2010. This cash dividend will be payable on March 18, 2010 to shareholders of record at the close of business on March 3, 2010.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure Not Applicable.

#### Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

**Evaluation of Disclosure Controls** 

We evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures ( Disclosure Controls ) as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended ( Exchange Act ) as of the end of the period covered by this report. This evaluation ( Controls Evaluation ) was done with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer ( CEO ) and Chief Financial Officer ( CFO ).

Disclosure Controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our CEO and CFO, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our CEO and CFO, does not expect that our Disclosure Controls or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance that the objectives of a control system are met. Further, any control system reflects limitations on resources, and the benefits of a control system must be considered relative to its costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within D&B have been detected. Judgments in decision-making can be faulty and breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by individual acts, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override. The design of a control system is also based upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and may not be detected. Our Disclosure Controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives.

Conclusions regarding Disclosure Controls

Based upon our Controls Evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that as of the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, our Disclosure Controls are effective at a reasonable assurance level.

Management s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and Management s Statement of Management s Responsibility for Financial Statements are contained in Item 8. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Change in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter of 2009 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

137

#### PART III

### Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required to be furnished by this Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance, is incorporated herein by reference from our Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders and Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days after D&B s fiscal year end of December 31, 2009 (the Proxy Statement).

### Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required to be furnished by this Item 11. Executive Compensation, is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement.

### Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required to be furnished by this Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters, is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement.

### **EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION**

The following table summarizes our equity compensation plan information as of December 31, 2009:

			(C)
			Number of
			Securities
			Remaining
	(A)		Available for
	Number of	<b>(B)</b>	Future
	Securities to	Weighted-	Issuance
	be Issued	Average	<b>Under Equity</b>
	Upon	Exercise	Compensation
	Exercise of	Price of	Plans
	Outstanding	Outstanding	(Excluding
	Options,	Options,	Securities
	Warrants	Warrants	Reflected in
Plan Category	and Rights	and Rights	Column (A))
Equity Compensation Plans approved by security holders(1)	2,676,722(2)	\$ 62.42	6,748,820(3)

- (1) This table includes information for an equity compensation plan adopted in connection with our separation from Moody s Corporation. As of December 31, 2009, a total of 8,261 shares of our common stock were issuable upon exercise of outstanding options and other rights under those two plans. The weighted average exercise price of those outstanding options and other rights is \$9.08 per share. No additional options or other rights may be granted under these plans.
- (2) Includes options to purchase 2,581,602 shares of our common stock, restricted stock units with respect to 89,800 shares of our common stock, 2,421 accrued dividend units and deferred performance shares of 2,949 shares of our common stock. This amount does not include 330,813 outstanding shares of restricted common stock.

(3) Includes shares available for future purchases under our ESPP. As of December 31, 2009, an aggregate of 606,564 shares of our common stock were available for purchase under the ESPP.

## Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required to be furnished by this Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence, is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement.

138

## **Table of Contents**

## Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required to be furnished by this Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services, is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement.

139

### PART IV

# Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules (a) List of documents filed as part of this report.

(1) Financial Statements.

See Index to Financial Statements and Schedules in Part II, Item 8. on this Form 10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules.

None.

(3) Exhibits.

See Index to Exhibits in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(b) Exhibits.

See Index to Exhibits in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

140

### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on February 25, 2010.

The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (Registrant)

By: /s/ Sara Mathew Sara Mathew

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on February 25, 2010.

/s/ SARA MATHEW Director, President and Chief Executive Officer (principal executive

officer)

Sara Mathew

/s/ Anastasios G. Konidaris Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (principal financial

officer)

Anastasios G. Konidaris

/s/ Anthony Pietrontone Jr. Principal Accounting Officer and Corporate Controller

Anthony Pietrontone Jr.

/s/ Austin A. Adams Director

Austin A. Adams

/s/ John W. Alden Director

John W. Alden

/s/ Steven W. Alesio Chairman of the Board

Steven W. Alesio

/s/ Christopher J. Coughlin Director

Christopher J. Coughlin

/s/ James N. Fernandez Director

James N. Fernandez

/s/ Jonathan J. Judge Director

Jonathan J. Judge

/s/ Victor A. Pelson

Victor A. Pelson

/s/ Sandra E. Peterson

/s/ Michael R. Quinlan

/s/ Naomi O. Seligman

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Michael J. Winkler

141

#### INDEX TO EXHIBITS

### 3. Articles of Incorporation and By-laws

- 3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, as amended effective October 1, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed October 4, 2000) and Certificate of Designation for the Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock as Exhibit A to the Rights Agreement, dated as of August 15, 2000, between the Registrant (f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation) and Computershare Limited (f.k.a. EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.), as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form 8-A, file number 1-15967, filed September 15, 2000).
- 3.2 The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Certificate of Designation of Series B Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Registrant s Annual Report on Form 10-K, file number 1-15967, filed February 24, 2009).
- 3.3 Third Amended and Restated By-laws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed December 11, 2009).

### 4. Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders, Including Indentures

- 4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form 10, file number 1-15967, filed September 11, 2000).
- 4.2 Rights Agreement, dated as of August 15, 2000, between the Registrant (f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation) and Computershare Limited (f.k.a. EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.), as Rights Agent, which includes the Certificate of Designation for the Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock as Exhibit A thereto, the Form of Right Certificate as Exhibit B thereto and the Summary of Rights to Purchase Preferred Shares as Exhibit C thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form 8-A, file number 1-15967, filed September 15, 2000).
- 4.3 Notice of Removal of Rights Agent and Appointment of Successor Rights Agent and Amendment No. 1 to the Rights Agreement, dated July 29, 2009 among the Registrant, ComputerShare Trust Company, N.A., and Mellon Investor Services LLC (incorporated by reference to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed November 5, 2009).
- 4.4 Underwriting Agreement, dated as of March 27, 2008 among The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation, Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed April 1, 2008).
- 4.5 Form of 6.00% Senior Notes due 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed April 1, 2008).
- 4.6 Five-Year Credit Agreement, dated April 19, 2007, among The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation, the Borrowing Subsidiaries Party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Administrative Agent, Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi Trust Company and Citicorp USA, Inc., as Syndication Agents, The Bank of New York and Suntrust Bank, as Documentation Agents and the Lenders Party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed April 19, 2007).

142

4.7 Indenture, dated as of March 14, 2006, between the Dun & Bradstreet Corporation and The Bank of New York, including the Form of 5.50% Senior Notes due 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed March 14, 2006).

### 10. Material Contracts

- Distribution Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2000, between Moody's Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) and the Registrant (f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed October 4, 2000).
- Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2000, between Moody s Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) and the Registrant (f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed October 4, 2000).
- Employee Benefits Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2000, between Moody s Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) and the Registrant (f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed October 4, 2000).
- 10.4 Undertaking of the Registrant (f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation), dated September 30, 2000, to Cognizant Corporation and ACNielsen Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed October 4, 2000).
- Undertaking of the Registrant (f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation), dated September 30, 2000, to R.H. Donnelley Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed October 4, 2000).
- Distribution Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1998, between R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) and Moody s Corporation (f.k.a. The New Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Moody s Corporation, file number 1-14037, filed August 14, 1998).
- Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1998, between R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) and Moody s Corporation (f.k.a. The New Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Moody s Corporation, file number 1-14037, filed August 14, 1998).
- Employee Benefits Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1998, between R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) and Moody s Corporation (f.k.a. The New Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Moody s Corporation, file number 1-14037, filed August 14, 1998).
- Distribution Agreement, dated as of October 28, 1996, among R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation), Cognizant Corporation and ACNielsen Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(x) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) for the year ended December 31, 1996, file number 1-7155, filed March 27, 1997).
- Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of October 28, 1996, among R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation), Cognizant Corporation and ACNielsen Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(y) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) for the year ended December 31, 1996, file number 1-7155, filed March 27, 1997).

143

- Employee Benefits Agreement, dated as of October 28, 1996, among R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation), Cognizant Corporation and ACNielsen Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(z) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) for the year ended December 31, 1996, file number 1-7155, filed March 27, 1997).
   Business Process Services Agreement made and effective as of October 15, 2004 by and between the Company and
- Business Process Services Agreement made and effective as of October 15, 2004 by and between the Company and International Business Machines Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 to the Registrant s Annual Report on Form 10-K, file number 1-15967, filed March 14, 2005). This Exhibit has been redacted pursuant to a confidentiality request under Rule 24(b)-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
- Technology Services Agreement between the Registrant and Computer Sciences Corporation, dated June 27, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed August 13, 2002).
- Global Master Services Agreement by and between Dun & Bradstreet, Inc. and Acxiom Corporation, dated July 27, 2006 (Amended and Restated as of June 2, 2008), together with Amendment Number One, thereto, dated November 30, 2008, and Amendment Number Two, thereto, dated May 6, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Amended Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A, file number 1-15967, filed October 8, 2009).
- 10.15<sup>^</sup> Statement of Work Number 9 under the Global Master Services Agreement by and between Dun & Bradstreet, Inc. and Acxiom Corporation, dated May 6, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant s Amended Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A, file number 1-15967, filed October 8, 2009).
- 10.16 Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed August 4, 2006).
- Employment Agreement, dated December 31, 2004, between Steven W. Alesio and the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed January 4, 2005).
- Amendment No. 1 to the Employment Agreement between Steven W. Alesio and the Company, dated June 29, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed August 7, 2007).
- Amendment No. 2 to the Employment Agreement between Steven W. Alesio and the Company, dated December 13, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed December 19, 2007).
- Amendment No. 3 to the Employment Agreement between Steven W. Alesio and the Company, dated December 8, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed December 9, 2008).
- Amendment No. 4 to the Employment Agreement between Steven W. Alesio and the Company, dated December 11, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed December 11, 2009).
- 10.22 The Dun & Bradstreet Executive Transition Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed November 6, 2008).
- Forms of Change in Control Severance Agreements (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed May 5, 2006).

144

10.24	Forms of Change in Control Severance Agreements (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed November 6, 2008).
10.25	The Dun & Bradstreet Career Transition Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed November 6, 2008).
10.26	Executive Retirement Plan of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed November 6, 2008).
10.27*	First Amendment to the Executive Retirement Plan of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (as amended and restated effective January 1, 2009), effective August 4, 2009.
10.28*	Second Amendment to the Executive Retirement Plan of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (as amended and restated effective January 1, 2009), effective January 1, 2010.
10.29	Pension Benefit Equalization Plan of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed November 6, 2008).
10.30*	First Amendment to the Pension Benefit Equalization Plan of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (as amended and restated effective January 1, 2009), effective August 4, 2009.
10.31	Supplemental Executive Benefit Plan of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation, as amended May 1, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed May 4, 2007).
10.32	2000 Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Non-Employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed November 6, 2008).
10.33	The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Non-Employee Directors Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed November 6, 2008).
10.34	The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed November 6, 2008).
10.35	The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed May 7, 2009).
10.36	Key Employees Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed November 6, 2008).
10.37	The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the Registrant s Annual Report on Form 10-K, file number 1-15967, filed March 28, 2003).
10.38	2000 Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Replacement Plan for Certain Directors Holding Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Equity-Based Awards (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed November 14, 2000).

145

10.39	2000 Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Replacement Plan for Certain Employees Holding Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Equity-Based Awards (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed November 14, 2000).
10.40	The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Non-Funded Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors (as assumed by the Registrant) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to Moody s Corporation Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-14037, filed October 20, 1999).
10.41	Form of Limited Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to Moody s Corporation Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-14037, filed August 14, 1998).
10.42	The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Covered Employee Cash Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed May 5, 2006).
10.43	The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Cash Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the Registrant s Annual Report on Form 10-K, file number 1-15967, filed February 21, 2001).
10.44	Form of Detrimental Conduct Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed May 5, 2006).
10.45	Form of International Stock Option Award Agreement under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the Registrants Form 10-K, file number 1-15967, filed February 28, 2007).
10.46	Form of International Stock Option Award Agreement under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed November 6, 2008).
10.47	Form of International Stock Option Award Agreement under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed May 7, 2009).
10.48	Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed March 2, 2005).
10.49	Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed November 6, 2008).
10.50	Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed May 7, 2009).
10.51*	Stock Option Award Agreement under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2009 Stock Incentive Plan, dated February 11, 2010, between the Registrant and Steven W. Alesio.
10.52	Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed

146

March 2, 2005).

10.53	Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed February 24, 2010).
10.54*	Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2009 Stock Incentive Plan, dated February 11, 2010, between the Registrant and Steven W. Alesio.
10.55	Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2009 Stock Incentive Plan, dated March 1, 2010, between the Registrant and Steven W. Alesio (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed February 24, 2010).
10.56	Form of International Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement, effective February 23, 2007, under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.47 to the Registrant s Annual Report on Form 10-K, file number 1-15967, filed February 28, 2007).
10.57	Form of International Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed November 6, 2008).
10.58	Form of International Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file numbe 1-15967, filed May 7, 2009).
10.59	Form of International Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2009 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended February 18, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed February 24, 2010).
10.60	Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed March 2, 2005).
10.61	Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement, effective February 23, 2007, under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.46 to the Registrant s Annual Report on Form 10-K, file number 1-15967, filed February 28, 2007).
10.62	Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed November 6, 2008).
10.63	Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed May 7, 2009).
10.64	Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under the 2000 Non-employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed March 2, 2005).
10.65	Form of Stock Option Award Agreement, effective January 29, 2008, under the 2000 Non-employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the Registrant s Annual Report on Form 10-K, file number 1-15967, filed February 25, 2008).
10.66	Form of Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement under the 2000 Non-employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed

147

December 8, 2004).

### **Table of Contents**

10.67	Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the 2000 Non-employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan
	(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K, file number 1-15967, filed
	March 2, 2005).

- Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement, effective February 23, 2007, under the 2000 Non-employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48 to the Registrant s Annual Report on Form 10-K, file number 1-15967, filed February 28, 2007).
- 10.69 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the 2000 Non-employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-15967, filed November 6, 2008).

## 21. Subsidiaries of the Registrant

21.1\* Subsidiaries of the Registrant as of December 31, 2009.

### 23. Consents of Experts and Counsel

23.1\* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

#### 31. Rule 13a-14(a)/15(d)-14(a) Certifications

- 31.1\* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15(d)-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 31.2\* Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15(d)-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

### 32. Section 1350 Certifications

- 32.1\* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 32.2\* Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- \* Filed herewith

Represents a management contract or compensatory plan

^ Portions of this Exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

148